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The Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A (the “Series 2017A Bonds”) and the Louisville Arena Project
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2017B (the “Series 2017B Bonds” and together with the Series 2017A Bonds, the “Bonds”) are
special and limited obligations of the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) issued pursuant to certain resolutions
of the Issuer and a Bond Trust Indenture as described herein between the Issuer and Regions Bank, as Trustee (the “Trustee”). The Bonds
are being issued by the Issuer, at the request of Louisville Arena Authority, Inc. (the “Corporation”), pursuant to a Bond Resolution adopted
on September 28, 2017 (the “Resolution”), to (i) refund the Issuer’s outstanding (a) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Series 2008A
(Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.), consisting of Subseries 2008A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds and Subseries 2008A-2 Capital Appreciation Bonds,
(b) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2008B (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) and (c) Louisville Arena Project Revenue
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the Arena. The Arena is managed by AEG Management Louisville, LLC under a management agreement with the Corporation.
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The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under an insurance policy to be issued
concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (the “Bond Insurer”).
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payable solely from the funds and property pledged therefor. The Issuer has no taxing power.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the Issuer and received by the Underwriters, subject to prior sale and to the approval
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Todd LLC, Louisville, Kentucky; for the Issuer by Stites & Harbison, PLLC; for the Trustee by Rubin & Hays, Louisville, Kentucky; and for
the Underwriters by Dinsmore & Shohl LLP, Covington, Kentucky. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery in definitive
Jform through DTC on or about December 20, 2017.
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$377,765,000
Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority

Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2017

(Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.)

Composed of:
$202,125,000 Series 2017A Term Bonds
Year Interest
(December 1) Amount Rate
2041 $47,340,000 4.000%
2045 96,015,000 5.000
2047 58,770,000 5.000

1

Yield to optional redemption date.

$175,640,000 Taxable Series 2017B Bonds

Year
(December 1) Amount

2021 $3,705,000
2022 4,165,000
2023 4,650,000
2024 5,225,000
2025 5,765,000
2026 6,335,000
2027 6,985,000
2028 7,640,000
2029 8,330,000
2030 9,065,000
2031 9,840,000
2032 10,665,000
2033 11,470,000
2034 12,380,000
2035 13,345,000
2036 14,360,000
2037 15,435,000
2038 16,575,000
2039 9,705,000

+ Copyright 2017, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein are provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of The McGraw Hill
Companies, Inc. The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the convenience of bondholders only at the time of issuance of the Bonds and neither
the Issuer, the Corporation, nor the Underwriter makes any representation with respect to such numbers or undertakes any responsibility for their accuracy now or at any
time in the future. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions
including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar

Interest
Rate

2.967%
3.217
3.349
3.549
3.621
3.721
3.821
3.921
4.021
4.121
4.171
4.191
4.225
4.255
4.305
4.355
4.405
4.435
4.455

enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.

Yield ! CUSIP*
3.920% 49127KBU3
3490 49127KBV1
3.390  49127KBW9
Yield CUSIP"
2.967% 49127KBX7
3.217 49127KBY5
3.349 49127KBZ2
3.549 49127KCA6
3.621 49127KCB4
3.721 49127KCC2
3.821 49127KCDO
3.921 49127KCE8
4.021 49127KCF5
4.121 49127KCG3
4.171 49127KCHI1
4.191 49127KCJ7
4225 49127KCK4
4.255 49127KCL2
4.305 49127KCMO0
4355 49127KCN8
4.405 49127KCP3
4.435 49127KCQ1
4455 49127KCR9



REGARDING THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Issuer, the Corporation,
Metro Louisville, the State, ULAA, the Bond Insurer or the Underwriters to give any information or to
make any representations, other than those in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.
This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of any offer to buy, nor shall
there be any sale of, the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such
offer, solicitation or sale. The information and descriptions in this Official Statement do not purport to be
comprehensive or definitive. Statements regarding specific documents (including the Bonds), instruments
and statutes are descriptions of selected provisions of and subject to the detailed provisions of such
documents, instruments and statutes, respectively, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the
full text of each such document, instrument or statute. The information and expressions of opinion herein
are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the
affairs of the Issuer, the Corporation, Metro Louisville, the State, ULAA or the Bond Insurer since the
date hereof. This Official Statement does not constitute a contract between the Issuer, the Corporation or
any one or more of the purchasers or registered owners of the Bonds.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement:
The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a
part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts
and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness
of such information.

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute
“forward-looking statements.” The achievement of certain results or other expectations contained in such
forward-looking statements involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause actual results, performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. See
“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Forward-Looking Statements.”

KENTUCKY’S NAME IS ON THE BONDS FOR THE BENEFIT AND CONVENIENCE OF
OTHER ENTITIES WITHIN THE STATE. HOWEVER, THE ONLY SECURITY THAT IS PLEDGED
FOR THE BONDS IS THE REVENUES AND ASSETS IDENTIFIED IN THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT. THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY DOES
NOT INTEND TO APPROPRIATE ANY STATE FUNDS TO FULFILL THE FINANCIAL
OBLIGATIONS REPRESENTED BY THE BONDS.

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (the “Bond Insurer”) makes no representation regarding the
Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In addition, the Bond Insurer has not independently
verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted
herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding the Bond Insurer supplied
by the Bond Insurer and presented under the heading “Bond Insurance” and “APPENDIX J — Specimen
Municipal Bond Insurance Policy”.

Purchase of the Bonds involves risk. Prospective investors should read this entire Official
Statement prior to making an investment decision. See “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” for
certain factors that prospective purchasers should consider prior to purchasing any of the Bonds.

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state
securities law and will not be listed on any stock or other securities exchange. The Bond Indenture has not
been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. Neither the Securities and Exchange
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Commission nor any other federal, state, municipal or other governmental entity will have passed upon
the accuracy or adequacy of this Official Statement or, except the Issuer, approved the Bonds for sale.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT
OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN
MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, [F COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OFFER AND SELL THE BONDS TO CERTAIN DEALERS AT
PRICES LOWER THAN THE OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER PAGE HEREOF AND
SAID OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITERS
WITHOUT NOTICE.

il
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY

The following Summary is subject in all respects to more complete information contained in this Official

Statement

The Issuer

Issue and Date

The Arena

Authority for Issuance

Purpose of the Issue

Amounts and Maturities

Interest Payment Dates

Redemption

The Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority (the “Issuer”), is a
public body politic and corporate, and an agency, instrumentality and
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “State”)
pursuant to Chapter 154 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes (the “Act”).

The Issuer’s Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series
2017A (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) (the “Series 2017A Bonds”) and
Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2017B
(Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) (the “Series 2017B Bonds,” and, together
with the Series 2017A Bonds, the “Bonds”) will be special limited
obligations of the Issuer payable from payments by or made on behalf of the
Louisville Arena Authority, Inc. (the “Corporation”), including the payment
of TIF Revenues, as described herein, Metro Revenues, as described herein,
and Arena Revenues, including Category A Arena Revenues and Category B
Arena Revenues, as described herein, derived from the use and operation of
the KFC Yum! Center (the “Arena”). The Bonds will be dated as of the date
of their delivery. See “THE BONDS — General” and “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”

The Arena is an approximately 720,000 square-foot, 22,000 seat multi-use
arena located in downtown Louisville, Kentucky. The Arena opened in 2010,
is managed by AEG, as hereinafter defined, is home to the University of
Louisville men’s and women’s basketball programs, and hosts a variety of
other events, including concerts, sporting events, family shows and meetings.
See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES.”

The Bonds are being issued under the authority of Chapter 154 of the
Kentucky Revised Statutes, and are authorized by the Bond Resolution
adopted by the Issuer on September 28, 2017 (the “Resolution”).

To (i) refund the Issuer’s outstanding (a) Louisville Arena Project Revenue
Bonds, Series 2008A (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.), consisting of
Subseries 2008A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds and Subseries 2008A-2 Capital
Appreciation Bonds, (b) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable
Series 2008B (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) and (c) Louisville Arena
Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable Subordinate Series 2008C (Louisville
Arena Authority, Inc.) (collectively, the “Prior Bonds”); (ii) fund a debt
service reserve fund; (iii) provide certain working capital funds, as described
herein; (iv) fund a renovation and replacement fund; and (v) pay expenses
and costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. See “PLAN
OF FINANCE” and “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”

See table on inside cover page.

Interest on the Bonds will be payable on June 1 and December 1 of each
year, commencing June 1, 2018.

The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on December 1, 2041 and December 1,

2045, are subject to redemption at the option of the Corporation on or after

December 1, 2027. The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on December 1, 2047,

are subject to redemption at the option of the Corporation on or after

December 1, 2022. Optional redemptions may be in whole or in part, at any
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Trustee

Security for Payment

Flow of Funds

time (less than all of a single maturity to be selected by lot in such manner as
the Trustee may determine), at a redemption price equal to the principal
amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon, without premium.

The Series 2017B Bonds maturing on or before December 1, 2027 are
subject to redemption at the option of the Corporation, in whole or in part on
any date, at a redemption price (the “Make-Whole Premium Redemption
Price”) equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the Series
2017B Bonds to be redeemed, or (ii) the sum of the present values of the
remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the Series 2017B
Bonds to be redeemed (exclusive of interest accrued to the date fixed for
redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a semiannual basis
(assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the
Comparable Treasury Yield (described herein) plus 35 basis points, plus in
each case, accrued and unpaid interest on the Series 2017B Bonds being
redeemed to the date fixed for redemption. See “THE BONDS - Redemption
Provisions.” The Series 2017B Bonds maturing on or after December 1,
2028, are subject to redemption at the option of the Corporation on or after
December 1, 2027, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount
thereof, plus accrued interest thereon, without premium.

Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be paid by
Regions Bank, an Alabama banking corporation, as Trustee.

The Bonds will be secured by the TIF Revenues, the Metro Revenues and the
Arena Revenues pledged under the Bond Indenture, funds and accounts
created by the Bond Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund), the Operations
and Maintenance Fund created under the Loan Agreement and the Mortgage
and Security Agreement, as hereinafter defined, from the Corporation to the
Trustee, and the principal of and interest and any premium on the Bonds will
be paid from three principal revenue sources: (1) TIF Revenues, which are
tax increment revenues derived and paid by the State from a tax increment
district in downtown Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government
(“Metro Louisville”) ($11,235,066 paid in calendar year 2017); (2) Metro
Revenues, as described herein, appropriated by Metro Louisville in the
amount of $10,800,000 annually; and (3) net Arena Revenues transferred to
the Arena Revenue Fund, divided into Category A Arena Revenues and
Category B Arena Revenues, as further described herein, paid by the
Corporation, in the projected amount of $8,062,000 for calendar year 2018,
which revenues are derived from various sponsorship agreements,
management and operating contracts and Arena operations. See
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” and
“APPENDIX A — Arena Consultant’s Report - Operating Information
Regarding Corporation.”

TIF Revenues will be deposited in the TIF Revenue Fund, Metro Payments
will be deposited in the Metro Revenue Fund and Arena Revenues received
by the Trustee will be deposited in the Arena Revenue Fund, each fund as
further described herein. TIF Revenues and Metro Revenues will be received
for deposit by the Trustee annually, Category A Arena Revenues will be
received by the Trustee for deposit throughout the year and Category B
Arena Revenues will be received for deposit on May 15 and November 15 of
each year.

On or before the third Business Day preceding December 1 of each year for
(1) through (v) below and on or before the third Business Day preceding June
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Reserve Fund

Excess Net Cash Flow Fund

1 of each year for (i) through (vi) below, amounts will be transferred from
the TIF Revenue Fund, the Metro Revenue Fund and the Arena Revenue
Fund (in that order) and deposited in the following Funds: (i) the amount
required to pay debt service on the next December 1 or June 1, as applicable,
to the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, (ii) the
amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Senior Reserve Fund to
the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, (iii) the amount, if any, required to
pay any reimbursement obligation due to the provider of the Series 2017
Liquidity Reserve Policy in the Liquidity Reserve Fund, (iv) the amount
required to pay debt service on Subordinate Bonds, if any are issued in the
future, on the next December 1 or June 1, as applicable, to the Subordinate
Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund (in that order), (v) the
amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Subordinate Reserve
Fund to the Subordinate Reserve Fund Requirement and (vi) all remaining
amounts to the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (June 1 only, TIF Revenues,
Metro Revenues and Arena Revenues remaining on December 1 after the
deposits in (i) through (v) will be retained in the respective revenue funds
until the following June 1). Separate accounts will be maintained in the
Excess Net Cash Flow Fund for TIF Revenues, Metro Revenues and Arena
Revenues. Amounts may be transferred from the Metro Revenue Account
and the Arena Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund to the
Renovation and Replacement Fund described herein (no TIF Revenues will
be deposited in the Renovation and Replacement Fund).

See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” for
a further description of the application by the Trustee of amounts to be
deposited in and disbursed from the Funds and Accounts.

The Bond Indenture creates the “Senior Reserve Fund.” There will be
deposited, upon the issuance of the Bonds, and on each subsequent
December 1 and June 1 that Senior Bonds are outstanding, amounts sufficient
to maintain the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement (the “Senior Reserve Fund
Requirement”). Such amount shall be equal to the least of (i) the maximum
annual debt service on all Senior Bonds outstanding; (ii) an amount equal to
10% of the proceeds of the Senior Bonds within the meaning of Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and (iii) an amount equal
to 125% of the average annual debt service on all Senior Bonds outstanding.

The Bond Indenture creates the “Excess Net Cash Flow Fund.” Amounts will
be deposited into the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund from the TIF Revenue
Fund, the Metro Revenue Fund and the Arena Revenue Fund on each June 1.

Amounts in the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund may be transferred to the
Renovation and Replacement Fund, the Senior Interest Fund, the Senior
Bond Sinking Fund, the Senior Reserve Fund, the Subordinate Interest Fund,
the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund and the Subordinate Reserve Fund (in
that order), all as further described herein and in the Bond Indenture.
Amounts in the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund Arena Revenue Account may
also be transferred to the Corporation for deposit in the Operation and
Maintenance Account, upon the written request of the Corporation, so that an
amount equal to the Minimum Operating Cash Balance, described herein,
will then be on deposit in the Operation and Maintenance Account.

The Corporation, by Written Instruction to the Trustee, may request the
Trustee to transfer any moneys held within the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund
to the Redemption Fund for redemption of Bonds. Moneys for each such
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Liquidity Reserve

transfer shall first be transferred from the TIF Revenue Account, then from
the Metro Revenue Account and then from the Arena Revenue Account.

The Bond Indenture creates the “Renovation and Replacement Fund.”
Amounts will be deposited into the accounts of the Renovation and
Replacement Fund from the Metro Revenue Account and the Arena Revenue
Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund, as described herein. TIF
Revenues cannot be deposited to the Renovation and Replacement Fund or
used to pay costs other than the principal of and interest on outstanding
bonds. The purpose of the Renovation and Replacement Fund is to provide
reasonable reserves for renovations, renewals, replacements, improvements,
additions, extraordinary repairs and contingencies in the operation of the
Arena. Moneys held within the Renovation and Replacement Fund may be
disbursed by the Trustee upon submission of a written request by the
Corporation. The Trustee will first disburse amounts from the Metro
Revenue Account and then from the Arena Revenue Account. Transfers may
also be made from the Renovation and Replacement Fund to the Debt
Service Funds and the Senior Reserve Fund and the Subordinate Reserve
Fund, as described herein and in the Bond Indenture.

The Operation and Maintenance Account is maintained by the Corporation
under the Loan Agreement. Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance
Account will be used by the Corporation to pay Operating Expenses and will
be, following a written demand from the Trustee, transferred to the Trustee
for the payment of debt service and to restore the amount in the Senior
Reserve Fund to the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement. On May 15 and
November 15 of each year the Corporation will pay to the Trustee the
moneys on deposit in the Operations and Maintenance Account that exceed
the Minimum Operating Cash Balance.

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Assured Guaranty Municipal
Corp. (the “Bond Insurer””) will issue its municipal bond insurance policy for
the Bonds (the “Policy”). The Policy guarantees the scheduled payment of
principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the form of the
Policy included as APPENDIX J to this Official Statement. See “BOND
INSURANCE.”

The Bond Insurer also will issue a municipal bond debt service reserve
insurance policy (the “Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety”) in the
amount of $15,593,881.50 equal to 50% of the Senior Reserve Fund
Requirement for the Bonds. The Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety
will be available to pay scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds in
the event that other available funds are not sufficient for that purpose. See
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Funds
and Accounts; Application of Revenues — Senior Reserve Fund” “BOND
INSURANCE” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Bond
Insurance.”

The Bond Insurer will further issue a $10 million Series 2017 Liquidity
Reserve Policy to make cash available to the Corporation under certain
circumstances (the “Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy”), effective as of
the date of issuance of the Bonds. Under the terms of the Series 2017
Liquidity Reserve Policy, the Bond Insurer will make funds available to the
Corporation to draw (each a “Draw”) for the purpose of funding a shortfall in
available moneys for debt service through December 1, 2024. See “BOND
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Investment Considerations

Tax Status

Legal Matters

Ratings

Information

INSURANCE - The Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy” and
“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Bond Insurance.”

There are a number of factors associated with owning the Bonds that
prospective investors should consider prior to purchasing the Bonds. For a
discussion of these factors, see “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS.”

The delivery of the Bonds is subject to the opinion of Stoll Keenon Ogden
PLLC, Bond Counsel, to the effect that under existing law, assuming
continuing compliance with certain covenants and the accuracy of certain
representations: (i) With respect to the Series 2017A Bonds: (a) interest on
the Series 2017A Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income
tax purposes, and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal
alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, (b)
interest on the Series 2017A Bonds is exempt from income taxation and ad
valorem taxation by the State and all political subdivisions thereof; (ii) With
respect to the Series 2017B Bonds: (a) interest on the Series 2017B Bonds is
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, (b) interest on the
Series 2017B Bonds is exempt from income taxation and ad valorem taxation
by the State and all political subdivisions thereof. See “TAX TREATMENT”
herein for information concerning assumptions and conditions as to
compliance with the Code upon which the foregoing opinion with respect to
the Series 2017A Bonds is based and for a description of certain provisions
of the Code that may affect the tax treatment of interest on the Series 2017A
Bonds.

Stoll Keenon Ogden PLLC, will act as Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon by Stites & Harbison, PLLC, counsel to the Issuer, Frost
Brown Todd LLC, general counsel to the Corporation and for the
Underwriters by their counsel, Dinsmore & Shohl LLP.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) and S&P Global Ratingxs, a
business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”) are
expected to assign ratings of “A2” (stable outlook) and “AA” (stable
outlook), respectively, to the Bonds with the understanding that a municipal
bond insurance policy for the Bonds will be issued by Assured Guaranty
Municipal Corp. (the “Bond Insurer”). Moody’s and S&P have assigned
underlying ratings of “Baa3” (stable outlook) and “A-” (stable outlook),
respectively, to the Bonds. For a discussion of these ratings, see the section
herein captioned “RATINGS.”

Information regarding the Bonds is available by contacting the Louisville
Arena Authority, Inc. at One Arena Plaza, Louisville, Kentucky 40202, (502)
690-9000, or Regions Bank, the Trustee, at 150 4™ Avenue North, Suite 900,
Nashville, Tennessee 37219 ATTN: Corporate Trust Department. This
Official Statement will be posted to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Issuer’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) online repository
system.



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$377,765,000
Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority
Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2017
(Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.)

Composed of:

$202,125,000 Series 2017A Bonds and
$175,640,000 Taxable Series 2017B Bonds

INTRODUCTION
Purpose of this Official Statement

This Official Statement, including the cover page and the appendices hereto, sets forth certain
information in connection with the offering by the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority
(the “Issuer”) of its Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A (the “Series
2017A Bonds™) and the Louisville Arena Project Refunding Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2017B (the
“Series 2017B Bonds” and together with the Series 2017A Bonds, the “Bonds”).

The Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Bond Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2017
(the “Bond Indenture”), by and between the Issuer and Regions Bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”).
Capitalized terms used as defined terms in this Official Statement and not otherwise defined are used as
defined in APPENDIX F — “Summaries of Certain Bond Documents — Definitions of Certain Terms.”

The Issuer

The Issuer is a public body politic and corporate and an agency, instrumentality and political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “State”) affiliated with the Cabinet for Economic
Development of the State created, organized, existing and given authority under Sections 154.1-010,
154.10-010 through 154.10-035 and 154.20-035 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes (“KRS”), as amended,
and Resolution 92-1 adopted on October 13, 1992 by the Kentucky Economic Development Partnership
(collectively the “Act”), and is authorized to issue revenue bonds as provided in the Act to finance the
costs of economic development projects. See “THE ISSUER.”

The Corporation

Louisville Arena Authority, Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a Kentucky non-stock, nonprofit
corporation created on January 12, 2006 for the purpose of creating, financing, developing and overseeing
the construction, management and operation of a multi-use arena and related improvements now known
as the KFC Yum! Center (the “Arena”) located at One Arena Plaza, in the central business district of
Metro Louisville.

The Corporation has been determined to be a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Members of the Board of Directors are
appointed by the Governor of the State (ten members) and by the Metro Louisville Mayor (five
members). See “THE PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS - The Corporation.”

Plan of Finance

The Bonds are being issued by the Issuer, at the request of the Corporation to (i) refund the
Issuer’s outstanding (a) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Series 2008A (Louisville Arena



Authority, Inc.), consisting of Subseries 2008A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds and Subseries 2008A-2 Capital
Appreciation Bonds, (b) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2008B (Louisville
Arena Authority, Inc.) and (c) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable Subordinate Series
2008C (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) (collectively, the “Prior Bonds™), previously issued by the
Issuer to finance a portion of the costs of the acquisition, development, construction, and installation of
the Arena; (ii) fund a debt service reserve fund; (iii) provide certain working capital funds, as described
herein; (iv) fund a renovation and replacement fund; and (v) pay expenses and costs incurred in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”

The Arena

The Arena, known as the KFC Yum! Center because of its naming rights relationship with YUM!
Brands, is a 721,762 square-foot, 22,090 seat multi-use arena located on a site bounded by Main Street,
River Road, Third Street and Second Street in downtown Metro Louisville (the “Arena Site”). The Arena
opened in October of 2010 and is the home of the men’s and women’s basketball programs of the
University of Louisville (the “University”) pursuant to the Lease Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2008,
which has been amended by the First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of July 20, 2017
(collectively, the “Lease Agreement”), between the Corporation and the University of Louisville Athletic
Association, Inc. (“ULAA”). The Arena also serves as a venue for concerts and other public events on a
regular basis. See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES - Description of the Arena.”

The Arena is managed on behalf of the Corporation by AEG Management Louisville, LLC, and
as to certain sections of the Management Agreement, Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc. (collectively,
“AEG”), a Delaware limited liability company. AEG is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Anschutz
Company. Anschutz Company is one of the leading sports and entertainment presenters in the world and
owns, controls or is affiliated with a collection of companies including over 100 of the world’s
preeminent sports and entertainment facilities. In 2016, the Arena ranked 59" in the world by ticket sales
(a figure which excludes athletic events).! See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES - Management
and Operations.”

Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds

The Bonds will be secured by the Bond Indenture, including the funds held thereunder by the
Trustee, and the principal of and interest on the Bonds will be paid from three principal revenue sources.
Under the TIF Contract, as hereinafter defined, between the State and the Corporation, certain tax
increments, which are further described herein (the “TIF Revenues”), are to be paid annually by the State
to the Trustee and applied to the payment of debt service on the Bonds. Under Ordinance No. 131, Series
2017 of Metro Louisville, adopted on August 10, 2017, “guaranteed payments” of $10,800,000 (the
“Metro Revenues”) are to be made annually by Metro Louisville directly to the Trustee under a Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum of Agreement, effective as of date of delivery of the Bonds,
between Metro Louisville and the Corporation. Under the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2017
between the Issuer and the Corporation (the “Loan Agreement”), the Corporation will pledge Arena
Revenues, described herein, to the Trustee.

To secure its obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Corporation will assign to the Trustee, as
security for the Bonds, all of the material agreements relating to the operation of the Arena under an
Assignment of Operating Agreements dated as of December 1, 2017 (the “Assignment of Operating
Agreements”). Additionally, the Corporation will enter into (i) the Irrevocable Assignment of TIF
Revenues and TIF Contract dated as of December 1, 2017 from the Corporation to the Trustee (the “TIF
Assignment”), (ii) the Irrevocable Assignment of Metro Revenues and Memorandum of Agreement dated

'Source: https://www.pollstarpro.com/files/Charts2016/2016Y earEndWorldwideTicketSalesTop200ArenaVenues.pdf
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as of December 1, 2017 from the Corporation to the Trustee (the “Metro Assignment”), and (iii) a
Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2017, in favor of the Trustee (the
“Mortgage”). See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — General.”

THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL AND LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER AND DO
NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT, GENERAL OBLIGATION, PLEDGE OF FAITH AND CREDIT OR
LIABILITY OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OR OF ANY AGENCY OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISION
THEREOF, INCLUDING METRO LOUISVILLE, WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE
CONSTITUTION OR STATUTES OF THE STATE, AND THE BONDS ARE PAYABLE SOLELY
FROM THE FUNDS AND PROPERTY PLEDGED THEREFOR. THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING
POWER.

TIF Revenues

The TIF Revenues, which are available to pay debt service on the Bonds and any Subordinate
Bonds that are permitted to be issued under the Bond Indenture, will be paid by the State directly to the
Trustee, in accordance with the requirements of KRS Sections 65.490 through 65.499 (the “TIF Act”), the
Third Amended and Restated Grant Contract, dated as of June 26, 2008, as amended by the Fourth
Amended and Restated Grant Contract, dated as of September 15, 2011, as further amended by the Fifth
Amended and Restated Grant Contract, dated as of January 15, 2014, as further amended by the Sixth
Amended and Restated Grant Contract, effective as of the date of delivery of the Bonds (the “TIF
Contract”) and the TIF Assignment. The TIF Revenues are required to be paid on the later of (i)
September 30 of each calendar year, or (ii) 90 days after the Corporation submits a request for payment of
the Increment, as defined herein, for successive calendar years continuing automatically until the earliest
of (A) the date no Bonds are Outstanding (and certain other indebtedness is paid in full), (B) December
31, 2054, or (C) upon election by the State to terminate the TIF Contract at the end of any calendar year
(upon 60 days’ prior written notice). The TIF Revenues will be derived from incremental State sales taxes
and State property taxes derived from an approximately two-square mile tax increment district (the “TIF
District”) created by Metro Louisville for the benefit of the Arena. The TIF District generally includes
Metro Louisville’s central business district, as well as the Arena Site and adjacent development areas, but
is subject to certain excluded areas.

If Bonds are outstanding, prior to the State exercising any termination rights under the TIF
Contract, the Trustee must consent to the termination. The TIF Contract requires that once the Bonds are
eligible for redemption, “Excess Revenues” must be used to redeem Bonds at least once every thirty-six
(36) months.  “Excess Revenues” are revenues of the Corporation in excess of the Corporation’s
operating expenses, capital expenditures and regularly scheduled debt service on the Bonds. If the
Corporation takes the position that the use of revenues to redeem the Bonds will jeopardize the Arena
operations, the Corporation must present an alternative payment plan to the Capital Projects and Bond
Oversight Committee (the “CPBO Committee™) (a joint legislative committee comprised of members of
the Kentucky Senate and the Kentucky House of Representatives) for approval. See “THE TIF
DISTRICT AND TIF REVENUES” for a general description and a map of the TIF District. See “THE
PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS - The State” and APPENDIX B — “Certain Information Relating to TIF
Revenues.” See also “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Funds and
Accounts; Application of Revenues - TIF Revenue Fund.”

Metro Louisville Payments

Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government (“Metro Louisville”) will pay the Metro
Revenues to the Trustee for deposit in the Metro Revenue Fund on November 1 of each year any Bonds
are Outstanding. The Metro Revenues will be available to pay debt service on the Bonds and to make
deposits into the Senior Reserve Fund, and the Renovation and Replacement Fund. Metro Revenues will
not be available to pay Operating Expenses of the Arena. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” for a description of the application by the Trustee of the Metro
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Revenues. See also APPENDIX D - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, Metro Louisville, Fiscal
Year Ended June 30, 2016.

Arena Revenues

General. Arena revenues derived from Arena operations are referred to herein as “Category A
Arena Revenues”, “Category B Arena Revenues” and, collectively, as “Arena Revenues”. Category A
Arena Revenues consist of contractually-obligated revenues secured through multi-year agreements, such
as naming rights and sponsorships. Category B Arena Revenues consist of all other revenues generated in
connection with the Arena, and are subject to annual variation.

Category A Arena Revenues. Category A Arena Revenues will be deposited in the Arena
Revenue Fund created under the Bond Indenture and applied in accordance with the requirements of the
Bond Indenture. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Projected
Debt Service Coverage Ratios” herein for information regarding projected Category A Arena Revenues.

The principal sources of Category A Arena Revenues will be payments received by the
Corporation under naming rights and sponsorship agreements.

Category B Arena Revenues. Category B Arena Revenues will be deposited in the Operations
and Maintenance Account maintained by the Corporation under the Loan Agreement and applied to the
payment of Operating Expenses. To the extent amounts in the Operations and Maintenance Account
exceed the Minimum Operating Cash Balance, such amounts will be transferred on each May 15 and
November 15 to the Trustee for deposit to the Arena Revenue Fund, to be applied in accordance with the
requirements of the Bond Indenture.

The principal sources of Category B Arena Revenues will be payments received by the
Corporation under a Lease Agreement with ULAA, the anchor tenant of the Arena, and payments
received under a Management Agreement with AEG, the manager of the Arena from concerts and other
events held at the Arena.

See also “THE PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS — ULAA” and “THE ARENA AND ARENA
REVENUES,” “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS,” APPENDIX A —
“Arena Consultant’s Report.” and APPENDIX E - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, ULAA for
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016.

Flow of Funds

TIF Revenues from the State will be remitted by the State directly to the Trustee and deposited in
the TIF Revenue Fund. Metro Payments from Metro Louisville will be remitted by Metro Louisville
directly to the Trustee and deposited in the Metro Revenue Fund. Arena Revenues will be remitted by the
Corporation periodically to the Trustee and deposited in the Arena Revenue Fund. As described above,
TIF Revenues and Metro Revenues will be received for deposit by the Trustee annually. Category A
Arena Revenues will be received for deposit throughout the year and Category B Revenues will be
received for deposit on each May 15 and November 15.

On the third Business Day preceding December 1 and June 1 of each year, amounts will be
transferred first from the TIF Revenue Fund, the Metro Revenue Fund and the Arena Revenue Fund (in
that order) and deposited in the following Funds in the following order: (i) the amount required to pay
debt service on the next December 1 or June 1, as applicable, to the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior
Bond Sinking Fund, (ii) the amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Senior Reserve Fund to
the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, including any payment of a Reimbursement Obligation under the
Series 2017 Series Reserve Fund Surety, (iii) the amount, if any, required to pay any Reimbursement
Obligation due to the provider of the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy in the Liquidity Reserve Fund,
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(iv) if any Subordinate Bonds are then outstanding, the amount required to pay debt service on the next
December 1 or June 1, as applicable, to the Subordinate Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking
Fund (in that order), (v) if any Subordinate Bonds are then outstanding, the amount, if any, required to
restore the amount in the Subordinate Reserve Fund to the Subordinate Reserve Fund Requirement and
(vi) all remaining amounts to the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (June 1 only), TIF Revenues, Metro
Revenues and Arena Revenues remaining on December 1 after the deposits in (i) through (v) will be
retained in the applicable revenue fund until the following June 1. Separate accounts will be maintained in
the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund for TIF Revenues, Metro Revenues and Arena Revenues. Amounts may
be transferred from the Metro Revenue Account and the Arena Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash
Flow Fund to the Metro Revenue Account and the Arena Revenue Account, respectively, of the
Renovation and Replacement Fund (no TIF Revenues will be deposited in the Renovation and
Replacement Fund). See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” for a
further description of the application by the Trustee of amounts to be deposited in and disbursed from the
Funds and Accounts.

Summary of Flow of Funds
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Bond Insurance, Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety and Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (the “Bond
Insurer”) will issue its municipal bond insurance policy for the Bonds (the “Policy”). The Policy
guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the
form of the Policy included as APPENDIX J to this Official Statement. See “BOND INSURANCE.”

The Bond Insurer also will issue a municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy (the
“Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety”) in the amount of $15,593,881.50 equal to fifty percent (50%)
of the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement for the Bonds. The Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety will
be available to pay scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds in the event that other available funds
are not sufficient for that purpose. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
BONDS - Funds and Accounts; Application of Revenues — Senior Reserve Fund” “BOND
INSURANCE” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Bond Insurance.”

The Bond Insurer will further issue a $10 million Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy to make
cash available to the Corporation under certain circumstances (the “Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve
Policy”), effective as of the date of issuance of the Bonds. Under the terms of the Series 2017 Liquidity
Reserve Policy, the Bond Insurer will make funds available to the Corporation to draw (each a “Draw”)
for the purpose of funding a shortfall in available moneys for debt service through December 1, 2024.

Draws under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy will be made before draws on the Series
2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety for payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds. See “BOND
INSURANCE - The Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
— Bond Insurance.”

Arena Consultant’s Report

Conventions, Sports & Leisure International, LLC (the “Arena Feasibility Consultant”) has issued
its report entitled “Feasibility Study: KFC Yum! Center Refinancing” (the “Arena Consultant’s Report™),
analyzing certain Arena financial information and projections. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Projected Debt Service Coverage Ratios” and APPENDIX A — “Arena
Consultant’s Report.”

Investment Considerations

There are risks associated with the purchase of the Bonds. See the information under
“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” for a discussion of certain of these risks.

Continuing Disclosure

The Corporation will enter into a continuing disclosure undertaking for the benefit of the
Bondholders to provide certain information annually and to provide notice of certain events to certain
information repositories. Metro Louisville and ULAA will enter into separate continuing disclosure
undertakings for the benefit of Bondholders to provide certain annual information. The forms of the
continuing disclosure undertakings are attached as APPENDIX G. See “Forms of Continuing Disclosure
Agreements.”

Miscellaneous

Brief descriptions of the Issuer, the Corporation, the Bond Insurer, Metro Louisville, ULAA,
certain provisions of the Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage, the Assignment
of Operating Agreements, the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy, the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund
Surety, and the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy are included in this Official Statement. The
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descriptions and summaries of the various entities and documents hereinafter set forth do not purport to
be comprehensive or definitive, and reference is made to each document for the complete details of all
terms and conditions set forth therein. All statements herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to
each such document. All such descriptions are further qualified in their entirety by reference to the
documents. Copies of such documents will be available in reasonable quantities upon request to the
Trustee.

Information regarding the Bonds is available by contacting the Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.,
One Arena Plaza, Louisville, KY 40202, (502) 690-9000, or Regions Bank, 150 4th Avenue North, Suite
900, Nashville, Tennessee 37219, Attention: Corporate Trust Department, Telephone: (615) 770-4359.
This Official Statement will be posted to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s Electronic
Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) online repository system.

THE ISSUER

Except for the information under this heading and “LITIGATION - Issuer”, the Issuer has not
participated in the preparation of this Official Statement and assumes no responsibility as to the accuracy
or completeness of any information in this Official Statement.

The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic and an agency, instrumentality and political
subdivision of the State created pursuant to Chapter 154, Section 154.020 of the KRS as the Kentucky
Development Finance Authority and reorganized as the Kentucky Economic Development Finance
Authority under Section 154.20-010 to 154.20-150 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes (“KRS”). The Issuer
is governed by a board of seven directors, including the Secretary of the Finance and Administration
Cabinet as an ex officio member, who are appointed by a board known as the Kentucky Economic
Development Partnership, which is in turn appointed by the Governor from lists of candidates submitted
to the Governor by organizations representing various business and labor interests in the State. The Issuer
has the power to cooperate with local development agencies in their efforts to promote the expansion of
business and job opportunities in the State, and to issue revenue bonds under KRS Chapters 103 and 154.

The Bonds are special and limited obligations of the Issuer and do not constitute a debt,
general obligation, pledge of faith and credit or liability of the Issuer, the State or of any agency or
political subdivision thereof, including Metro Louisville, within the meaning of the Constitution or
statutes of the State, and the Bonds are payable solely from the funds and property pledged
therefor. The Issuer has no taxing power. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR
THE BONDS.”

THE PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS
The State

The State, which made a grant in 2007 of $75,000,000 to fund costs of the acquisition of the
Arena site and demolition and relocation of certain facilities that then existed on the Arena site, will make
payments of TIF Revenues to the Trustee pursuant to the TIF Assignment. The TIF Revenues are
comprised primarily of the incremental State sales taxes and State property tax derived from the TIF
District, pursuant to the TIF Contract. The amount annually contributed by the State will be 80% of the
annual property tax increment above the base year amount collected within the TIF District and 80% of
the annual State sales taxes increment above the base year collected within the TIF District during a
calendar year. The base year for the TIF is calendar year 2005. See “THE TIF DISTRICT AND TIF
REVENUES” and APPENDIX B - “Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues.”



Metro Louisville

Metro Louisville is a public body corporate and politic, duly created and existing as a political
subdivision of the State under the Constitution and laws of the State. Metro Louisville was formed in
January 2003 by the merger of Jefferson County and the City of Louisville and is governed by an elected
Mayor and a 26-member elected council. Metro Louisville is located in the north-central part of Kentucky
on the south bank of the Ohio River and encompasses more than 385 square miles. It is located in the
geographic center of the Ohio River Valley region at a focal point where railroads, highways and the Ohio
River converge, offering excellent accessibility to all major markets. Metro Louisville, the largest
municipality in the State, is a commercial, industrial, medical, educational, cultural and financial center
for the greater metropolitan area. Metro Louisville’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016, is attached as APPENDIX D and contains certain financial and
statistical information with respect to Metro Louisville.

The Corporation

The Corporation is a Kentucky non-profit, non-stock corporation organized on January 12, 2006.
By letter dated March 14, 2007, the Internal Revenue Service determined that the Corporation was a tax
exempt organization described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. The Corporation also received a
private letter ruling dated May 14, 2008 from the Internal Revenue Service concluding that certain
activities to be undertaken by the Corporation at the Arena did not constitute unrelated trade or business
activities. Under its Bylaws, the Corporation is organized and operated for the purpose of creating,
designing, financing, developing and overseeing the construction, financing and operation of the Arena.

The formation of the Corporation was a direct result of the recommendations of the Louisville
Arena Task Force, formed in May 2005 by the Kentucky Governor, and including various public officials
and local business leaders. The Task Force was directed by executive order to consider the need, use and
benefit to the community of an arena and to analyze various sites, arena governance and financing
alternatives. The Task Force issued its report on September 30, 2005 and endorsed a new arena in
downtown Louisville and the creation of the Corporation.

The Corporation’s Board of Directors (identified page iii of this Official Statement) is comprised
of 15 voting members and two non-voting members serving staggered terms on an unpaid, volunteer
basis. The Mayor of Metro Louisville has the power to appoint (but not remove) five persons to the
Board. The Governor of the State has the power to appoint (but not remove) ten persons to the Board.

The Corporation has no full-time staff. It has contracted with AEG for all staff and management
assistance pursuant to the Management Agreement.

Prior to the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016 financial statements of the Corporation were
audited by Crowe Horwath LLP, Louisville, Kentucky. As permitted by Kentucky law, the State’s
Auditor of Public Accounts audited the Corporation’s financial statements for its fiscal year ending
December 31, 2016. Those financial statements are included in this Official Statement as APPENDIX C,
together with certain unaudited financial information for the period ended September 30, 2017.

ULAA

ULAA is a Kentucky not-for-profit corporation organized in 1984 for the purpose of promoting
the intercollegiate athletic activities of the University. ULAA has been determined to be a tax-exempt
organization described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. ULAA’s mission is to provide quality
intercollegiate athletic programs through a comprehensive sports program. In addition, ULAA is
committed to achieving athletic excellence for the University’s student-athletes, maintaining NCAA
compliance, ensuring full implementation of gender equity plans and offering a wide variety of sports and



recreational outlets for the University community, alumni and visitors. ULAA’s audited financial
statements for the year ended June 30, 2016 are attached as APPENDIX E.

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, ULAA is the primary tenant of the Arena, with priority use by
the University’s men’s and women’s basketball programs. The University is a State-supported University
and its men’s and women’s basketball programs are considered among the most successful collegiate
basketball programs in the country. See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES” and APPENDIX A
- “Arena Consultant’s Report - Agreement between the Louisville Arena Authority and the University of
Louisville.” See also “THE ARENA — Primary Tenant” for a description of the provisions of the Lease
Agreement. See also “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” for a summary of recent events involving
the men’s basketball program of the University and ULAA.

THE TIF DISTRICT AND TIF REVENUES
Historical TIF Performance

For the 2016 calendar year (received in 2017), the TIF District contributed $11,235,066 to the
Corporation, with $10,497,784 coming from state sales tax payments and $737,282 coming from state
property tax payments. The TIF District historical performance since the 2012 tax year is as follows:

Fiscal Year Sales Tax Property Tax Total TIF Revenue Percentage Change
Tax Year Received Received Received Received of Total
2012 2013 $5,177,216 $488,978 $5,666,194 -
2013 2014 6,841,392 569,518 7,410,910 30.8%
2014 2015 7,536,662 572,650 8,109,273 9.4
2015 2016 9,699,186 598,159 10,297,345 27.0
2016 2017 10,497,784 737,282 11,235,066 9.1

The chart below depicts the derivation of the State sales tax portion of the TIF Revenues, being

eighty percent of the difference between the total tax revenue and the base tax revenue, as well as the
percentage change in the total tax revenue generated in each year.

Year Total Sales Percentage Base Incremental TIF Revenue
Received  Tax Revenue Change of Total Sales Tax Sales Tax Received
2013 $23,899,649 - $17,428,129 $6,471,520 $5,177,216
2014 25,979,869 8.7% 17,428,129 8,551,740 6,841,392
2015 26,848,907 33 17,428,129 9,420,778 7,536,622
2016 29,552,112 10.1 17,428,129 12,124,983 9,699,186
2017 30,550,360 34 17,428,129 13,122,231 10,497,784



The chart below depicts the derivation of the state property tax portion of the TIF Revenues,
being eighty percent of the difference between the total tax revenue and the base tax revenue, as well as
the percentage change in the total tax revenue generated in each year.

Year Total Property  Percentage Base Incremental TIF Revenue
Received  Tax Revenue Change of Total Property Tax Property Tax Received
2013 $2,140,697 - $1,529,475 $611,222 $488,978
2014 2,241,373 4.7% 1,529,475 711,898 569,518
2015 2,245,288 0.2 1,529,475 715,813 572,650
2016 2,277,174 1.4 1,529,475 747,699 598,159
2017 2,451,077 7.6 1,529,475 921,602 737,282

The chart below depicts the historical breakdown of TIF Revenues derived from four economic
categories, or segments, of TIF Revenues related to state sales taxes — hotels, restaurants, fifty largest (top
fifty) non-hotel or restaurant tax remitters (businesses), and all other tax remitters (businesses).

Segments of Sales Taxes

012 2013 2014 015 016
Hotels $4,508,580 $5,095,041 $4,914,115 $5,878,165 $6,852,177
Restaurants 4,503,091 4,907,607 5,229,070 5,521,445 5,805,567
Top Fifty 9,604,214 10,669,800 10,285,470 10,744,283 10,551,397
Other 5,283,765 5,307,422 6,420,252 7,408,339 7,341,219

The information set forth in each of the foregoing tables was provided by Commonwealth’s
Office of the State Budget Director. See APPENDIX B for the State’s projections as to TIF Revenues to
be received and a description of the methodology and assumptions underlying those projections.

Boundaries of the District; Exemptions

The TIF District is an approximately two-square mile area designated as the “Development Area”
by Ordinance No. 226, Series 2006, adopted by Metro Louisville Government on December 7, 2006 and
as subsequently amended and revised (including by Ordinance No. 179, Series 2007, Ordinance No. 75,
Series 2008 and Ordinance No. 179, Series 2013 (the “2013 Metro Ordinance,” and, collectively, the
“Ordinance”).

The TIF District roughly encompasses a major portion of the Metro Louisville central business
district. Its northern boundary is the Ohio River, just south of which lie the KFC Yum! Center and Main
Street. The southern boundary roughly follows Kentucky Street. The eastern boundary includes portions
of Clay Street. The western boundary is roughly Roy Wilkins Avenue. The TIF District was originally
six-square miles in size and was activated in 2009. TIF Revenue payments began in 2010. In the 2016 tax
year (paid in 2017), $11,235,066 of TIF Revenues were paid and deposited with the trustee for the Prior
Bonds.

With the consent of the State, Metro Louisville and the Bond Insurer, in 2014 the size of the TIF
District was reduced to its current size of two-square miles by the 2013 Metro Ordinance after the State
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and the Corporation determined that eliminating four square miles to the south of the current TIF District

would produce greater TIF Revenues.

Any additional modification of the boundaries of the TIF District would require approval by the

Corporation, legislative action of Louisville Metro Council and approval by the State. At this time, there

are no plans for future modifications of the boundaries of the TIF District.

Current TIF District Boundaries
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Source: the Louisville Downtown Partnership (“LDP”).

The Arena is located in the TIF District. Certain areas of the TIF District are specifically

exempted from the Development Area and tax revenues generated in those “Development Area

The Development Area Exemptions are as

Exemptions” will not be used to determine TIF Revenues.

follows:
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1. The block bounded on the east by South Second Street, on the south by West Liberty Street,
on the west by South Third Street and on the north by West Jefferson Street (the “Marriott
Hotel Exemption”™);

2. The area bounded on the east by South Third Street, on the south by West Chestnut Street, on
the west by South Fifth Street on the north by West Jefferson Street (the “Fourth Street
Live!/Center City Exemption”);

3. The area bounded on the east by North Seventh Street, on the south by West Washington
Street, on the west by North Ninth Street, and on the north by West River Road, and also
being the area encompassed by the property located at 615 West Washington Street (the
“Museum Plaza Exemption”);

4. The lower level and the first two floors of the building located at 815 West Market Street (the
“Glassworks Exemption”);

5. The property located at 829-831 West Main Street (the “Frazier Museum Exemption”);

6. The property on the 140 block of North Fourth Street (the east and west side of the street)
(the “Galt House Exemption™); and

7. The property located at 700, 702, 704 and 706 West Main Street (the “21C Exemption”).

The Museum Plaza Exemption was created in conjunction with a proposed 62-story mixed-use
building that was never completed. The Fourth Street Live/Center City Exemption contains the Omni
Hotels & Resort Louisville (the “Omni”), due to be completed in early 2018. The Omni is an
approximately 600-room hotel with an additional 225 luxury apartments, a grocery store, and other
amenities.

All taxes from the Development Area Exemptions will be excluded from the calculation of TIF
Revenues. Under the terms of the Ordinance, Metro Louisville has reserved the right to amend the
Ordinance to add future economic development projects or additional taxes for the existing Development
Area Exemptions to the list of Development Area Exemptions. However, under the TIF Contract, if any
such amendment to the Ordinance (i) adds future economic development projects or additional types of
taxes to the Development Area Exemptions, (ii) is projected to reduce the amount of the TIF Revenue
payable to the Corporation and (iii) requires a designated agency to enter into a new or amended grant
contract with the State or provide for payment to such agency of a tax increment that otherwise would be
included as part of the TIF Revenue payable to the Corporation, then the State may not to enter into such
new or amended grant contract without the advance written consent of the Corporation.

Downtown Louisville Economic Information

Land use in the TIF District is a mixture of commercial, retail, office, industrial, multifamily, and
single family residential use. Although no economic data that is applicable exclusively to the TIF District
is available, according to the Louisville Downtown Partnership (“LDP”), a private, local non-profit
organization that promotes the interests of downtown Louisville, the downtown Louisville central
business district (with which the TIF District roughly equates) has over $2 billion in taxable property
value and 65,884 employees, and is expected to experience significant investment and growth in the short
term:

e Ten new hotels will open by 2019, adding 1,723 rooms to downtown’s existing 4,824 rooms.
e By 2019, it is expected there will be a total of 1,795,000 sq. ft. of retail space, an increase of
8.8% from 2017.
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e Four new tourist attractions, all related to bourbon tourism, will open in 2018, bringing the
downtown total of tourist attractions to 35.

e By 2019, it is expected that there will be a total of 8,931,500 sq. ft. of leasable space in
downtown Louisville, an increase of 2.8% from 2017.

e By 2019, it is expected that there will be a total of 68,900 employees working in downtown
Louisville, an increase of 4.6% from 2017.

e By 2019, it is expected that there will be a total of 3,709 market-rate residential units in
downtown Louisville, an increase of 39% from 2017.

The Kentucky International Convention Center (the “Convention Center”) is located in the TIF
District and is currently undergoing an approximately $200 million renovation, increasing its exhibition
space from approximately 147,000 sq. ft. to more than 200,000 sq. ft. The Convention Center was closed
for renovation and expansion in August of 2016. It is expected to reopen in August of 2018 and
Convention Center management reports 34,011 hotel room nights have already been booked as a result of
scheduled conferences.

The infographic below depicts various present and future projects in the TIF District and in the
surrounding area.
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No assurance can be provided that any of the projects identified above as “proposed”
will be built or conform to the descriptions above or that projects already under construction will be
completed.

Additionally, the State and the State of Indiana recently completed the Louisville-Southern
Indiana Ohio River Bridges Project, which included a new bridge across the Ohio River further linking
southern Indiana with downtown Louisville (the “Downtown Crossing Segment”). The Downtown
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Crossing Segment cost $1.3 billion and will promote cross-river mobility by improving safety, alleviating
traffic congestion and connecting highways in the Louisville-Southern Indiana region.

Tax Increment Payments by the State

Under the TIF Contract, the TIF Revenues will be paid by the State directly to the Trustee, in
accordance with the TIF Act, on the later of (i) September 30 of each calendar year, or (ii) 90 days after
the Corporation submits a request for payment of the Increment, for successive calendar years continuing
automatically until the earliest of (A) the date no Bonds are Outstanding, (B) December 31, 2054, or (C)
upon election by the State to terminate the TIF Contract at the end of any calendar year (upon 60 days’
prior written notice). TIF Revenues will primarily be derived from incremental State sales taxes and State
property taxes derived from the TIF District.

The State cannot terminate the TIF Contract as long as any Bonds are Outstanding without the
Trustee’s prior written consent. The TIF Contract requires that once Bonds are callable for optional
redemption, “Excess Revenues” must be used to redeem Bonds at least once every thirty-six (36) months.
“Excess Revenues” are revenues of the Corporation in excess of the Corporation’s operating expenses,
capital expenditures and regularly scheduled debt service on the Bonds. If the Corporation takes the
position that use of revenues to redeem the Bonds will jeopardize the Arena’s operations, the Corporation
must present an alternative payment plan to the CPBO Committee. See “THE TIF DISTRICT AND TIF
REVENUES” for a general description and a map of the TIF District. See “THE PRINCIPAL
PARTICIPANTS - The State” and APPENDIX B — “Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues.”
See also “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Funds and Accounts;
Application of Revenues - TIF Revenue Fund.”

The TIF Revenues remitted by the State to the Trustee will be deposited in the TIF Revenue Fund
upon receipt by the Trustee and will be applied as described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”

See “APPENDIX B — Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues.”
METRO LOUISVILLE REVENUES

Payment of the Metro Revenues by Metro Louisville was originally authorized by Ordinance No.
143, Series 2007, enacted on July 26, 2007, which was amended by Ordinance No. 131, Series 2017,
enacted on August 10, 2017 (collectively, the “Metro Louisville Ordinance”). The Metro Louisville
Ordinance authorized an Amended and Restated Memorandum of Agreement, dated and effective as of
July 30, 2007, between Metro Louisville and the Corporation, which was amended by the Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum of Agreement, effective as of date of delivery of the Bonds
(collectively, the “Metro Contract”). Under the Metro Contract, Metro Louisville has agreed to pay an
annual payment of $10,800,000 to the Corporation on or before November 1 of each year, commencing in
2018 and continuing until the first to occur of (i) September 30 of the year in which the commitment of
the Commonwealth to pay TIF Revenues to the Corporation terminates, (ii) the date of final payment of
the Bonds (or any bonds which refund the Bonds) or (iii) September 30, 2054. The Corporation has
irrevocably assigned its rights in the payments to the Trustee and Metro Louisville has agreed to pay
Metro Revenues directly to the Trustee.

Metro Louisville’s obligation to pay Metro Revenues pursuant to the Metro Contract is not a
general obligation of Metro Louisville and is subject to annual appropriation but is stated in the Metro
Louisville Ordinance to be a long-term monetary obligation of Metro Louisville payable from (i) legally
available revenues, moneys and funds of Metro Louisville and (ii) moneys derived from the imposition of
existing general taxes in the same manner as for payment of other outstanding long-term monetary
obligations of Metro Louisville. In the Metro Contract, Metro Louisville has covenanted that it will
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include the amount of its annual payment in each of its fiscal year budgets for so long as the Series 2017
Bonds are Outstanding.

The Metro Revenues will be remitted by Metro Louisville to the Trustee and deposited in the
Metro Revenue Fund upon receipt by the Trustee and will be applied as described under “SECURITY
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”

THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES
Description of the Arena

The Arena is an approximately 721,000 sq. ft. multi-level facility, including a basketball playing
surface with all customary related items; one additional practice court area; four meeting rooms totaling
approximately 34,000 square feet of space; dedicated locker rooms for the University’s men’s and
women’s basketball program; separate training rooms for men and women; separate offices for men’s
coaches and women’s coaches; visiting team locker rooms, media work, hospitality and interview space;
seating for at least 22,000 persons (including premium seats described below); 176 total number of points
of sale concessions; a 8,750 square foot sports bar overlooking the Ohio River, in addition to other bars; a
2,500 square foot merchandise and gift shop; 72 luxury suites (each with at least 16 seats); approximately
2,054 side-court club seats; approximately 800 mezzanine club seats, 62 loge boxes with 4 seats each; 8
loge boxes with 6 seats each; and 4 party suites with approximately 34 seats each. The Arena also
includes a parking garage with 760 available spaces. The Corporation has entered into agreements with
third parties sufficient to ensure that an additional 12,200 spaces are available within a 10 minute walk of
the Arena during events.

Management and Operations

Naming Rights and Sponsorship Sales Services

The Corporation entered into a Naming Rights, Marketing, Sponsorship Sales Rights and License
Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2008 (the “Marketing Agreement”) with LASEP, LLC (“LASEP”), and
certain other related parties, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 19, 2008, as further
amended by Amendment No. 2 dated as of January 25, 2012, and as further amended by Amendment No.
3 dated as of November 6, 2017 by and among the Corporation, LASEP, Learfield Communications, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation (“LASEP”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Iceberg Ventures, Inc. (“Iceberg,”
and, along with LASEP, “Learfield”), and Team Services, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company
(“Team Services”) (as amended, the “Marketing Agreement”). Under the Marketing Agreement, LASEP
has the exclusive right to market and sell sponsorship opportunities, including interior signage, section
naming rights, vendor revenue, ticket marketing revenue and other promotional rights. LASEP and
Iceberg are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of Learfield. Learfield has irrevocably guaranteed the
obligations of LASEP and Team Services under the Marketing Agreement. Revenues derived from the
Marketing Agreement are Category A Revenues are required to be transferred to the Trustee for deposit in
the Arena Revenue Fund under the Bond Indenture. Information regarding revenues related to the
Marketing Agreement is set forth in “APPENDIX A - Arena Consultant’s Report - Operating Information
Regarding Corporation.”

Under the Marketing Agreement, LASEP pays to the Corporation a guaranteed sponsorship
payment through June 30, 2027. Additionally, as part of the Marketing Agreement, Team Services
entered into an Arena Naming Rights Agreement (the “Naming Rights Agreement”) with Yum! Brands,
Inc. (“Yum!”) dated as of August 12, 2010 and terminating on September 30, 2020 unless earlier
terminated or renewed. Under the Naming Rights Agreement, Yum! pays an annual fee to the
Corporation in exchange for the naming rights to the Arena. Additional information on the Marketing
Agreement and Naming Rights Agreement is set forth in “APPENDIX A — Arena Consultant’s Report —
Operating Information Regarding Corporation.”
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Arena Management

AEG. Headquartered in Los Angeles, California, AEG is the world’s leading sports and live
entertainment company. With offices on five continents, AEG operates in the following business
segments: AEG Facilities, which is affiliated with or owns, manages or consults with more than 150
preeminent arenas, stadiums, theaters, clubs and convention centers around the world including The O2
Arena, the Sprint Center and the Mercedes-Benz Arenas; AEG Presents, which is dedicated to all aspects
of live contemporary music performances, including producing and promoting global and regional
concert tours, music and special events and world-renowned festivals; AEG Real Estate, which develops
world-class venues, as well as major sports and entertainment districts like STAPLES Center and L.A.
LIVE; AEG Sports, which is the world’s largest operator of sports franchises and high-profile sporting
events; and AEG Global Partnerships, which oversees worldwide sales and servicing of sponsorships
including naming rights, premium seating and other strategic partnerships. Through its worldwide
network of venues, portfolio of powerful sports and music brands and its integrated entertainment
districts, AEG entertains more than 100 million guests annually.

AEG Management Louisville, LLC a Delaware limited liability company (“AEG Louisville™),
and as to certain sections of the Management Agreement, Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“AEG, Inc.,” and, together with AEG Louisville, “AEG”), manages the Arena
pursuant to a management agreement (the “Management Agreement”). Under the Management
Agreement, AEG schedules events at the Arena and makes certain fixed and net payments to the
Corporation. Under the Management Agreement AEG receives (i) an inflation-adjusted fixed
management fee in the annual amount of $700,000, paid monthly (the “Fixed Fee”) and (ii) an incentive
fee based on gross operating revenue (the “Incentive Fee” and the Fixed Fee, the “Management Fee”).
AEQG is required to remit operating profit in excess of operating expenses (including the Management
Fee) to the Corporation. The Management Agreement states that a minimum annual payment of
$1,500,000 (the “Minimum Payment”) is anticipated and provides for the annual review and negotiation
in good faith of a mutually acceptable reduced Fixed Fee if the actual payment is less than the Minimum
Payment, or, if the parties are unable to reach agreement on a mutually-acceptable reduction of the Fixed
Fee, termination of the Management Agreement at the option of the Corporation. In three of the past four
years, the level of revenues generated by AEG has exceeded the Minimum Payment.

AEG operates the Arena as a concert and event venue and routinely attracts some of the largest
acts in the world. Since 2010, many recording artists have performed at the Arena, including the Eagles,
Bruno Mars, Neil Diamond, Lady Gaga, Taylor Swift, Rod Stewart, Beyoncé, Justin Timberlake, Garth
Brooks, AC/DC, Jimmy Buffett, Lionel Richie, Red Hot Chili Peppers, Motley Criie, James Taylor, Katy
pPerry, Luke Bryan, Jason Aldean and Rush. In 2014, the Arena was ranked 59th world wide by ticket
sales. The Arena also hosts major events such as the funeral for Louisville-native Muhammad Ali, which
was attended by two former presidents of the United States, among other dignitaries.

Revenues derived from the Management Agreement are Category B Revenues that are received
by the Corporation and deposited in the Corporation’s Operations and Maintenance Account. Information
regarding revenues related to the Management Agreement is set forth in “APPENDIX A - Arena
Consultant’s Report - Operating Information Regarding Corporation.”

Primary Tenant

ULAA. ULAA is a Kentucky not-for-profit corporation organized in 1984 for the purpose of
promoting the intercollegiate athletic activities of the University. ULAA has been determined to be a tax-
exempt organization described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. ULAA’s mission is to provide
quality intercollegiate athletic programs through a comprehensive sports program. ULAA’s audited
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2016 are attached as APPENDIX E.
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Lease Agreement. The Corporation and ULAA have entered into the Lease Agreement with
respect to certain portions of the Arena whereby ULAA is the primary tenant of the Arena, with priority
use by the University’s men’s and women’s basketball programs. The term of the Lease Agreement (the
“Term”) commenced on July 3, 2008, and was amended by the First Amendment to Lease Agreement
dated as of July 20, 2017 to run until the first to occur of (i) the final payment of the Bonds (or any bonds
issued to refund the Bonds), (ii) September 30 of the year in which the State’s contract to pay TIF
Revenues ceases or (iii) September 30, 2054, subject to earlier termination upon an event of default under
the Lease Agreement or extension by mutual agreement. Under the Lease Agreement, ULAA is required
to make an annual payment of $2,420,000 (the “Additional Amount”) on April 30 of each year, in
addition to an annual payment calculated according to a formula contained in the Lease Agreement which
provides for the netting of payments between ULAA and the Corporation (the “Annual Net Payment,”
and together with the Additional Amount, the “ULAA Payments”). The result is that ULAA typically
makes an interim Annual Net Payment by April 30 of each year (which interim Annual Net Payment may
be adjusted with payment thereunder due by no later than June 30). The obligation to make the ULAA
Payments is subordinate to a senior lien securing certain outstanding bonds issued to finance and
refinance Papa John’s Cardinal Stadium, the stadium used by the University’s football team. The senior
lien is subject to an excluded amount, currently $2,000,000 annually, which is available to pay the ULAA
Payments. Revenues from the Lease Agreement are Category B Revenues that are received by the
Corporation and deposited in the Corporation’s Operations and Maintenance Account. See “SECURITY
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Arena Revenues - Other Operating Income and
Other Income (Category B Arena Revenues)” herein for information regarding historical and projected
Category A Arena Revenues and Category B Arena Revenues. Further information regarding revenues
related to the Lease Agreement, including the University of Louisville’s (the “University”) basketball
programs is set forth in “APPENDIX A - Arena Consultant’s Report - Operating Information Regarding
Corporation.”

Concessions and Catering Provider

The Corporation entered into a Concessions and Catering Services Agreement, dated as of June
16, 2008 (the “Concessions Agreement”) with Service America Corporation d/b/a Centerplate
(“Centerplate”). Capitalized terms used with reference to the Concessions Agreement have the meaning
set forth in the Concessions Agreement. Pursuant to the Concessions Agreement, Centerplate has the
exclusive rights: (a) to occupy the Food Service Premises at the Arena; (b) to operate all Food Services
and sell all Food Products for sale at the Arena, with certain exceptions (see “THE ARENA AND
ARENA REVENUES”); and (c) to sell all Merchandise at the Arena facilities, including the gift shop.
The initial term of the Concessions Agreement is in effect through December 31, 2020 unless sooner
terminated pursuant to its terms, and may be extended for two additional five-year periods upon mutual
agreement of the parties as to the terms and conditions. In each Contract Year, Centerplate is required to
pay to the Corporation the greater of: (i) aggregate commissions (“Commissions”) based on the respective
percentages of Adjusted Gross Receipts, as set forth in the Concessions Agreement; or (ii) beginning
January 1, 2011, a guaranteed minimum amount of $2,500,000.

As part of the Concessions Agreement, Centerplate loaned to the Corporation $7,500,000 (the
“Centerplate Loan”), which was used by the Corporation for the development of the Food Services
Premises during the construction of the Arena. The repayment of the Centerplate Loan is subordinated to
the Corporation’s obligations with respect to debt service on the Bonds and is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over 15 years. Centerplate agreed to forgive 1/180th of the Centerplate Loan each
month, beginning with the month when the first event was held at the Arena where tickets were sold to
the public (October 2010). The current principal balance of the Centerplate Loan as of October 1, 2017
is $4,000,000. In the event the Concessions Agreement is terminated by the Corporation for any reason
prior to the full amortization of the Centerplate Loan, the Corporation is required to pay Centerplate an
amount equal to the unamortized amount of the Centerplate Loan, in accordance with the terms set forth
in the Concessions Agreement
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Revenues derived from the Concessions Agreement are Category B Revenues that are received
by the Corporation and deposited in the Corporation’s Operations and Maintenance Account. Information
regarding revenues related to the Concessions Agreement is set forth in “APPENDIX A - Arena
Consultant’s Report - Operating Information Regarding Corporation.”

Historical revenues and future projected revenues constituting Category A Arena Revenues and
Category B Arena Revenues are discussed in Appendix A — Arena Consultant’s Report attached hereto.

PLAN OF FINANCE

The Bonds are being issued by the Issuer, at the request of the Corporation to (i) refund the
Issuer’s outstanding (a) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Series 2008A (Louisville Arena
Authority, Inc.), consisting of Subseries 2008 A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds (the “Subseries 2008A-1 Fixed Rate
Bonds™) and Subseries 2008A-2 Capital Appreciation Bonds (the “Subseries 2008A-2 Capital
Appreciation Bonds”), (b) Louisville Arena Project Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2008B (Louisville
Arena Authority, Inc.) (the “Taxable Series 2008B Bonds”) and (c) Louisville Arena Project Revenue
Bonds, Taxable Subordinate Series 2008C (Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.) (the “Taxable 2008-C
Bonds” and, together with the Subseries 2008A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds, the Subseries 2008A-2 Capital
Appreciation Bonds and the Taxable Series 2008B Bonds, the “Prior Bonds”), previously issued by the
Issuer to finance a portion of the costs of the acquisition, development, construction, and installation of
the Arena; (ii) fund a debt service reserve fund; (iii) provide certain working capital funds, as described
herein; (iv) fund a renovation and replacement fund; and (iv) pay expenses and costs incurred in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

To provide for the refunding of the Prior Bonds, on the date of issuance of the Bonds, certain
proceeds of the Bonds will be deposited with Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, serving as escrow
agent (the “Escrow Agent”) under an Escrow Deposit Agreement with the Issuer, and held in cash or used
to purchase investments permitted by the trust indenture authorizing the Prior Bonds (the “Escrow
Obligations”). The principal of and interest on the Escrow Obligations will be sufficient to pay principal
of and interest on the Prior Bonds, when due, at their respective payment date or dates for prior
redemption or maturity. The Escrow Obligations and the interest earned thereon will not serve as security
or be available for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Prior Bonds and the Prior Bonds will
no longer be deemed outstanding under the trust indenture related to the Prior Bonds. The Subseries
2008A-1 Fixed Rate Bonds maturing on or after December 1, 2018 will be redeemed on June 1, 2018.
All outstanding Taxable Series 2008B Bonds and the Taxable 2008-C Bonds will be redeemed on within
45 days of the date of delivery of the Bonds. The Subseries 2008A-2 Capital Appreciation Bonds are not
subject to redemption prior to maturity.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Series 2017A Series 2017B

Sources: Bonds Bonds Total

Par Amount $202,125,000.00 $175,640,000.00 $377,765,000.00
Net Original Issue Premium 16,677,162.60 0.00 16,677,162.60
Existing Debt Service Reserve Fund 8,705,375.98 7.209.657.92 15.915.,033.90
Total Sources: $227,507,538.58  $182,849,657.92 $410,357,196.50

Uses:
Deposit to Escrow Fund $209,506,474.98  $155,951,816.68 $365,458,291.66
Deposit to Operation and Maintenance Account' 0.00 921,910.00 921,910.00
Deposit to Renovation and Replacement Fund 0.00 12,000,000.00 12,000,000.00
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund 8,343,582.12 7,250,299.38 15,593,881.50
Costs of Issuance’ 9.657.481.48 6,725,631.86 16,383,113.34
Total Uses: $227,507,538.58  $182,849,657.92 $410,357,196.50

"Includes a payment to Kentucky State Fair Board.
% Includes costs of issuance, Underwriter’s discount, bond insurance premium,
cost of debt service reserve surety and cost of liquidity reserve policy

THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be issued in the respective aggregate principal or maturity amounts set forth on
the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The Bonds will be dated the date of issuance and delivery
thereof and will bear interest at the rates and mature on the dates set forth on the inside cover page of this
Official Statement. Interest on the Bonds will be payable each June 1 and December 1, commencing June
1, 2018. The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in denominations of $5,000
or any integral multiple thereof.

The Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, which will act as
the securities depository for the Bonds. Purchasers of the Bonds will not receive certificates representing
their interests in the Bonds purchased. Purchases of the beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in
book-entry only form in authorized denominations by credit to participating broker-dealers and other
institutions on the books of DTC as described herein. Any purchaser of beneficial interests in the Bonds
must maintain an account with a broker or dealer who is, or acts through, a DTC Participant in order to
receive payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Bonds. See “Book-Entry Only
System” attached as APPENDIX H hereto.

Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable in any currency of the
United States of America which, on the respective dates of payment thereof, is legal tender for the
payment of public and private debts. Interest on the Bonds will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day
year and twelve 30-day months. Interest on the Bonds will, except as otherwise provided in the Bond
Indenture, be paid by check of the Trustee mailed to such registered owner at the address of such owner
as it appears on the Bond Register or to any owner of $1,000,000 or more in aggregate principal amount
of such Bonds of a series as of the close of business of the Bond Registrar on the Record Date for a
particular Interest Payment Date, by wire transfer sent on the Interest Payment Date, to such owner.

Defaulted Interest with respect to any Series 2017 Bond will cease to be payable to the holder of
such Series 2017 Bond on the relevant Record Date and will be payable to the holder in whose name such
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Bond is registered at the close of business on the Special Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted
Interest, which Special Record Date will be fixed in the manner set forth in the Bond Indenture. See
APPENDIX F — “Summaries of Certain Bond Documents - Summary of Certain Provisions of the Bond
Indenture — Remedies.”

Redemption

Optional Redemption

Series 20174 Bonds. The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on December 1, 2041 and 2045, are
subject to redemption at the option of the Corporation on or after December 1, 2027 in whole or in part, at
any time (less than all of a single maturity to be selected by lot in such manner as the Trustee may
determine), at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon,
without premium.

The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on December 1, 2047, are subject to redemption at the option
of the Corporation on or after December 1, 2022 in whole or in part, at any time (less than all of a single
maturity to be selected by lot in such manner as the Trustee may determine), at a redemption price equal
to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon, without premium.

Any partial redemption of Series 2017A Bonds will be made in the inverse order of the maturities
or mandatory fund redemptions applicable to the Series 2017A Bonds then Outstanding.

Series 20178 Bonds. The Series 2017B Bonds maturing on or after December 1, 2028 are subject
to redemption at the option of the Corporation on or after December 1, 2027 in whole or in part, at any
time (less than all of a single maturity to be selected by lot in such manner as the Trustee may determine),
at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon, without
premium.

The Series 2017B Bonds maturing on or before December 1, 2027 are subject to optional
redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the Corporation, in whole or in part on any date, at a
redemption price (the “Make-Whole Premium Redemption Price”) equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the
principal amount of the Series 2017B Bonds to be redeemed, or (ii) the sum of the present values of the
remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the Series 2017B Bonds to be redeemed
(exclusive of interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on a
semiannual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Comparable
Treasury Yield (defined below) plus 35 basis points, plus in each case, accrued and unpaid interest on the
Series 2017B Bonds being redeemed to the date fixed for redemption.

For purposes of calculating the Make-Whole Premium Redemption Price with respect to the
optional redemption of the Series 2017B Bonds, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Calculation Agent” means an investment banking institution of national standing that is a
primary dealer of United States government securities in the United States and designated by the
Corporation (which may be one of the institutions that served as an underwriter for the Series 2017B
Bonds), an independent accounting firm or financial advisor.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the
Calculation Agent as having an actual or interpolated maturity comparable to the remaining average life
of the Series 2017B Bond being redeemed that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in
accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of debt securities of comparable
maturity to the remaining average life of the Series 2017B Bond being redeemed.
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“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any date on which a Series 2017B Bond or
portion thereof is being redeemed, either: (a) the average of five Reference Treasury Dealer quotations for
the date fixed for redemption, after excluding the highest and lowest such quotations or (b) if the
Calculation Agent is unable to obtain five such quotations, the average of the quotations that are obtained.
The quotations will be the average, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of the bid and asked prices
for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of principal amount) quoted in
writing to the Calculation Agent, at 5:00 p.m. New York City time at least three business days but no
more than 20 business days preceding the date fixed for redemption.

“Comparable Treasury Yield” means the per annum yield that represents the average of the daily
yields to maturity for the preceding week appearing in the most recently published statistical release
designated “H.15(519) Selected Interest Rates” under the heading “Treasury Constant Maturities, “ or any
successor publication selected by the Calculation Agent that is published weekly by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System and that establishes yields on actively traded United States
Treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity (the “Weekly Average Yield”), for the maturity
corresponding to the remaining average life of the Series 2017B Bond being redeemed. The Comparable
Treasury Yield will be determined at least three business days but no more than 20 business days
preceding the date fixed for redemption. If the H.15(519) statistical release sets forth a Weekly Average
Yield for United States Treasury securities that have a constant maturity that is the same as the remaining
average life of the Series 2017B Bond being redeemed, then the Comparable Treasury Yield will be equal
to such Weekly Average Yield. In all other cases, the Comparable Treasury Yield will be calculated by
interpolation on a straight-line basis, between the Weekly Average Yields on the United States Treasury
securities that have a constant maturity: (i) closest to and greater than the remaining average life of the
Series 2017B Bond being redeemed; and (ii) closest to and less than the remaining average life of the
Series 2017B Bond being redeemed. Any Weekly Average Yields calculated by interpolation will be
rounded to the nearest 1/100th of 1%, with any figure of 1/200th of 1% or above being rounded upward.
If, and only if, Weekly Average Yields for United States Treasury securities for the preceding week are
not available in the H.15(519) statistical release or any successor publication, then the Comparable
Treasury Yield will be the rate of interest per annum equal to the semiannual equivalent yield to maturity
of the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the
Comparable Treasury Price (each as defined herein) as of the date fixed for redemption.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means a primary dealer of United States Government securities in
the United States (which may be one of the institutions that served as underwriters for the Series 2017B
Bonds) appointed by the Corporation and reasonably acceptable to the Calculation Agent.

The selection of Series 2017B Bonds for redemption will be made by the Trustee in accordance
with the Written Instructions of the Corporation.

Mandatory Bond Sinking Fund Redemption of Series 2017A Bonds

The Series 2017A Bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, by
lot, in such manner as the Trustee may determine, at a redemption price of 100% of the par amount plus
interest accrued to the redemption date, on December 1 in the years and in the principal amounts set forth
below:
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Series 2017A Bonds Series 2017A Bonds

Maturing on December 1, 2041 Maturing on December 1, 2045
Year Amount Year Amount
2039 $8,085,000 2042 $21,550,000
2040 19,005,000 2043 23,125,000
2041* 20,250,000 2044 24,790,000
2045%* 26,550,000

* Final maturity

Series 2017A Bonds
Maturing on December 1, 2047

Year Amount
2046 $28.,405,000
2047* 30,365,000

* Final maturity

Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed

If less than all of the Bonds of the same maturity of a series are to be redeemed, the Trustee will
select the Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed by lot in such manner as the Trustee may determine. In
making such selection, the Trustee will treat each Authorized Denomination as one Series 2017 Bond.

Effect of Call for Redemption

On the date designated for redemption, the Bonds so called for redemption will become and be
due and payable at the redemption price provided for redemption of such Bonds on such date. If on the
date fixed for redemption moneys for payment of the redemption price and accrued interest are held by
the Trustee or Paying Agents as provided in the Bond Indenture, interest on such Bonds so called for
redemption will cease to accrue, such Bonds will cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the
Bond Indenture except the right to receive payment from the moneys held by the Trustee or the Paying
Agents and the amount of such Bonds so called for redemption will be deemed paid and no longer
outstanding.

Notice of Redemption

The Trustee will mail, via first class mail, notice of any redemption of Bonds not less than 30 nor
more than 60 days prior to the date set for redemption. If less than all the Bonds are to be redeemed, the
Bonds to be redeemed will be identified by reference to the issue and series designation, date of issue,
serial numbers and maturity dates. The notice will be mailed to each holder of a Bond to be so redeemed
at the address shown on the Bond Register, but failure to receive such notice or any defect therein will not
be a condition precedent to, nor will such failure affect the validity of the proceedings for, the redemption
of any Bond.

If at the time of mailing of notice of any optional redemption there has not been deposited with
the Trustee moneys in an amount sufficient to redeem all the Bonds called for redemption, such notice
will state that it is conditional in that it is subject to the deposit of such moneys with the Trustee not later
than the redemption date, and such notice will be of no effect unless such moneys are so deposited.
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Other Redemption Provisions

In lieu of redeeming Bonds as described above, the Trustee will, at the direction of the
Corporation, use such funds otherwise available under the Bond Indenture for redemption of Bonds to
purchase Bonds in the open market at a price not exceeding the redemption price then applicable under
the Bond Indenture, such Bonds to be delivered to the Trustee for the purpose of cancellation. It is
understood that in the case of any such redemption or purchase of Bonds, the Issuer will receive credit
against its required mandatory sinking fund deposits with respect to such Bonds in the same manner as
would be applicable if such Bonds were optionally redeemed.

The Issuer and, by their acceptance of the Bonds, the Bondholders, irrevocably grant to the
Corporation the option to purchase, at any time and from time to time with the prior written consent of the
Bond Insurer, any Series 2017 Bond which is redeemable pursuant to the Bond Indenture at a purchase
price equal to the redemption price therefor. To exercise such option, the Corporation must give the
Trustee a Written Instruction exercising such option within the time period specified in the Bond
Indenture as though such Written Instruction were a Written Instruction of the Issuer for redemption, and
the Trustee will thereupon give the owners of the Bonds to be purchased notice of such purchase in the
manner as though such purchase were a redemption and the purchase of such Bonds will be mandatory
and enforceable against the Bondholders. On the date fixed for purchase pursuant to any exercise of such
option, the Corporation will pay the purchase price of the Bonds then being purchased to the Trustee in
immediately available funds, and the Trustee will pay the same to the sellers of such Bonds against
delivery thereof. Following such purchase, the Trustee will cause such Bonds to be registered in the
name of the Corporation or its nominee and will deliver them to the Corporation or its nominee. In the
case of the purchase of less than all of the Bonds, the particular Bonds to be purchased will be selected in
accordance with the provisions of the Bond Indenture as though such purchase were a redemption. No
purchase of Bonds as described in this paragraph will operate to extinguish the indebtedness of the Issuer
evidenced thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no purchase of Series 2017A Bonds will be made
pursuant to the provisions as described in this paragraph unless the Corporation has delivered to the
Trustee, the Bond Insurer and the Issuer, concurrently therewith, an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the
effect that such purchase will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Series 2017A Bonds
from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Book-Entry Only System

The Bonds initially will be issued solely in book entry form to be held in the book entry only
system maintained by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). So long as such
book entry only system is used, only DTC will receive or have the right to receive physical delivery of
Bonds and Beneficial Owners will not be or be considered to be, and will not have any rights as, owners
or holders of the Bonds under the Bond Indenture. For additional information about DTC and the book
entry only system, see EXHIBIT H—- BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be special and limited obligations of the Issuer and, except to the extent
payable from the proceeds of the Bonds or moneys derived from the investment thereof, will be
payable solely from, and secured by, the payments to be made by or on behalf of the Corporation
under the Loan Agreement. Neither the principal of, nor premium, if any, on the Bonds, nor the
interest accruing thereon, shall ever constitute an indebtedness of the Issuer, the Commonwealth of
Kentucky or any agency or political subdivision thereof, including Metro Louisville, within the
meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision whatsoever or, except as to the limited sources
of payment described herein, shall ever constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Issuer.
The Bonds will neither constitute nor give rise to a general obligation or liability of, or a charge
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against, the general credit of the Issuer, the Commonwealth of Kentucky or any agency or political
subdivision thereof, including Metro Louisville, or a charge against the general credit or taxing
powers of the Issuer, the Commonwealth of Kentucky or any agency or political subdivision
thereof, including Metro Louisville. The Issuer has no taxing power.

The amounts payable by the State under the TIF Agreement and the amounts payable by Metro
Louisville under the Metro Contract will be paid directly to the Trustee and deposited in the TIF Revenue
Fund and the Metro Revenue Fund, respectively, as described below. The Issuer’s rights and interests
under the Loan Agreement are assigned to the Trustee under the Bond Indenture and amounts payable to
the Corporation under the Loan Agreement will be deposited in the Arena Revenue Fund as described
below. The TIF Revenues, the Metro Revenues and Arena Revenues are collectively referred to herein as
the “Revenues.” See APPENDIX F — “Summaries of Certain Bond Documents — Summaries of Certain
Provisions of the Bond Indenture and Summaries of Certain Provisions of the Loan Agreement.”

Under the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement, all Revenues are pledged as security for the
repayment of Outstanding Bonds. Once deposited in the various funds and accounts created by the Bond
Indenture and the Loan Agreement, Revenues are permitted to be used solely to pay the costs of Arena
operations, maintenance and capital improvements and the payment of the principal of] interest and any
premium on Outstanding Bonds. To the extent Revenues are not required or permitted by the Loan
Agreement and the Bond Indenture to pay the costs of Arena operations, maintenance, capital
improvements or to pay debt service, the Revenues must be held under the Bond Indenture and applied to
the redemption of Outstanding Bonds, all as further described under this heading.

Tax Increment Payments

The State will pay TIF Revenues under the TIF Contract in accordance with the requirements of
the TIF Act. TIF Revenues will be paid directly to the Trustee and deposited in the TIF Revenue Fund.
Under the TIF Contract, the State is obligated to pay to the Trustee the amount payable as TIF Revenues
(the “Increment”) on the later of (i) September 30 of each calendar year, or (ii) 90 days after the
Corporation submits a request for payment of the Increment, for successive calendar years continuing
automatically until the earliest of (A) the date no Bonds are Outstanding, (B) December 31, 2054, or (C)
upon election by the State to terminate the TIF Contract at the end of any calendar year (upon 60 days’
prior written notice). The State cannot terminate the TIF Contract so long as any Bonds are Outstanding
without the Trustee’s prior written consent. TIF Revenues primarily will be derived from incremental
State sales taxes and State property tax derived from the TIF District. The TIF Contract and the TIF
Revenues have been irrevocably assigned to the Trustee. See “THE TIF DISTRICT AND TIF
REVENUES” and APPENDIX B — “Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues.”

On or before the third Business Day preceding December 1 of each year for (i) through (v) below
and on or before the third Business Day preceding June 1 of each year for (i) through (vi) below, before
making any transfers from the Metro Revenue Fund and the Arena Revenue Fund described below,
moneys on deposit in the TIF Revenue Fund will be applied in the following order of priority:

(1) First, in the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund (in that
order) moneys up to the amount required to pay (1) the interest on and principal (by maturity or
mandatory Senior Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Senior Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable; (2) any Reimbursement Obligation due to the
Bond Insurer on account of any payment under the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy by the
Bond Insurer and (3) any Annual Premium Obligations due to the Bond Insurer in connection
with the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy; provided, however, that if the moneys available shall
be insufficient to pay in full any particular installment or amount to be due as set out above, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such date;
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(i1) Second, in the Senior Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required
(1) to restore the amount in the Senior Reserve Fund to the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement;
and (2) to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment
under the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety by the Bond Insurer;

(i)  Third, deposit in the Liquidity Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount required
to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment made
under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy provided by the Bond Insurer;

(iv) Fourth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, deposit in the
Subordinate Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund (in that order) moneys up to
the amount, if any, required to pay interest on and principal (by maturity or mandatory
Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Subordinate Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable;

) Fifth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund to the Subordinate Reserve Fund Requirement; and

(vi) Sixth, deposit the remaining moneys, if any, in the Excess Net Cash Flow TIF
Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (occurs on June 1 only, TIF Revenues
remaining on December 1 after the deposits in (i) through (v) above will be retained in the TIF
Revenue Fund until the following June 1).

Metro Louisville Payments

Under the Metro Contract, Metro Louisville will pay $10,800,000 (“Metro Revenues”) to the
Trustee no later than November 1 of each year. Metro Revenues will be paid directly to the Trustee and
deposited in the Metro Revenue Fund. The Metro Contract and the Metro Revenues have been
irrevocably assigned to the Trustee. See “THE PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS - Metro Louisville.” Metro
Louisville’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016 is attached
hereto as APPENDIX D.

On or before the third Business Day preceding December 1 of each year for (i) through (v) below
and on or before the third Business Day preceding June 1 of each year for (i) through (vi) below, after
making transfers from the TIF Revenue Fund described above, but before making any transfers from the
Arena Revenue Fund described below, moneys on deposit in the Metro Revenue Fund will be applied in
the following order of priority:

1) First, in the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund (in that
order) moneys up to the amount required to pay (1) the interest on and principal (by maturity or
mandatory Senior Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Senior Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable; (2) any Reimbursement Obligation due to the
Bond Insurer on account of any payment under the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy by the
Bond Insurer and (3) any Annual Premium Obligations due to the Bond Insurer in connection
with the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy; provided, however, that if the moneys available shall
be insufficient to pay in full any particular installment or amount to be due as set out above, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such date;

(i1) Second, in the Senior Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required
(1) to restore the amount in the Senior Reserve Fund to the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement;
and (2) any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment under
the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety by the Bond Insurer;
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(ii1) Third, deposit in the Liquidity Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount required
to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment made
under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy provided by the Bond Insurer;

(iv) Fourth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, deposit in the
Subordinate Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund (in that order) moneys up to
the amount, if any, required to pay interest on and principal (by maturity or mandatory
Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Subordinate Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable;

) Fifth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund to the Subordinate Reserve Fund Requirement; and

(vi) Sixth, deposit the remaining moneys, if any, in the Excess Net Cash Flow Metro
Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (occurs on June 1 only, Metro Revenues
remaining on December 1 after the deposits in (i) through (v) will be retained in the Metro
Revenue Fund until the following June 1) .

Arena Revenues

Pledge and Deposit of Arena Revenues

Pledge of Arena Revenues. To secure the prompt payment by the Corporation of its payment
obligations under the Loan Agreement and the performance by the Corporation of its other obligations
thereunder, the Corporation has pledged and granted a continuing security interest in and assigned to the
Issuer the Arena Revenues, which are comprised of Category A Arena Revenues and Category B Arena
Revenues.

“Category A Arena Revenues” means all revenues (as determined by the cash basis of
accounting) of the Corporation (less amounts actually distributed under revenue sharing agreements)
derived from the ownership, use, or operation of the Arena and received generally on an annual basis
from contractually obligated third parties for such services as naming rights, external and internal, annual
advertising revenues, revenues received from corporate and other sponsorship rights, such as exclusive
use of suites, including lounges, preferential seating, mezzanine and terrace preferential seating, annual
sponsorship rights, and similar revenue streams generally expected to be received on an annual basis, all
exclusive of Category B Arena Revenues, TIF Revenues, Metro Revenues, grants, gifts, and bequests that
are restricted to specific purposes, including capital construction or acquisition or an endowment or
capital reserve fund, and interest income required to be applied as set out in the Bond Indenture. By way
of example, Category A Arena Revenues include receipts of payments for (i) corporate sponsorship
rights; (i1) naming rights; and (iii) premium seating (suites, loge boxes, and certain club seats).

“Category B Arena Revenues” means all revenues (as determined by the cash basis of
accounting) of the Corporation (less amounts actually distributed under revenue sharing agreements)
derived from the ownership, use or operation of the Arena and not constituting Category A Arena
Revenues and received periodically during the year from payments by ULAA under the Lease
Agreement, rentals and ticket sales, ticket fee surcharges, concessions, catering, restaurant, and other
commercial leases, payments by the Manager under the Management Agreement, and similar revenues
expected to be received from time to time during the year, all exclusive of Category A Arena Revenues,
TIF Revenues, Metro Revenues, grants, gifts, and bequests that are restricted to specific purposes,
including capital construction or acquisition or an endowment or capital reserve fund, and interest income
required to be applied as set out in the Bond Indenture. Category B Revenues include ULAA Payments
described below. Certain revenues generated at the Arena are governed by the Management Agreement
and do not become Arena Revenues until paid to the Corporation in accordance with the Management
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Agreement. See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES - Management and Operations - Arena
Management.”

Deposit of Arena Revenues. Under the Loan Agreement, (i) Category A Arena Revenues are
required to be transferred to the Trustee by the Corporation upon receipt and (ii) Category B Arena
Revenues are required to be deposited in the Corporation’s Operations and Maintenance Account under
the Loan Agreement, to be available to the Corporation for costs of operation and maintenance of the
Arena. On or before May 15 and November 15 of each year the Corporation is required to transfer to the
Trustee the Category B Arena Revenues then on deposit in the Operations and Maintenance Account that
exceed the Minimum Operating Cash Balance.

“Minimum Operating Cash Balance” means, for purposes of determining the amount to be
retained in the Operation and Maintenance Account (and excluded from transfer to the Arena Revenue
Fund) on any May 15 and November 15, an amount equal to (i) the Corporation’s estimate of Operating
Expenses for the six month period that begins on the following December 1 or June 1, as applicable, plus
(i1) one-quarter of the Corporation’s annual budgeted Operating Expenses for the then current Fiscal Year
as described in the Annual Budget for such Fiscal Year plus an amount equal to any extraordinary
Operating Expenses that are required to be paid during such period (to the extent such amounts are
excluded from the budgeted amounts under clause (i)).

“Operating Expenses” means actual, reasonable and customary costs, fees and expenses of the
Corporation directly attributable to the Arena, including labor costs, salaries, general and administrative
expenses, painting, cleaning, maintenance, repairs, and alterations; landscaping and paving; waste
removal; certificates, permits and licenses; utilities charges; real and personal property taxes and
assessments, if any; insurance premiums; security; advertising, promotion and publicity; office, janitorial,
cleaning and building supplies; purchase, repair, servicing and installation of appliances, equipment,
fixtures and furnishings; management fees and expenses, including those payable to the Manager under
the Management Agreement; fees and expenses of accountants, attorneys, consultants and other
professionals; and sums required to be paid to ULAA under the ULAA Contract and all sums required to
be paid under other Operating Agreements, to the extent such sums are not deducted in determining
Arena Revenues. Operating Expenses excludes (i) moneys needed to pay debt service for any Bonds or
other obligations issued pursuant to the Bond Indenture or any Supplemental Bond Indenture; and (ii) the
projected costs of extraordinary maintenance and repairs (other than and in addition to routine
maintenance and repairs included as Operating Expenses in the Corporation’s Annual Budgets).

ULAA Payments. A portion of the Category B Arena Revenues will be derived from payments
received from ULAA under the Lease Agreement. ULAA Payments are subordinate to a senior lien
securing certain outstanding bonds issued to finance and refinance Papa John’s Cardinal Stadium, the
stadium used by the University’s football team. The senior lien is subject to an excluded amount,
currently $2,000,000 annually, which is available to pay amounts owed by ULAA to the Corporation
under the Lease Agreement (the “ULAA Payments”). The ULAA Payments consist of (i) certain annual
net payments based on revenues generated by University and ULAA related events and (ii) an Additional
Amount of $2,420,000, commencing with the estimated annual net payment due in April 2018.

Under the Lease Agreement, “Annual Net Payments” are determined through a calculation of
landlord payables and tenant payables. An estimate of the Annual Net Payment is calculated mutually by
the Corporation and ULAA not later than April 20 of each year and is based on all available information
regarding landlord payables and tenant payables accrued through the date of calculation. Within 10 days
after the date on which the Corporation and ULAA have mutually determined the landlord payables and
tenant payables, but not later than April 30, the Corporation or ULAA, as the case may be, will pay to the
other party the amount of the estimated Annual Net Payment. The Corporation and ULAA make a final
calculation of the Annual Net Payment not later than June 30 of each year and, to the extent there is a
difference between the estimated Annual Net Payment and the final calculation of the Annual Net
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Payment, the party that owes an amount to the other party shall pay such amount to the other party on or
before June 30.

The gross revenues of ULAA are pledged on a senior lien basis to secure general receipts
obligations issued from time to time by the University, of which there is presently $227,275,000 in
aggregate principal amount outstanding. Such pledge is superior to ULAA’s obligations with respect to
the amounts owed to the Corporation under the Lease Agreement, except that the portion of such moneys
or revenues that is equal to the Excluded Amount is excluded from such superior pledge for the express
purpose of enabling ULAA to make payment of the amounts owed to the Corporation under the Lease
Agreement. ULAA may not pledge the Excluded Amount for any other purpose except on a basis that is
subordinate to ULAA’s obligations with respect to the amounts owed to the Corporation under the Lease
Agreement.

See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES” and APPENDIX A — Arena Consultant’s
Report - Operating Information Regarding Corporation. The Corporation’s Audited Financial Statements
for the Year ended December 31, 2016, together with Unaudited Financial Information for the Period
Ended September 30, 2017 is attached as APPENDIX C. See also, THE PRINCIPAL PARTICIPANTS —
ULAA” and APPENDIX E — Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, ULAA for Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2016.

Application of Amounts in the Arena Revenue Fund

On or before the third Business Day preceding December 1 of each year for (i) through (v) below
and on or before the third Business Day preceding June 1 of each year for (i) through (vi) below, after
making transfers from the TIF Revenue Fund and the Metro Revenue Fund described above, moneys on
deposit in the Arena Revenue Fund, will be applied in the following order of priority:

(1) First, in the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund (in that
order) moneys up to the amount required to pay (1) the interest on and principal (by maturity or
mandatory Senior Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Senior Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable; (2) any Reimbursement Obligation due to the
Bond Insurer on account of any payment under the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy by the
Bond Insurer and (3) any Annual Premium Obligations due to the Bond Insurer in connection
with the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy; provided, however, that if the moneys available shall
be insufficient to pay in full any particular installment or amount to be due as set out above, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such date;

(i1) Second, in the Senior Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required
(1) to restore the amount in the Senior Reserve Fund to the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement;
and (2) any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment under
the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety by the Bond Insurer;

(iii)  Third, deposit in the Liquidity Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount required
to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment made
under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy provided by the Bond Insurer;

(iv) Fourth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, deposit in the
Subordinate Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund (in that order) moneys up to
the amount, if any, required to pay interest on and principal (by maturity or mandatory
Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund redemption) of the Subordinate Bonds due on the immediately
succeeding December 1 or June 1, as applicable;
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) Fifth, if any Subordinate Bond is then issued and Outstanding, in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund moneys up to the amount, if any, required to restore the amount in the Subordinate
Reserve Fund to the Subordinate Reserve Fund Requirement; and

(vi) Sixth, deposit the remaining moneys, if any, in the Excess Net Cash Flow Arena
Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (occurs on June 1 only, Arena Revenues
remaining on December 1 after the deposits in (i) through (v) will be retained in the Arena
Revenue Fund until the following June 1) .

The Bond Indenture establishes an Advance Payments Account within the Arena Revenue Fund
into which there will be deposited any Category A Arena Revenues that constitute a prepayment by an
obligor for any period extending twelve months beyond the receipt of such payment (“Advance
Payments™). Any such Advance Payments shall be allocated by the Corporation and applied by the Bond
Trustee among the Fiscal Years set out in Written Instructions from the Corporation to transfer moneys
from the Advance Payments Account to the Arena Revenue Fund on or before the applicable July 1.
Moneys on deposit in the Advance Payments Account will not be available for any purpose before the
Fiscal Year in which they are allocated by the Corporation.

After the foregoing transfers have been made, to the extent the amount in the Operations and
Maintenance Account is less than the Minimum Cash Operating Balance on such date, the Corporation
may, with the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer, instruct the Trustee to transfer from the Arena
Revenue Fund an amount sufficient to restore the balance in the Operations and Maintenance Account to
the Minimum Operating Cash Balance (see “Funds and Accounts” below).

Mortgage

The Corporation will deliver the Mortgage to the Trustee providing a mortgage lien on the Arena.
Under the Mortgage, the parties recognize and agree to the stipulation in the Lease Agreement that so
long as it is in effect and ULAA is not in default thereunder, (i) ULAA’s occupancy of the Leased
Premises (as defined in the Lease Agreement) and its rights and privileges under the Lease Agreement
will not be disturbed during the term of the Lease Agreement and the Lease Agreement will continue in
full force and effect and will not be terminated except in accordance with terms thereof and (ii) if the
Trustee acquires title to the Arena in a foreclosure or other action under the Mortgage, before the Trustee
may solicit or consider any unsolicited offers to the purchase the Arena, (a) ULAA will have a 90-day
period after the date on which the Trustee acquires title to give notice to the Trustee that it will purchase
the Arena at the price sufficient to retire or provide for the retirement of all outstanding Bonds and
sufficient to pay in full all Reimbursement Obligations and (b) if ULAA does not give such notice within
such 90-day period, and the Trustee thereafter receives a bona fide offer to purchase the Arena, ULAA
will have a period of 90 days after receipt of the offer to give notice to the Trustee that it will purchase the
Arena on the terms and at the price set forth in the offer. In either event, the purchase of the Arena will be
closed as soon as practicable but in no event later than 180 days after the date of ULAA’s notice.

Liens on the Project Property

The Corporation is required to keep the Arena and all parts thereof free from judgments,
mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens and free from all liens, claims, demands, and encumbrances of
whatsoever prior nature or character, except for Permitted Encumbrances, to the end that the priority of
the lien of the Bond Indenture may at all times be maintained and preserved, and free from any claim or
liability which, in the Trustee’s judgment (and its determination thereof will be final), might embarrass or
hamper the Corporation in conducting its business or operating the Arena, and the Trustee at its option
(after first giving the Corporation ten days’ written notice to comply therewith and failure of the
Corporation to so comply within said ten-day period) may (but will not be obligated to) defend against
any and all actions or proceedings in which the validity of the Bond Indenture or its priority is or might be
questioned, or pay or compromise any claim or demand asserted in any such actions or proceedings;
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provided, however, that, in defending against such actions or proceedings or in paying or compromising
such claims or demands, the Trustee will not in any event be deemed to have waived or released the
Corporation from liability for or on account of any of its covenants and warranties contained in the
Indenture, or from its liability under the Indenture to defend the validity or priority of the Bond Indenture
and the lien thereof and to perform such covenants and warranties.

So long as any Bonds are Outstanding, except for Permitted Encumbrances, the Corporation will
not create or suffer to be created any mortgage, pledge, lien, or charge upon all or any part of the Trust
Estate under the Bond Indenture or the Arena.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (i) undetermined liens and charges incident to construction or
maintenance, and liens and charges incident to construction or maintenance filed of record which are
being contested in good faith and have not proceeded to final judgment (and for which all applicable
periods for appeal or review have not expired), provided that the Corporation shall have set aside reserves
with respect thereto which, in an Officer’s Certificate of the Corporation filed with the Trustee, are
certified to be adequate; (ii) notices of lis pendens or other notices of or liens with respect to pending
actions which are being contested in good faith and have not proceeded to final judgment (and for which
all applicable periods for appeal or review have not expired), provided the Corporation shall have set
aside reserves with respect thereto which, in an Officer’s Certificate of the Corporation filed with the
Trustee, are adequate; (iii) the lien for taxes and assessments, either not yet due or being diligently
contested in good faith, provided (a) that the Corporation shall have set aside reserves with respect thereto
which, in an Officer’s Certificate of the Corporation filed with the Trustee, are certified to be adequate,
and (b) that non-payment of such taxes and assessments do not involve any material danger of the sale,
forfeiture or loss of the Arena or any collateral for the Bonds under the Loan Agreement or any material
part or portion thereof or any interest therein; (iv) minor defects and irregularities in title which in the
aggregate do not materially adversely affect the value or operation of the property to which such
encumbrance relates for the purposes for which it is or may reasonably be expected to be used; (v) any
easements, servitudes or land charges or similar rights of a kind customarily given by owners of property
of the type in the ordinary course of business which, individually or in the aggregate do not have a
material adverse effect on the value, utility, residual value or useful life of the Arena or any material
portion thereof immediately before such lien and which do not involve a material danger of the sale,
forfeiture, loss or restriction on use of any material portion of the Arena; (vi) zoning laws and ordinances;
(vii) the rights of the Authority and the Trustee under the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture and
the rights of the Trustee under the Assignments; (viii) liens securing the indebtedness for the payment,
redemption or satisfaction of which money (or evidences of indebtedness) in the necessary amount shall
have been irrevocably deposited in trust with a trustee or other holder of such indebtedness; (ix) security
interests granted pursuant to equipment leases or installment purchases in the ordinary course of business,
provided that the aggregate amount secured by such security interest shall not at any time exceed the
amount permitted under the Loan Agreement; (x) statutory liens arising in the ordinary course of business
securing obligations that are not overdue for a period of more than sixty days or are being diligently
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings so long as such proceedings do not involve any
material danger of the sale, forfeiture, loss or restriction on use of the Arena or any material portion
thereof or any collateral for the Bonds or any material part or portion thereof or any interest therein; (xi)
liens, encumbrances, or other matters listed in the Title Documents; (xii) the Operating Agreements and
any license or granting of other temporary right in the Arena in its business or commercial activities,
function, or development; provided that any such license or temporary right will not interfere with the
ownership or operation of the Arena; (xiii) the Mortgage and Security Agreement; (xiv) any other liens
permitted by the Bond Insurer; and (xv) any other liens permitted by the Bond Insurer.
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Funds and Accounts

Pledge of Funds

All of the Funds held by the Trustee under the Bond Indenture, are pledged to secure the Bonds.
Amounts in the Redemption Fund may be pledged only to the payment of the principal of or interest on
certain Bonds that have been called for redemption. The Operations and Maintenance Account
established under the Loan Agreement is held by the Corporation and is pledged to secure the Bonds.

Debt Service Funds

The Bond Indenture creates the Senior Interest Fund, the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, the
Subordinate Interest Fund and the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund (the “Debt Service Funds”). Amounts
deposited in the Debt Service Funds will be applied to the payment of interest on the Senior Bonds,
principal of the Senior Bonds, interest on the Subordinate Bonds, if any, and principal of the Subordinate
Bonds, if any, respectively, to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of
any payment of the interest on and principal of the Bonds, or to pay any Annual Premium Obligations due
to the Bond Insurer in connection with the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy. No Subordinate Bonds
are currently Outstanding and the Corporation has no current plans to request that any Subordinate Bonds
be issued.

Amounts will be deposited in the Debt Service Funds from the TIF Revenue Fund, the Metro
Revenue Fund and the Arena Revenue Fund (the “Revenue Funds”), in that order, on the third Business
Day preceding each December 1 and June 1, as described above. If moneys transferred from the Revenue
Funds to the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund are not sufficient to pay debt service
on the succeeding December 1 or June 1, then amounts will be transferred to the applicable Debt Service
Fund from other Funds and Accounts or the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy in the following order
of priority: (i) TIF Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow TIF Revenue Account, (ii) the Metro
Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow, (iii) Arena Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash
Flow Fund, (iv) the Metro Revenue Account of the Renovation and Replacement Fund (to the extent not
contractually committed), (v) the Arena Revenue Account of the Renovation and Replacement Fund (to
the extent not contractually committed), (vi) the Subordinate Interest Fund, (vii) the Subordinate Bond
Sinking Fund, (viii) the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy, (ix) the Operation and Maintenance
Account, and (x) the Senior Reserve Fund.

Liquidity Reserve Fund

The Bond Indenture creates the Liquidity Reserve Fund. The Bond Trustee will receive and hold
the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy for the credit of the Liquidity Reserve Fund. The Series 2017
Liquidity Reserve Policy is a municipal bond debt service reserve policy (liquidity reserve) issued by the
Bond Insurer, to be used solely to pay scheduled payments of principal and interest due on the Senior
Bonds. Unless extended by the mutual agreement of the Authority, the Corporation, and the Bond Insurer,
the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy shall terminate in accordance with its terms effective December
1, 2024. The maximum amount that may be drawn under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy is $10
million.

Deposits will be made to the Liquidity Reserve Fund from the Revenue Funds, as described
above, to pay any Reimbursement Obligation due to the Bond Insurer on account of any payment made
under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy.

Senior Reserve Fund

The Bond Indenture creates the Senior Reserve Fund. A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds,
together with the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety, in the aggregate equal to the amount of the
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Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, will be deposited in the Senior Reserve Fund. Thereafter, the Trustee
will deposit to the Senior Reserve Fund from time to time amounts required to be deposited therein
pursuant to the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement from the Revenue Funds, the Excess Net Cash
Flow Fund, the Renovation and Replacement Fund and the Operation and Maintenance Account. No
deposits will be made to the Senior Reserve Fund when the Senior Reserve Fund Value equals or exceeds
the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement. When moneys in the Senior Interest Fund and Senior Bond
Sinking Fund are insufficient to pay debt service on Senior Bonds when due, moneys in the Senior
Reserve Fund will be transferred to the applicable Fund, but only after transfers from other Funds and
Accounts, as described under “Debt Service Funds,” above.

“Senior Reserve Fund Requirement” means as to the Senior Bonds the least of (i) the maximum
annual debt service on all Senior Bonds Outstanding; (ii) an amount equal to 10% of the proceeds of the
Senior Bonds within the meaning of Code Section 148(d); and (iii) an amount equal to 125% of the
average annual debt service on all Senior Bonds Outstanding. In calculating annual debt service on the
Senior Bonds for the purpose of determining the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, the interest rates
applicable to the Senior Bonds Outstanding at the time of the calculation shall be used.

On each December 1, amounts and investments on deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund will be
valued at cost if maturity is one year or less and valued by the Trustee at fair market value if maturity is
longer than one year. If upon such valuation it is determined that the Senior Reserve Fund Value is less
than the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, the Trustee will notify the Corporation and the Bond Insurer
of the amount of the deficiency. The Loan Agreement requires the deposit, within 15 days following the
date the Corporation receives notice of such deficiency, of the amount needed to restore the amount in the
Senior Reserve Fund to the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement. If the Senior Reserve Fund Value on any
such valuation date is more than the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement, the amount of such excess may
be transferred to the Senior Interest Fund.

Except for such excess amounts, moneys on deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund will be used only
to make up any deficiencies in the Senior Interest Fund and Senior Bond Sinking Fund (in that order);
provided, however, that in connection with any partial redemption or provision for payment prior to
maturity of any Senior Bonds secured by the Senior Reserve Fund, the Trustee will, at the Written
Instruction of the Corporation, use any amounts on deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund which will be in
excess of the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement after such redemption or provision for payment to pay or
provide for the payment of the principal of or the principal portion of the redemption price of the Senior
Bonds then being redeemed.

In lieu of maintaining and depositing moneys in the Senior Reserve Fund as described above, the
Corporation may, with the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer, deposit with the Trustee a letter of
credit from a bank with a credit rating in one of the three highest rating categories of each Rating Agency
rating the Bonds which are entitled to the benefits of the Senior Reserve Fund (the “Senior Reserve Fund
Credit Facility’). Any such Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility will permit the Trustee to draw amounts
thereunder for deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund which, together with any moneys on deposit in, or
Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety available to fund (as described in the following paragraph), the
Senior Reserve Fund, are not less than the Senior Reserve Fund Requirement and which may be applied
to any purpose for which moneys in the Senior Reserve Fund may be applied. The Trustee will make a
drawing on such Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility whenever moneys are required for the purposes for
which Senior Reserve Fund moneys may be applied. The Corporation agrees in the Loan Agreement to
reimburse the bank that has issued the Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility the amount drawn thereon
when due under the terms of any Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility.

In lieu of maintaining and depositing moneys in the Senior Reserve Fund, the Corporation may
also, with the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer, maintain in effect an irrevocable surety bond
policy issued by a bond insurance company with a credit rating in one of the three highest rating
categories of each Rating Agency rating the Bonds which are entitled to the benefits of the Senior
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Reserve Fund (the “Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety”). The Senior Reserve Fund Insurance
Policy constitutes a Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety. Any such Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund
Surety will permit the Trustee to obtain amounts thereunder for deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund
which, together with any moneys on deposit in, or Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility available to fund
(as provided in the preceding paragraph), the Senior Reserve Fund, are not less than the Senior Reserve
Fund Requirement and which may be applied to any purpose for which moneys in the Senior Reserve
Fund may be applied. The Trustee will make a drawing on such Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety
(a) whenever moneys are required for the purposes for which Senior Reserve Fund moneys may be
applied, and (b) prior to any expiration or termination thereof; provided, however, that no such drawing
need be made if other moneys are available in the Senior Reserve Fund in the amount of the Senior
Reserve Fund Requirement. The Corporation agrees in the Loan Agreement to reimburse the provider of
the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety the amount drawn thereon when due under the terms of the
Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety.

If the Corporation elects to deposit a letter of credit or a surety bond in the Senior Reserve Fund
in lieu of the moneys on deposit therein, the Trustee will transfer such moneys as directed by the
Corporation, subject to receipt of an approving Opinion of Bond Counsel.

A Draw on any Senior Reserve Fund Credit Facility or Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety
will not be made until all other amounts on deposit in the Senior Reserve Fund have been exhausted.

Excess Net Cash Flow Fund

The Bond Indenture creates the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund and a TIF Revenue Account, a
Metro Revenue Account and an Arena Revenue Account therein. Amounts will be deposited into the
Excess Net Cash Flow Fund from the Revenue Accounts as described above.

On each November 1, beginning on (and including) November 1, 2018, the Corporation may
request the Bond Trustee to transfer moneys from the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund to the Renovation and
Replacement Fund in an amount up to the then applicable Maximum Annual Renovation and
Replacement Deposit. Amounts transferred are required to first be transferred from the Metro Revenue
Account and then from the Arena Revenue Account. No transfers from the TIF Revenue Account of the
Excess Net Cash Flow Fund to the Renovation and Replacement Fund are permitted.

In addition, amounts in the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund may be transferred to the Senior Interest
Fund, the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, the Senior Reserve Fund, the Subordinate Interest Fund, the
Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund and the Subordinate Reserve Fund (in that order) to make up deficiencies
therein. Amounts transferred are required to first be transferred from the TIF Revenue Account, then from
the Metro Revenue Account and then from the Arena Revenue Account.

Amounts in the Arena Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund (consisting of
Category A Arena Revenues and Category B Arena Revenues transferred from the Corporation’s
Operation and Maintenance Account) may also be transferred to the Corporation for deposit in the
Operation and Maintenance Account, upon the Written Instruction of the Corporation, so that an amount
equal to the Minimum Operating Cash Balance will then be on deposit in the Operation and Maintenance
Account. Any such transfer shall only be made if there is not a sufficient amount in the Arena Revenue
Fund to make the requested transfer, as described above under “Application of Amounts in the Arena
Revenue Fund.”

Under the Loan Agreement, the Corporation is required to provide the Bond Trustee a certified
copy of the Capital Projects and Bond Oversight Committee (“CPBOB”) Report which is required to be
submitted by the Corporation to the CPBOC on or before each November 1. After making the required
deposits and transfers described above from the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund and paying all
Reimbursement Obligations and Annual Premium Obligations, the Corporation may direct the Bond
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Trustee to transfer to the Redemption Fund from the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund, the moneys required
for the redemption or purchase of Bonds then Outstanding, in accordance with such CPBOC Report,
subject to the requirements of the Bond Indenture regarding the redemption of Bonds.

Renovation and Replacement Fund

The Bond Indenture creates the Renovation and Replacement Fund and a Metro Revenue
Account and an Arena Revenue Account therein. Amounts will not be deposited into the accounts of the
Renovation and Replacement Fund from the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund, as described above. The
purpose of the Renovation and Replacement Fund is to provide reasonable reserves for renovations,
renewals, replacements, improvements, additions, extraordinary repairs and contingencies in the operation
of the Project. Moneys held within the Renovation and Replacement Fund may be disbursed by the
Trustee upon submission of a Written Instruction by the Corporation and, if from the Metro Revenue
Account, the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer. The Trustee will first disburse such moneys from
the Metro Revenue Account (if consent is given) and then from the Arena Revenue Account.

In addition, amounts in the Renovation and Replacement Fund may be transferred to the Senior
Interest Fund, the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, the Senior Reserve Fund, the Subordinate Interest Fund, the
Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund and the Subordinate Reserve Fund (in that order). Amounts transferred
are required to be transferred first from the Metro Account of the Renovation and Replacement Fund and
then from the Arena Revenue Account of the Renovation and Replacement Fund.

Amounts in the Arena Revenue Account of the Renovation and Replacement Fund may also be
transferred to the Corporation for deposit in the Operation and Maintenance Account, upon the Written
Instruction of the Corporation and with the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer, so that an amount
equal to the Minimum Operating Cash Balance will then be on deposit in the Operation and Maintenance
Account. Any such transfer shall only be made if there are not sufficient amounts in (i) the Arena
Revenue Fund and (ii) in the Arena Revenue Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund to make the
requested transfer, as described above under “Excess Net Cash Flow Fund” and “Application of Amounts
in the Arena Revenue Fund.”

Redemption Fund

The Bond Indenture creates the Redemption Fund. Amounts will be deposited into Redemption
Fund from the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund, as described above. Certain insurance and condemnation
proceeds may also be deposited in the Redemption Fund, as required by the Loan Agreement. Amounts
in the Redemption Fund may be used, as directed by the Corporation, to purchase and retire Senior Bonds
or to redeem Senior Bonds on their first optional redemption date.

Investment of Funds

Upon telephonic instructions from the Corporation promptly confirmed in writing or based on
standing Written Instructions, moneys in the Funds and Accounts will be invested in Qualified
Investments; provided, however, that moneys held in the Redemption Fund may only be invested in
Government Obligations. If the Corporation fails to file Written Instructions with the Trustee, moneys
will be invested in (i) Government Obligations maturing not more than fourteen days (or earlier if cash is
needed) after the date such investment is made or (ii) money market funds meeting the requirements of
the definition of Qualified Investments. Such investments shall be made so as to mature on or before the
date or dates that moneys therefrom are anticipated to be required. The Trustee, when authorized by the
Corporation, may trade with itself in the purchase and sale of securities for such investment; provided,
however, that in no case shall investments be otherwise than in accordance with the investment
limitations contained herein and in the Tax Regulatory Agreement. The Trustee is not liable or
responsible for any loss, fee, tax, or other charge resulting from any such investments. The foregoing
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notwithstanding, moneys held by the Trustee resulting from a payment on the Series 2017 Bond
Insurance Policy shall be held uninvested unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bond Insurer.

Except as described in the preceding paragraph, all income in excess of the requirements of the
applicable Funds (including any account or subaccount thereof) derived from the investment of moneys
on deposit in any such Funds will be deposited in the following Funds, in the order listed:

) to the Senior Interest Fund and the Senior Bond Sinking Fund (in that order) to
the extent, with respect to the Interest Fund, of the amount required to be deposited in the Senior
Interest Fund to be necessary to make the interest payments on the Senior Bonds and any
Reimbursement Obligations and Annual Premium Obligations occurring within one year of the
date of deposit, and to the extent, with respect to the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, of the amount
required to be deposited in the Senior Bond Sinking Fund to make the next required principal
payment on the Senior Bonds occurring within one year of the date of deposit; and

(i1) the balance, if any, to the Redemption Fund.
The Trustee will determine the fair market value of investments in the Senior Reserve Fund and
the Subordinate Reserve Fund (a) based on accepted industry standards and from accepted industry
providers of investments or (b) at the face amount thereof, plus accrued interest, with respect to bank

certificates of deposit, guaranteed investment contracts and similar investments.

Operation and Maintenance Account

General. The Operation and Maintenance Account is maintained by the Corporation under the
Loan Agreement. Category B Arena Revenues received by the Corporation will be deposited in the
Operation and Maintenance Account. In addition, amounts may be transferred from the Arena Revenues
Account of the Excess Net Cash Flow Fund Arena Revenue Account to the Operation and Maintenance
Account, as described above. Category A Arena Revenues received by the Corporation will be transferred
to the Trustee for deposit in the Arena Revenue Fund, as described above.

Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance Account may be used by the Corporation to pay
Operating Expenses and the projected costs of extraordinary maintenance and repairs (other than and in
addition to routine maintenance and repairs included as Operating Expenses in the Corporation’s Annual
Budgets); provided that such moneys in the Operation and Maintenance Account are required, no later
than two Business Days following a written demand from the Trustee, to be transferred to the Trustee for
deposit in the Senior Interest Fund, the Senior Bond Sinking Fund, the Senior Reserve Fund, the
Subordinate Interest Fund, the Subordinate Bond Sinking Fund, and the Subordinate Reserve Fund (to the
extent certain other amounts are not available for such purpose), as described above. On May 15 and
November 15 of each year the Corporation will transfer to the Trustee the moneys on deposit in the
Operations and Maintenance Account that exceed the Minimum Operating Cash Balance.

Lockbox. The Operation and Maintenance Account and any other such account containing
Category B Arena Revenues held by the Corporation shall constitute a “Lockbox Account” with respect
to which the Corporation and the Trustee shall enter into, on or before the Closing Date, an Account
Control Agreement with the Lockbox Bank. The Account Control Agreement shall require that, upon the
applicable Lockbox Bank’s receipt of a Notice of Exclusive Control from the Trustee, the Lockbox Bank
will cease to follow the direction of the Corporation or the AEG with respect to the Lockbox Account and
shall only follow directions provided by the Trustee with respect to disposition of moneys on deposit in
the Lockbox Account. The Trustee shall give a Notice of Exclusive Control to the Lockbox Bank only
upon the Bond Insurer’s direction, who may only give such direction if an event of default occurs and is
continuing under the Loan Agreement or the Bond Indenture or, if directed, by the Bond Insurer. Until
such time as the Trustee gives Notice of Exclusive Control to the Lockbox Bank, the Corporation shall be
permitted to expend or withdraw moneys from the Lockbox Account for its purposes. The Trustee and the
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Corporation are required to direct the Lockbox Bank to give access at all times to the Trustee and the
Bond Insurer to the electronic records regarding the moneys (i) deposited into the Lockbox Account and
(i) disbursed from the applicable Lockbox Account.

During any period in which a Notice of Exclusive Control shall have been given and not
rescinded, with respect to the Lockbox Account,

1) the Corporation is required to provide a written report to the Trustee and the
Bond Insurer at least weekly reflecting receipts and balances through the close of the second
preceding Business Day; and

(i1) promptly upon receipt of the weekly report provided under the immediately
preceding clause (i), the Trustee is required to cause the transfer of moneys as set forth in such
report, but in the absence of such report the Trustee shall retain possession of moneys in the
Lockbox Account; provided, notwithstanding anything described herein to the contrary, the
Trustee is permitted to rely on the information set forth in the report and has no responsibility to
inquire into the accuracy of the information set forth therein.

Annual Budget

On or before November 15th of each year, commencing November 15, 2018, the Corporation will
file with the Trustee and the Bond Insurer:

(1) a written budget describing in reasonable detail the anticipated Category A Arena
Revenues, Category B Arena Revenues, Operating Expenses, and other financial information
relevant to the operation and maintenance of the Arena for the next ensuing Fiscal Year of the
Corporation, including beginning with the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2018, the projected
costs of extraordinary maintenance and repairs (other than and in addition to routine maintenance
and repairs included as Operating Expenses in the budget) for each Fiscal Year; and

(ii) a written budget describing in reasonable detail the anticipated Gross Revenues,
Operating Expenses, debt service on the Bonds, capital expenditures, and all other financial

information relevant to the operating, maintenance, and financing of the Arena for the next
ensuing Fiscal Year of the Corporation.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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Debt Service Schedule

The following table sets forth, for each year ending December 31, commencing with the year
ending December 31, 2018, the total principal and interest requirements with respect to the Bonds.

Year Principal Interest Total

2018 - $15,963,923 $15,963,923
2019 - 16,853,408 16,853,408
2020 - 16,853,408 16,853,408
2021  $3,705,000 16,853,408 20,558,408
2022 4,165,000 16,743,481 20,908,481
2023 4,650,000 16,609,493 21,259,493
2024 5,225,000 16,453,765 21,678,765
2025 5,765,000 16,268,329 22,033,329
2026 6,335,000 16,059,579 22,394,579
2027 6,985,000 15,823,853 22,808,853
2028 7,640,000 15,556,956 23,196,956
2029 8,330,000 15,257,392 23,587,392
2030 9,065,000 14,922,443 23,987,443
2031 9,840,000 14,548,874 24,388,874
2032 10,665,000 14,138,448 24,803,448
2033 11,470,000 13,691,478 25,161,478
2034 12,380,000 13,206,870 25,586,870
2035 13,345,000 12,680,101 26,025,101
2036 14,360,000 12,105,599 26,465,599
2037 15,435,000 11,480,221 26,915,221
2038 16,575,000 10,800,309 27,375,309
2039 17,790,000 10,065,208 27,855,208
2040 19,005,000 9,309,450 28,314,450
2041 20,250,000 8,549,250 28,799,250
2042 21,550,000 7,739,250 29,289,250
2043 23,125,000 6,661,750 29,786,750
2044 24,790,000 5,505,500 30,295,500
2045 26,550,000 4,266,000 30,816,000
2046 28,405,000 2,938,500 31,343,500
2047 30,365,000 1,518,250 31,883,250

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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Projected Debt Service Coverage Ratios

Set forth below is a summary schedule showing the projected debt service coverage ratios with
respect to estimated debt service on the Bonds for the period beginning in 2018 through 2027. The full
table, showing estimated debt service through scheduled final maturity in 2047 and including a
description of the underlying assumptions, is shown in Section 6 of the Arena Consultant’s Report. See
APPENDIX A - “Arena Consultant’s Report. The table below and the table included in the Arena

Consultant’s Report have not been revised to reflect actual debt service on the Bonds.

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
State TIF Revenues ! $11,284 $12,156 $13,142 $13,968 $15,184 $16,513 $17,990 $19,209 $20,198 $21,088
Metro Louisville 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800 10,800
Guaranteed Annual
Payment
Arena Net Revenues — 6,838 7,045 7,237 8,252 8446 8,640 8986 9,183 9,380 9,695
Category A ?
Arena Net Revenues — 4,024 4,035 4,045 4,056 4,068 4,079 4,092 4,104 4,117 4,130
Category B 2
Operating and (2.800) (2.856) (2.913) (2,971) (3.031) (3.091) (3.206) (3.276) (3.345) (3.449)
Maintenance Expenses
Total Revenue $30,147 $31,180 $32,311 $34,104 $35,467 $36,941 $38,662 $40,019 $41,151 $42,264
Available for Debt
Service
Stated Debt Service on $15,964 $16,853 $16,853 $20,558 $20,908 $21,259 $21,679 $22,033 $22,395 $22,809
Bonds
Debt Service Coverage 1.89x 1.85x 1.92x 1.66x 1.70x 1.74x 1.78x 1.82x 1.84x 1.85x

Ratio

!'See TIF Consultant’s Report
2 See Arena Consultant’s Report

Bond Insurance Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Bond Insurer will issue the Policy. The Policy

guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the
form of the Policy included as APPENDIX J to this Official Statement. See “BOND INSURANCE.”

Reserve Fund Surety

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Bond Insurer will issue the Series 2017 Senior
Reserve Fund Surety in the amount of $15,593,881.50 which is equal to 50% of the Senior Reserve Fund
Requirement for the Bonds. The Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety will be available to pay
scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds in the event that other available funds are
not sufficient for that purpose. See “Funds and Accounts; Application of Revenues — Senior Reserve
Fund” above and “BOND INSURANCE” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Bond
Insurance.”

Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Bond Insurer will issue the Series 2017
Liquidity Reserve Policy, effective as of the date of issuance of the Bonds. Under the terms of the Series
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2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy, the Bond Insurer will make funds available to the Corporation for draws
to fund a shortfall in available moneys for debt service through December 1, 2024. Unless extended by
the mutual agreement of the Authority, the Corporation, and the Bond Insurer, the Series 2017 Liquidity
Reserve Policy shall terminate in accordance with its terms effective December 1, 2024. The maximum
amount that may be drawn under the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy is $10 million. See “BOND
INSURANCE - The Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
— Bond Insurance.”

Subordinate Bonds

At the Written Instruction of the Corporation, approved in writing by the Bond Insurer, the Issuer
may issue from time to time Subordinate Bonds for any lawful purposes, subject to compliance with the
requirements of the Bond Indenture, including the prior written consent of the Bond Insurer.

Additional Indebtedness

Under the Loan Agreement, the Corporation covenants and agrees that it will not incur, assume,
or guarantee any Indebtedness for borrowed money (except Indebtedness related to Permitted
Encumbrances), other than the Bonds, related to the Arena unless such Indebtedness is (i) Senior
Refunding Bonds (provided such Senior Refunding Bonds are duly authorized and approved in
accordance with the requirements of the Bond Indenture); (ii) Subordinate Bonds (provided such
Subordinate Bonds are duly authorized and approved in accordance with the requirements of the Bond
Indenture); (iii) incurred with the Bond Insurer’s written consent and is subordinate and subject to the
pledges and liens of the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and the Bond Indenture securing the Bonds; (iv) a
trade payable or other debt incurred in the ordinary course of business, other than for borrowed money;
(v) equipment leases or installment purchases in the ordinary course of business in an aggregate amount at
any time not exceeding $100,000; or (vi) an obligation for a payment required under the express terms of
the Operating Agreements; or (vii) other Indebtedness to which the Bond Insurer consents in writing. The
Corporation has no current plans to request the issuance of additional Bonds or Subordinate Bonds. See
also “APPENDIX F — Summaries of Certain Bond Documents.”

BOND INSURANCE

The information set forth under the heading has been furnished by the Bond Insurer for use in this
Official Statement.

Bond Insurance Policy

Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Bond Insurer will issue its Policy for the Bonds
(the “Policy”). The Policy guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds
when due as set forth in the form of the Policy included as APPENDIX J to this Official Statement.

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New
York, California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law.

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

The Bond Insurer is a New York domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect
subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Ltd. (“AGL”), a Bermuda-based holding company whose shares are
publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AGO”. AGL, through
its operating subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance,
infrastructure and structured finance markets. Neither AGL nor any of its shareholders or affiliates, other
than the Bond Insurer, is obligated to pay any debts of the Bond Insurer or any claims under any
insurance policy issued by the Bond Insurer.
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The Bond Insurer’s financial strength is rated “AA” (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings, a
business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”), “AA+" (stable outlook) by Kroll
Bond Rating Agency, Inc. (“KBRA”) and “A2” (stable outlook) by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.
(“Moody’s”). Each rating of the Bond Insurer should be evaluated independently. An explanation of the
significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating agency. The above ratings
are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such ratings are subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at the request of the Bond
Insurer in its sole discretion. In addition, the rating agencies may at any time change the Bond Insurer’s
long-term rating outlooks or place such ratings on a watch list for possible downgrade in the near term.
Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings, the assignment of a negative outlook
to such ratings or the placement of such ratings on a negative watch list may have an adverse effect on the
market price of any security guaranteed by the Bond Insurer. The Bond Insurer only guarantees
scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the issuer of bonds insured by the Bond
Insurer on the date(s) when such amounts were initially scheduled to become due and payable (subject to
and in accordance with the terms of the relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee the market
price or liquidity of the securities it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securities will
not be revised or withdrawn

Current Financial Strength Ratings

On June 26, 2017, S&P issued a credit rating report in which it affirmed the Bond Insurer’s
financial strength rating of “AA” (stable outlook). The Bond Insurer can give no assurance as to any
further ratings action that S&P may take.

On August 8, 2016, Moody’s published a credit opinion affirming its existing insurance financial
strength rating of “A2” (stable outlook) on the Bond Insurer. The Bond Insurer can give no assurance as
to any further ratings action that Moody’s may take.

On December 14, 2016, KBRA issued a financial guaranty surveillance report in which it
affirmed the Bond Insurer’s insurance financial strength rating of “AA+” (stable outlook). The Bond

Insurer can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that KBRA may take.

For more information regarding the Bond Insurer’s financial strength ratings and the risks relating
thereto, see AGL’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.

Capitalization of the Bond Insurer as of September 30, 2017

The policyholders’ surplus of the Bond Insurer was approximately $322 million.

The contingency reserves of the Bond Insurer and its indirect subsidiary Municipal Assurance
Corp. (“MAC”) (as described below) were approximately $1,371 million. Such amount includes 100% of
the Bond Insurer’s contingency reserve and 60.7% of MAC’s contingency reserve.

The net unearned premium reserves of the Bond Insurer and its subsidiaries (as described below)
were approximately $1,681 million. Such amount includes (i) 100% of the net unearned premium reserves
of the Bond Insurer and the Bond Insurer’s wholly owned subsidiaries Assured Guaranty (Europe) plc,
Assured Guaranty (UK) plc, CIFG Europe S.A. and Assured Guaranty (London) plc (together, the “Bond
Insurer European Subsidiaries”) and (ii) 60.7% of the net unearned premium reserve of MAC.

The policyholders’ surplus of the Bond Insurer and the contingency reserves and net unearned
premium reserves of the Bond Insurer and MAC were determined in accordance with statutory accounting
principles. The net unearned premium reserves of the Bond Insurer European Subsidiaries were
determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

Portions of the following documents filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) that relate to the Bond Insurer are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and
shall be deemed to be a part hereof:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 (filed by
AGL with the SEC on February 24, 2017);

(ii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017 (filed
by AGL with the SEC on May 5, 2017);

(iii))  the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017 (filed by
AGL with the SEC on August 3, 2017); and

(iv) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2017
(filed by AGL with the SEC on November 3, 2017).

All consolidated financial statements of the Bond Insurer and all other information relating to the
Bond Insurer included in, or as exhibits to, documents filed by AGL with the SEC pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, excluding Current Reports or portions
thereof “furnished” under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K, after the filing of the last document
referred to above and before the termination of the offering of the Bonds shall be deemed incorporated by
reference into this Official Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such
documents. Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC’s
website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL’s website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided
upon request to Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.: 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019,
Attention: Communications Department (telephone (212) 974-0100). Except for the information referred
to above, no information available on or through AGL’s website shall be deemed to be part of or
incorporated in this Official Statement.

Any information regarding the Bond Insurer included herein under the caption “BOND
INSURANCE — Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.” or included in a document incorporated by reference
herein (collectively, the “Bond Insurer Information”) shall be modified or superseded to the extent that
any subsequently included Bond Insurer Information (either directly or through incorporation by
reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included Bond Insurer Information. Any Bond Insurer
Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Official Statement, except as so
modified or superseded.

Miscellaneous Matters

The Bond Insurer makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in
the Bonds. In addition, the Bond Insurer has not independently verified, makes no representation
regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official
Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect
to the accuracy of the information regarding the Bond Insurer supplied by the Bond Insurer and presented
under the heading “BOND INSURANCE”.

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
An investment in the Bonds involves certain risks, including the risk of nonpayment of interest or

principal due to Series 2017 Bondholders. The Bonds are special and limited obligations of the Issuer,
payable solely from specific sources. The risk of nonpayment is affected by the following factors, among
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others, which should be considered by prospective investors, along with the other information presented
in this Official Statement, in judging the suitability of an investment in the Bonds.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain factors could cause the actual results of operations of the Arena, the receipt of TIF
Revenues and the ability of Metro Louisville to make Metro Revenues to differ materially from that
projected in any forward-looking statements made in this Official Statement. Any statements that express,
or involve discussions as to, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or
performance (often, but not always, through the use of words or phrases such as “will likely result,” “are
expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “estimated,” “intends,” “plans,” “projection” and
“outlook™) are not historical facts and may be forward-looking and, accordingly, such statements involve
estimates, assumptions and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, any such statements are qualified in their

entirety by reference to, and are accompanied by the factors discussed throughout, this Official Statement.

The investment considerations described throughout this Official Statement and other factors
could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements and investors therefore should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking
statements. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is
made, and the Corporation, Metro Louisville, the State and the Issuer do not undertake any obligation to
update any forward-looking statement or statements to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
New factors may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible to predict all of such factors. Further,
the Corporation, Metro Louisville, the State and the Issuer cannot assess the impact such factors may have
on the results of operations of the Arena, the receipt of TIF Revenues or the ability of Metro Louisville to
make Metro Revenues or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

Special and Limited Obligations of the Issuer

The Bonds are special and limited obligations of the Issuer and do not constitute a debt, general
obligation, pledge of faith and credit or liability of the Issuer, the State or of any agency or political
subdivision thereof, including Metro Louisville, within the meaning of the Constitution or statutes of the
State, and the Bonds are payable solely from the funds and property pledged therefor. The Issuer has no
taxing power.

General

The ability of the Corporation to realize Arena Revenues in amounts sufficient to pay Operating
Expenses of the Arena, and the sufficiency of available Arena Revenues, together with available TIF
Revenues and Metro Revenues, to pay debt service when due on the Bonds, will be affected by and
subject to conditions that may change in the future to an extent and with effects that cannot be determined
at this time. The risks described below and other risks that may arise in the future may adversely affect
Arena Revenues, revenues and receipts of Metro Louisville that are the source of the Metro Revenues and
State sales taxes, and State property tax revenues that are the source of the TIF Revenues and,
consequently, may affect payment of debt service on the Bonds. No representation or assurance can be
given that the Arena Revenues, Metro Revenues and/or TIF Revenues will be available in amounts and at
the required times sufficient to pay debt service when due on the Bonds or, with respect to Arena
Revenues, to pay Operating Expenses of the Arena. Metro Revenues and TIF Revenues will not be
available to pay Operating Expenses of the Arena.

The investment considerations discussed below should be considered in evaluating the ability to
make payments with respect to debt service due on the Bonds. The following discussion of investment
considerations is not intended to be exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with all other parts of
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this Official Statement, including the Arena Consultant’s Report, attached as APPENDIX A to this
Official Statement.

Arena Operating and Usage Risks

Usage of the Arena Generally; Limited Terms of Operating Agreements

Among other things, work stoppages or general and local economic conditions may affect the
ability of the Arena to generate Arena Revenues as may future competition from arenas, sports facilities,
amphitheaters, theaters and other venues within the geographic region. The ability of the Arena to
generate Arena Revenues also may be affected by future trends in cultural, entertainment and sporting
activities, changes in government regulation, changes in public tastes and attitudes and changes in
demographic trends, all of which are not possible to predict.

Although the Arena Consultant’s Report forecasts utilization of the Arena at levels that are
projected to produce sufficient Arena Revenues, the ability of the Arena to perform as expected will
depend on attracting users of the Arena in addition to the University and ULAA, and, as such, depends
primarily on the ability of AEG to market and book events for the Arena. Further, a significant portion of
Arena Revenues are expected to be derived from ticket and related revenues from use of the Arena by
ULAA; no assurance can be given that the demand for tickets to University and ULAA sporting events,
particularly men’s basketball, will remain at current levels. In addition, the occurrence of certain events,
such as imposition by the NCAA of probation or other penalties on the University’s basketball or other
sports programs resulting from past, current or future investigations by the NCAA or law enforcement
officials, could significantly reduce utilization of the Arena by ULAA, reduce the demand for tickets to
University sporting events or, in some cases, result in early termination of certain of the Operating
Agreements hereinafter defined, including the Naming Rights Agreement, thereby adversely affecting the
receipt of Arena Revenues.

In addition, the Management Agreement, the Concessions Agreement, the Marketing Agreement
and the Naming Rights Agreement (collectively, “Operating Agreements”) each have current terms that
expire prior to the scheduled maturity date of certain of the Bonds. There can be no assurance that any of
the Operating Agreements will be extended beyond their current terms or that any of such Operating
Agreements will not be terminated early. See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES — Management
and Operations.” Furthermore, in the event that one or more of the Operating Agreements is not extended,
there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to secure agreements with new parties on
comparable terms to the Operating Agreement currently in place. Any failure of the Corporation to
receive Arena Revenues from the Operating Agreements could negatively affect the Arena Revenues and
consequently the security for the Bonds.

Recent Developments Involving the University Potentially Impacting ULAA Usage of Arena

On September 26th, 2017, the University was informed of a federal investigation into the actions
of multiple individuals across the country involved in Division I men’s basketball. The investigation
appears to have a broad scope. A few ULAA employees and their recruiting practices related to the
University’s men’s basketball program have been mentioned in connection with the federal investigation.
For various reasons, the employment of Rick Pitino, the head basketball coach, and the employment of
Tom Jurich, the athletic director, were terminated in October of 2017. It is currently unknown whether,
and to what extent, penalties will be imposed on the University’s men’s basketball program upon the
conclusion of the federal investigation and any corresponding NCAA investigation.

On June 15, 2017, the NCAA imposed sanctions on the University of Louisville including a four
year probation, vacation of basketball records, scholarship restrictions and fines due to violations of
NCAA legislation unrelated to the ongoing federal investigation. The University has accepted most of the
sanctions imposed by the NCAA, but is appealing the vacation of basketball records and the imposition of
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financial penalties. It is unknown whether, and to what extent, the University’s appeal will be successful.
See also APPENDIX A “Arena Consultant’s Report.”

Subordinated Status of ULAA Revenues Under Lease Agreement

Under the Lease Agreement, ULAA’s gross revenues currently are pledged on a senior lien basis
to the outstanding Stadium Bonds. As permitted by the Lease Agreement, the Stadium Bonds are secured
by a senior lien on ULAA’s gross revenues, subject to the Excluded Amount, currently $2,000,000
annually, which is to be available to pay amounts owed by ULAA to the Corporation under the Lease
Agreement. See “THE ARENA AND ARENA REVENUES — Primary Tenant.” Therefore, other than the
Excluded Amount, ULAA’s payment obligations under the Lease Agreement will be subordinate to its
payment obligations with respect to the Stadium Bonds. Among other things, work stoppages or general
and local economic conditions may affect the ability of the Arena to generate Arena Revenues as may
future competition from arenas, sports facilities, amphitheaters, theaters and other venues within the
geographic region. The ability of the Arena to generate Arena Revenues also may be affected by future
trends in cultural, entertainment and sporting activities, changes in government regulation, changes in
public tastes and attitudes and changes in demographic trends, all of which are not possible to predict.

Reliance on Projections of Arena Feasibility Consultant

The Arena Feasibility Consultant’s Report is based upon certain projections, assumptions and
estimates prepared by the Arena Feasibility Consultant relating to, among other matters, utilization of the
Arena and demand for tickets for events held at the Arena, revenues to be derived from, and expenses to
be incurred in, the operation of the Arena, payment by Metro Louisville of the Metro Revenues, receipt of
the TIF Revenues from the State, and the general economic climate. These assumptions, as well as all
other assumptions used in preparing the Arena Consultant’s Report, are inherently subject to significant
uncertainty. The actual results of the operations of the Arena will differ, perhaps materially, from the
projections included in the Arena Consultant’s Report. Therefore, no representation is made, or intended
to be made, nor should any be inferred, with respect to the likely existence or occurrence of any particular
future set of facts and circumstances. If the actual results are less favorable than those projected or if the
assumptions used in formulating the projections prove to be incorrect, the Corporation’s ability to operate
the Arena and to make payments in respect of the Bonds may be adversely affected.

The Arena Consultant’s Report also contains cash flow projections prepared by the Arena
Feasibility Consultant and a discussion of the many assumptions utilized in preparing those projections,
which the Corporation believes are reasonable and which investors should review carefully. All
projections of future operations and the economic results thereof included in the Arena Consultant’s
Report have been prepared by the Arena Feasibility Consultant and neither the Underwriters nor the
Corporation’s auditors have examined or compiled the projections and, accordingly, do not express an
opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. After the issuance of the Bonds, none of the
Corporation, the Arena Feasibility Consultant or any other person has any obligation to, nor do they
intend to, provide the Trustee or the owners of the Bonds with updated reports or revised projections
comparing the projections in the Arena Consultant’s Report with actual operating results. Accordingly,
no assurances are given and no representations are made that any of the assumptions are correct, that the
projections will be achieved or the beliefs and forward-looking statements expressed herein or in the
Arena Consultant’s Report will correspond to actual results.

See APPENDIX A “Arena Consultant’s Report.”
Annual Appropriation Risk; Municipal Bankruptcy Risk; Cancellation of the TIF Contract
Metro Louisville’s obligation to make annual payments of the Metro Revenues under the Metro

Contract is subject to annual appropriation by Metro Louisville’s Council. Although the provisions of the
Metro Louisville Ordinance state that Metro Louisville’s obligation to pay Metro Revenues is a long-term
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contractual obligation, no assurance can be given that the amount of the Guaranteed Payment will be
appropriated in each year for so long as the Bonds are Outstanding. See “THE PRINCIPAL
PARTICIPANTS - Metro Louisville.”

Chapter 9 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code contains provisions relating to the adjustment of debts of
a State’s political subdivisions, public agencies and instrumentalities (“eligible entity”), such as Metro
Louisville. Under the Bankruptcy Code and in certain circumstances described therein, an eligible entity
may be authorized to initiate Chapter 9 proceedings without prior notice to or consent of its creditors,
which proceedings may result in material and adverse modification or alteration of the rights of its
secured and unsecured creditors, including holders of its bonds and notes.

Section 66.400 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes permits a political subdivision, such as Metro
Louisville, for the purpose of enabling such subdivision to take advantage of the provisions of the
Bankruptcy Code, and for that purpose only, to file a petition stating that the subdivision is insolvent or
unable to meet its debts as they mature, and that it desires to effect a plan for the composition or
readjustment of its debts, and to take such further proceedings as are set forth in the Bankruptcy Code as
they relate to such subdivision.

If, in the future, Metro Louisville were to file a bankruptcy case under Chapter 9 of the
Bankruptcy Code, the obligations of Metro Louisville under the Metro Contract could be modified in
bankruptcy. Such modifications could be adverse to holders of the Bonds, and there could ultimately be
no assurance that holders of the Bonds would be paid in full or in part on the Bonds. Further, under such
circumstances, there could be no assurance that the payments of Metro Revenues would not be treated as
general, unsecured debt by a bankruptcy court, meaning that claims of holders of the Bonds could be
viewed as having no priority (a) over claims of other creditors of Metro Louisville; (b) to any particular
assets of Metro Louisville; or (c) to revenues otherwise designated for payment to holders of the Bonds.

The State also has reserved the right in the TIF Contract to terminate that contract, and therefore
to terminate its obligation to pay TIF Revenues to or as directed by the Corporation, provided that after
issuance of the Bonds, the Trustee must consent to such termination. See “INTRODUCTION — Security
and Sources of Payment for the Bonds - TIF Revenues.”

TIF Revenues Dependent on Growth of Sales Taxes and Property Tax Bases in the TIF District

Although the State projects certain growth to occur in the District in the sales taxes and property
taxes subject to the Increment, no assurance can be provided that the projected growth will occur.
Moreover, growth in TIF Revenues is likely to vary in any given year, and such year-to-year variations
could be substantial. Further, Metro Louisville has the ability to designate additional Development Area
Exemptions within the TIF District and to increase or decrease the size of the District, although the State
must contractually agree to such additional designations or changes to the size of the District, and,
pursuant to the TIF Contract, the Corporation must provide its written consent.

Projected TIF Revenues to be received by the District are subject to various assumptions set forth
in the TIF Consultant’s Report, which should be reviewed in its entirety by prospective investors. In
addition, the Kentucky General Assembly has the authority to amend the provisions of state law
governing sales taxes. Changes to the tax base and exemptions for sales taxes could adversely affect the
amount of sales taxes collected within the District and adversely impact projected TIF Revenues. Sales
taxes are further sensitive to changes in local, regional and national economic conditions and/or a decline
in the population of the Metro Louisville region. For example, sales taxes have historically declined
during economic recession, when higher unemployment adversely affects consumption. Demographic
changes in the population of the Metro Louisville region may adversely affect the level of commercial
and industrial activity in the District and could reduce the number and value of taxable transactions and
thus reduce the amount of sales taxes. There is also the possibility that any reduction in the use of the
Arena itself will affect the sales taxes generated in the District, as the Arena is within the District and its
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sales subject to the State sales tax. It is not possible to predict whether or to what extent any such changes
in economic conditions, demographic characteristics, population or commercial and industrial activity
will occur, and what impact any such changes would have on sales taxes. Reductions in sales taxes,
including reductions due to such causes, could have a negative effect on the sufficiency of the TIF
Revenues. In future years, it is also expected that increasing numbers of sales transactions will take place
over the internet. It is possible that sales tax receipts in the future could be adversely impacted due to the
growth of commerce over the internet unless State tax laws are expanded to capture internet sales. Goods
purchased from out-of-state retailers for delivery to a customer within the Commonwealth could displace
sales from retailers located within the District. Internet sales also often go unreported. If internet sales are
not treated, for sales and use tax purposes, comparably to, or if they displace, the types of transactions for
which sales and use taxes currently are collected, TIF Revenues may be adversely affected.

As with sales taxes, projections regarding the collection of future property taxes may be affected
by a variety of factors beyond the direct control of the District. For example, reductions in property value
assessments due to real estate market conditions may result in a reduction in the property taxes and
challenges to property valuations by individual taxpayers may result in a reduction in those taxes due to a
reduction in valuations through the appeal process. Furthermore, the relocation of entities located in the
District to locations outside the District could result in a reduction of the projected property taxes
expected to be collected. There is also the possibility that currently for profit entities may either be
replaced with or reclassified as not for profit entities exempt from taxation.

Enforceability; Limited Remedies; Potential Effects of Bankruptcy of ULAA or Corporation

The enforceability of the rights and remedies of the owners of the Bonds under the Bonds, the
Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage and the Assignment of Operating Agreements and
the Irrevocable Assignment of TIF Revenues and TIF Contract dated as of December 1, 2017 from the
Corporation to the Trustee, are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted, and to the exercise of judicial
discretion in appropriate cases. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery
of the Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of various instruments and agreements because of
limitations imposed by federal and state laws affecting remedies and other matters, and by bankruptcy,
reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditor’s rights generally. Insofar as the various
agreements, contain equitable remedies, a court of equity has broad discretion as to whether or not to
grant equitable relief, including requiring the specific performance of any such agreement.

In the event a voluntary or involuntary case is filed under Title 11 of the United States Code (the
“Bankruptcy Code”) with respect to the Corporation or ULAA, a bankruptcy court could determine that
various agreements to which the Corporation or ULAA is a party, such as the Operating Agreements and
the Lease Agreement, are executory contracts or unexpired leases. In a bankruptcy case, an executory
contract or unexpired lease is capable of being rejected by a trustee or debtor-in-possession pursuant to
Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code. If an executory contract or unexpired lease is rejected, the debtor
may no longer be required to perform its obligations under that contract. In addition, with the
authorization of the bankruptcy court, the Corporation or ULAA, as applicable, may be able to assign its
rights and obligations under various agreements to which it is a party to another entity, despite any
contractual prohibition to the contrary. Furthermore, whether or not a bankruptcy court were to determine
that such agreements are executory contracts or unexpired leases, claims and remedies arising from such
an agreement, as well as other claims and remedies against the Corporation or ULAA, as the case may be,
may be reduced, modified, or terminated and discharged in the bankruptcy case, and equitable remedies
may become unenforceable.

In addition to potential interruptions in the ability of the Trustee to collect Arena Revenues during
a bankruptcy proceeding involving the Corporation, to the extent the Corporation were to have
commingled or may in the future commingle any TIF Revenues or Metro Revenues pledged under the
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Indenture with property of the Corporation, such a commingling could subject all or a portion of such TIF
Revenues or Metro Revenues to the bankruptcy proceedings. Additionally, there are no assurances that
the Trustee or the holders of the Bonds will not be temporarily stayed from taking any act to obtain
possession of, or to exercise control over, the Arena Revenues, the TIF Revenues or Metro Revenues. A
bankruptcy court would have the power to impose a temporary or preliminary injunction with respect to,
or allow the debtor to use, the Arena Revenues, TIF Revenues or Metro Revenues pending a final ruling.

The enforceability, priority and perfection of the security interest in the Arena Revenues created
under the Loan Agreement may further also be limited by a number of factors, including, without
limitation: (i) statutory liens; (ii) rights arising in favor of the United States of America or any agency
thereof; (iii) constructive trusts or equitable or other rights impressed or conferred thereon by a federal or
state court in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction; (iv) federal and state laws governing fraudulent
transfers; (v) federal bankruptcy laws that may affect the enforceability of the Loan Agreement or the
security interest in the Arena Revenues; (vi) rights of third parties in Arena Revenues converted to cash
and not in the possession of the Trustee; and (vii) claims that might arise if appropriate financing or
continuation statements or amendments of financing statements are not filed in accordance with the
Uniform Commercial Code, as from time to time in effect.

Prospective holders of the Bonds are further advised that ULAA will retain a right of first refusal
to purchase the Arena in certain circumstances in the event that the Trustee exercises remedies under the
Mortgage. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Mortgage.”

Force Majeure Events

There are certain unanticipated events beyond the Corporation’s control that could have a
material adverse impact on the generation or collection of Arena Revenues, TIF Revenue and/or Metro
Revenues if they were to occur. These events include fire, flood, earthquake, epidemic, adverse health
conditions or other unavoidable casualties or acts of God, freight embargo, labor strikes or work
stoppages, civil commotion, new acts of war or escalation of existing war conditions, sabotage, terrorism
or enemy action, pollution, unknown subsurface or concealed conditions affecting the environment, and
any similar causes. No assurance can be provided that such events will not occur, and, if any such events
were to occur, no prediction can be provided as to the actual impact or severity of the impact on the
generation or collection of Arena Revenues, TIF Revenues and/or Metro Revenues.

Bond Insurance

In the event the Issuer fails to make payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when
the same become due, the Trustee will have the right to demand payment from Bond Insurer. However,
the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy does not insure payment of the principal of or interest on the
Bonds coming due by reason of redemption (other than mandatory sinking fund redemption), nor does the
Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy insure the payment of any redemption premium payable upon
redemption of the Bonds. Further, so long as Bond Insurer performs its obligations under the Series 2017
Bond Insurance Policy, Bond Insurer may direct, and its consent must be obtained before the exercise of,
any remedies to be undertaken by the Trustee under the Bond Indenture, including acceleration. In the
event that Bond Insurer is unable to make payment of principal of and interest on a Series 2017 Bond as
such payment becomes due (whether due to Bond Insurer’s insolvency or other circumstances), or
otherwise defaults on its obligations under the terms of the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy,
Bondholders may not receive principal and interest payments on the Bonds when expected (or at all).

Bond Insurer’s payment obligations under the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy, the Series

2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety and the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy are general obligations of

Bond Insurer. Default by Bond Insurer with respect to such payment obligations may result in insufficient

funds being available to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due. Bond Insurer’s payment

obligations are subject to the risk that Bond Insurer is unable or unwilling to make payment in amounts
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equal to such obligations as a result of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other
similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, now or hereafter in
effect against Bond Insurer or other adverse financial conditions affecting Bond Insurer.

There can be no assurance that the financial condition of Bond Insurer, or that the evaluation by
the Rating Agencies of Bond Insurer’s claims-paying ability will remain stable until the final maturity of
the Bonds. An adverse change in such financial condition or in such Rating Agency evaluations could
adversely affect the market value of the Bonds or the existence of a secondary market for Bonds, even if
unrelated to the ability of the Corporation to make payments sufficient to pay principal of and interest on
the Bonds when due. When making an investment decision on the Bonds, a prospective bondholder
should consider carefully the Corporation’s ability to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds, as well
as Bond Insurer’s ability to pay claims under the Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy, the Series 2017
Senior Reserve Fund Surety and the Series 2017 Liquidity Reserve Policy.

See “BOND INSURANCE” herein for further information concerning the Bond Insurer, the
Series 2017 Bond Insurance Policy, the Series 2017 Senior Reserve Fund Surety and the Series 2017
Liquidity Reserve Policy.

Tax-Exempt Status of the Series 2017A Bonds; Continuing Legal Requirements; Tax Law Changes

As described herein and under the caption “TAX TREATMENT,” failure to comply with certain
legal requirements may cause the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds to become included in gross income
for federal income tax purposes. The Bond Indenture does not require redemption of the Series 2017A
Bonds upon a determination of taxability.

On November 16, 2017 and December 2, 2017, the United States House of Representatives and
the United States Senate, respectively, passed separate versions of H.R. 1, the “Tax Cut and Jobs Act.”
(the “Tax Cut and Jobs Act”). Under the Congressional Budget Act of 1974, Congress must “reconcile”
the House and Senate versions of the tax bill into one uniform bill. In addition to the Tax Cut and Jobs
Act’s significant proposed changes to the Code, the version of the proposed tax legislation passed by the
United States House of Representatives includes a provision which bars the use of tax-exempt financing
for professional stadiums. Under this proposed change, stadiums which are used for more than five (5)
days in a calendar year for professional sports exhibitions, games, or training, will no longer qualify for
tax-exempt financing. The Corporation has agreed to comply with the requirements of the Code so that
the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds will not become includable in gross income.

Furthermore, currently under the Code, taxpayers may deduct from their taxes 80% of their
contribution to a higher education institution that is made in exchange for the right to purchase tickets for
seating at an athletic event in an athletic stadium of such an institution. Both versions of the Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act include provisions which would end this deduction. Elimination of the deduction may adversely
affect the sale of tickets, including premium seats such as luxury suites, for events related to University
events at the Arena.

TAX TREATMENT
Series 2017A Bonds
General

In the opinion of Stoll Keenon Ogden PLLC, Bond Counsel, under existing law, subject to the
qualifications and exceptions set forth below, assuming the correctness and accuracy of certain
representations, warranties and covenants of the Issuer, the Corporation, ULAA, AEG and other contract
parties made in connection with the issuance of the Series 2017A Bonds with respect to facts and
circumstances that are solely within the knowledge of such parties and compliance by the Issuer, the
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Corporation, ULAA, AEG and such other contract parties with representations, warranties, covenants and
undertakings made by such parties which are intended to assure that the Series 2017A Bonds will remain
obligations the interest on which is not included in gross income of the recipients thereof under the law in
effect on the issuance date of the Series 2017A Bonds, interest on the Series 2017A Bonds (a) will be
excluded from gross income of recipients thereof for federal and Kentucky income tax purposes and the
Series 2017A Bonds will be exempt from ad valorem taxes in Kentucky and (b) will not be an item of tax
preference in determining alternative minimum taxable income under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “Code”). Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the Series 2017A Bonds are exempt
from ad valorem taxation by the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its political subdivisions. Reference is
made to the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Bonds contained in
APPENDIX I to this Official Statement.

The opinions of Bond Counsel set forth in the preceding paragraph are based upon and subject to
the conditions that the representations and warranties of the Issuer, the Corporation, ULAA, AEG and
other contract parties made in connection with the issuance of the Series 2017A Bonds are accurate and
that the Issuer, the Corporation, ULAA, AEG and other contract parties comply with all requirements of
the Code that must be satisfied after the issuance of the Series 2017A Bonds in order that interest thereon
be and remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply with
certain of such requirements or a determination that certain of such representations and warranties are
inaccurate could cause the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds to be so included in gross income
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2017A Bonds.

The opinion of Bond Counsel as to the exclusion of interest on the Series 2017A Bonds from
gross income for federal income tax purposes and federal tax treatment of interest on the Series 2017A
Bonds will be subject to the following exceptions and qualifications:

(a) Provisions of the Code applicable to corporations (as defined for federal income
tax purposes), which impose an alternative minimum tax on 75% of the excess of adjusted current
earnings over other alternative minimum taxable income, may subject a portion of the interest on
the Series 2017A Bonds earned by certain corporations to such corporate alternative minimum
tax. Such corporate alternative minimum tax does not apply to any S corporation, regulated
investment company, REIT or REMIC.

(b) The Code also provides for a “branch profits tax” which subjects to tax, at a rate
of 30%, the effectively connected earnings and profits of a foreign corporation which engages in
a United States trade or business. Interest on the Series 2017A Bonds would be includable in the
amount of effectively connected earnings and profits and thus would increase the branch profits
tax liability.

(© The Code also provides that passive investment income, including interest on the
Series 2017A Bonds, may be subject to taxation for any S corporation with Subchapter C
earnings and profits at the close of its taxable year if its passive investment income is greater than
25% of its gross receipts.

Except as stated above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to any federal or Kentucky tax
consequences resulting from the receipt of interest on the Series 2017A Bonds.

Owners of the Series 2017A Bonds should be aware that the ownership of the Series 2017A
Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax consequences. Prospective purchasers of the Series
2017A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding such matters and any other tax
consequences of holding the Series 2017A Bonds.
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Original Issue Premium

Series 2017A Bonds purchased, whether upon issuance or otherwise, for an amount (excluding
any amount attributable to accrued interest) in excess of their principal amount will be treated for federal
income tax purposes as having amortizable bond premium. A holder’s basis in such a Series 2017A Bond
must be reduced by the amount of premium that accrues while the Series 2017A Bond is held by the
holder. No deduction for such amount will be allowed, but it generally will offset interest on the Series
2017A Bonds while so held. Purchasers of such Series 2017A Bonds should consult their own tax
advisors as to the calculation, accrual and treatment of amortizable bond premium and the state and local
tax consequences of holding such Series 2017A Bonds.

Series 2017B Bonds

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky and official interpretations thereof, interest on the Series 2017B Bonds is exempt from income
taxation by the Commonwealth of Kentucky and the Series 2017B Bonds are exempt from ad valorem
taxation by the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its political subdivisions. Interest on the Series 2017B
Bonds is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion
regarding other federal tax consequences with respect to the Series 2017B Bonds. Reference is made to
the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Bonds contained in APPENDIX I to
this Official Statement.

Other Tax Matters

The IRS has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to determine whether, in the
view of the IRS, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includible in the gross income of the owners
thereof for federal income tax purposes. It cannot be predicted whether or not the IRS will commence an
audit of the Series 2017A Bonds. If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the IRS may treat
the Issuer as a taxpayer and the holders of the Series 2017A Bonds may have no right to participate in
such procedure. The commencement of an audit could adversely affect the market value and liquidity of
the Series 2017A Bonds until the audit is concluded, regardless of the ultimate outcome.

Payments of interest on, and proceeds of the sale, redemption or maturity of, tax-exempt
obligations, including the Series 2017A Bonds, are in certain cases required to be reported to the IRS.
Additionally, backup withholding may apply to any such payments to any Bond owner who fails to
provide an accurate Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification, or a
substantially identical form, or to any Series 2017 Bond owner who is notified by the IRS of a failure to
report any interest or dividends required to be shown on federal income tax returns. The reporting and
backup withholding requirements do not affect the excludability of such interest from gross income for
federal tax purposes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to the treatment of interest expense for
financial institutions owning the Series 2017A Bonds for purposes of Section 265(b)(7) of the Code.
Financial institutions should consult their tax advisors concerning such treatment.

No opinion is expressed with respect to any other taxes imposed by the Commonwealth of
Kentucky or any political subdivisions thereof. Ownership of the Bonds may result in other state and local
tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such collateral
consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their
tax advisors regarding the applicability of any such state and local taxes.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The Corporation. The Corporation will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the
“Corporation Disclosure Agreement’) with respect to the Bonds for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners
of the Bonds, substantially in the form included in APPENDIX G to this Official Statement, pursuant to
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which the Corporation agrees to provide or cause to be provided, in accordance with the requirements of
SEC Rule 15¢2-12, as amended (the “Rule”), (i) certain annual financial information and operating data,
(i1) timely notice of the occurrence of certain events with respect to the Bonds, and (iii) timely notice of a
failure by the Corporation to provide the required annual financial information on or before the date
specified in the Corporation Continuing Disclosure Agreement. The Corporation previously entered into
continuing disclosure agreements with respect to the Prior Bonds pursuant to the Rule (the “Corporation
Prior Disclosure Undertaking”).

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the Corporation failed to submit the required
financial information by the submission deadline. The Corporation subsequently filed the required
financial information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 on July 14, 2014. A notice of failure to
timely file this information was filed on November 7, 2017.

Additionally, ratings changes affecting the Prior Bonds occurred on November 14, 2013 and
December 26, 2013, with the subsequent material events notices filed on November 6, 2017 as well as a
notice of failure to timely file, filed on November 7, 2017.

The Corporation has not otherwise materially failed to comply during the past five years with any
existing continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to any other bonds pursuant to the Rule.

Metro Louisville. Metro Louisville will deliver the Metro Louisville Continuing Disclosure
Certificate (the “Metro Continuing Disclosure Certificate™) with respect to the Bonds for the benefit of
the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, substantially in the form included in APPENDIX G to this Official
Statement, to provide or cause to be provided, in accordance with the requirements of the Rule, (i) certain
annual financial information and operating data with respect to Metro Louisville and (ii) timely notice of
a failure by Metro Louisville to provide the required annual financial information on or before the date
specified in the Metro Continuing Disclosure Certificate.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2014, 2013 and 2012, Metro Louisville failed to submit
the required financial information by the submission deadline. Metro Louisville subsequently filed this
information on, April 20, 2017, December 31, 2015, December 31, 2015 and July 28, 2014, respectively.
A notice of failure to timely file this information was filed on November 7, 2017. Metro Louisville did
provide this financial information under a different issuance; however, the filing information was not
properly linked to the Prior Bonds CUSIP information.

Metro Louisville has not otherwise materially failed to comply during the past five years with any
existing continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to any other bonds pursuant to the Rule.

ULAA. ULAA will deliver the ULAA Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “ULAA Continuing
Disclosure Certificate™) with respect to the Bonds for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds,
substantially in the form included in APPENDIX G to this Official Statement, to provide or cause to be
provided, in accordance with the requirements of the Rule, (i) certain annual financial information and
operating data with respect to ULAA and (ii) timely notice of a failure by ULAA to provide the required
annual financial information on or before the date specified in the ULAA Continuing Disclosure
Certificate.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2014, 2013 and 2012, ULAA failed to submit the
required financial information by the submission deadline. ULAA subsequently filed this information on,
April 20, 2017, December 31, 2015, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2015, respectively. A notice
of failure to timely file this information was filed on November 7, 2017. ULAA did provide this financial
information under a different issuance; however, the financial information was not properly linked to the
Prior Bonds CUSIP information. ULAA has not otherwise materially failed to comply during the past five
years with any existing continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to any other bonds pursuant to the
Rule.
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The Underwriters’ obligation to purchase the Bonds will be conditioned upon their receiving, at
or prior to the delivery of the Bonds, executed copies of the Continuing Corporation Disclosure
Agreement, the Metro Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the ULAA Continuing Disclosure
Certificate.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance, validity and sale of the Bonds are
subject to the approving opinion of Stoll Keenon Ogden PLLC, Louisville, Kentucky, Bond Counsel. A
signed copy of the opinion, dated as of the date of original delivery of the Bonds, substantially in the form
set forth in APPENDIX I hereto, will be delivered to the Underwriters at the time of original delivery of
the Bonds.

Certain legal matters will be passed upon by Frost Brown Todd LLC, Louisville, Kentucky,
counsel for the Corporation; by Stites & Harbison, PLLC, Louisville, Kentucky, counsel for the Issuer; by
Peter Tremblay, Counsel for the Bond Insurer; by Rubin & Hays, Louisville, Kentucky, counsel for the
Trustee; and by Dinsmore & Shohl LLP, Covington, Kentucky, counsel for the Underwriters.

LITIGATION
Issuer

To the knowledge of the Issuer, there is no pending or threatened litigation seeking to restrain or
enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds, or contesting or adversely affecting the
validity of the Bonds or any proceeding of the Issuer taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof, the
pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the payment of the Bonds, or existence or
powers of the Issuer, or the authority of the Issuer to enter into any document relating to the Bond
Indenture or the Bonds.

Corporation

With respect to the Corporation, no litigation or proceedings are pending or, to the knowledge of
the Corporation threatened against it which if adversely determined would, in the opinion of the
Corporation, adversely affect the Corporation in a manner material to the properties, business or financial
condition of the Corporation as a whole or to the transactions contemplated by this Official Statement.

UNDERWRITING

The Bonds are being purchased by the Underwriters identified on the cover page of this Official
Statement, for whom Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated is acting as Representative.
Pursuant to a purchase contract among the Underwriters, the Corporation and the Issuer, the Underwriters
have agreed, jointly and severally, to purchase:

1) the Series 2017A Bonds at a purchase price of $217,709,256.63 (representing the
par amount of the Series 2017A Bonds, plus net original issue premium of $16,677,162.60, less
underwriters’ discount of $1,092,905.97); and

(i1) the Series 2017B Bonds at a purchase price of $174,766,138.06 (representing the
par amount of the Series 2017B Bonds, less underwriters’ discount of $873,861.94).

The Underwriters’ obligation to purchase any of the Bonds will be conditioned upon the issuance
and delivery of all of the Bonds.
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The initial public offering prices set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement may
be changed by the Underwriters and the Underwriters may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers
(including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts) and others at prices lower than the offering
prices set forth on the inside cover page.

In the ordinary course of their respective businesses, the Underwriters and certain of their
affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking or commercial banking
transactions with the Corporation.

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC., an underwriter of the Bonds, has entered into a retail distribution
arrangement with its affiliate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. As part of the distribution arrangement,
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may distribute municipal securities to retail investors through the financial
advisor network of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. As part of this arrangement, Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC may compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC for its selling efforts with respect to the
Bonds.

Wells Fargo Securities, an underwriter of the Bonds, is the trade name for certain securities-
related capital markets and investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries,
including Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading
and underwriting operations through the Wells Fargo Bank, NA Municipal Products Group, a separately
identifiable department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section 15B(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group
(“WFBNA”), one of the underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into an agreement (the “WFA
Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC (which uses the trade
name “Wells Fargo Advisors”) (“WFA?”), for the distribution of certain municipal securities offerings,
including the Bonds. Pursuant to the WFA Distribution Agreement, WFBNA will share a portion of its
underwriting or remarketing agent compensation, as applicable, with respect to the Bonds with WFA.
WFBNA has also entered into an agreement (the “WFSLLC Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate
Wells Fargo Securities; LLC ("WFSLLC"), for the distribution of municipal securities offerings,
including the Bonds. Pursuant to the WFSLLC Distribution Agreement, WFBNA pays a portion of
WEFSLLC's expenses based on its municipal securities transactions. WFBNA, WFSLLC, and WFA are
each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells Fargo & Company.

RATINGS

Moody’s and S&P are expected to assign the ratings of “A2” and “AA” (stable outlook),
respectively, for the Bonds, based on the issuance of the Policy by the Bond Insurer concurrently with the
issuance of the Bonds. Moody’s and S&P have assigned the Bonds the underlying ratings of “Baa3”
(stable outlook) and “A-" (stable outlook), respectively, without regard to the issuance of the Policy. Such
ratings reflect only the respective views of those organizations and an explanation of the significance of
those ratings may be obtained from the respective rating agencies. There is no assurance that any or all of
such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that they will not be revised downward or
withdrawn entirely by any or all of the those ratings agencies if, in their judgment, circumstances so
warrant. Any such downward change or withdrawal of any one or more of the ratings may have an
adverse effect on the market price and marketability of the Bonds.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Corporation as of December 31, 2016 attached to this Official
Statement as APPENDIX C have been audited by the State’s Auditor of Public Accounts which report
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expresses an unqualified opinion on the Corporation’s financial statements, and which report is included
in APPENDIX C.

The financial statements of Louisville Metro as of June 30, 2016 attached to this Official
Statement as APPENDIX D have been audited by Crowe Horwath, LLP, which report expresses an
unqualified opinion on the Metro Louisville’s financial statements, and which report is included in
APPENDIX D.

The financial statements of ULAA as of June 30, 2016 attached to this Official Statement as
APPENDIX E have been audited by BKD, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report relating to the financial statements of ULAA (which report expresses an unqualified
opinion on ULAA financial statements), which report is included in APPENDIX E.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, LLC, Louisville, Kentucky, has acted as Financial Advisor to the
Corporation in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and will receive a fee, payable from bond
proceeds, for its services as Financial Advisor.

ARENA FEASIBILITY CONSULTANT

The Arena Consultant’s Report, attached as APPENDIX A to this Official Statement, was
prepared by Conventions, Sports & Leisure International, LLC, acting as Arena Feasibility Consultant,
and is included in reliance upon the expertise of the Arena Feasibility Consultant on matters relating to
the sports and entertainment industry. The Arena Consultant’s Report should be read in its entirety. The
Arena Consultant’s Report was prepared for the express purpose of estimating potential future market
demand and likely financial operating results for the proposed Arena. The analysis and reporting in the
Arena Consultant’s Report for the proposed Arena are based upon assumptions and estimates which are
necessarily subject to uncertainty and variation. These estimates are often based upon data obtained in
interviews with third parties and reviews of historical performance, data which are not always completely
reliable. While assumptions have been made relative to the future performance of the proposed Arena,
such assumptions are highly uncertain. Therefore, while the estimates have been conscientiously prepared
on the basis of experience and available data, the Arena Feasibility Consultant makes no warranty that the
financial operating projections of the facilities will be achieved.

The Arena Consultant’s Report is based, in part, upon the review of other arena/sports facility/
entertainment venues that are known to the Arena Feasibility Consultant. It is possible, however, that over
the forecast period additional facilities could be constructed. Any such additions could have an impact on
the estimates presented in the Arena Consultant’s Report and these differences could be material.

As noted in the Arena Consultant’s Report, the Arena Feasibility Consultant is of the opinion that
the underlying assumptions presented in the Arena Consultant’s Report provide a reasonable basis for the
projections contained therein.

TIF CONSULTANT

The TIF Consultant’s Report, attached as part of APPENDIX B to this Official Statement, was
prepared by the Office of State Budget Director, Governor’s Office for Economic Analysis, acting as TIF
Consultant, and is included in reliance upon the expertise of the TIF Consultant on matters relating to
projecting TIF District revenues. The TIF Report should be read in its entirety. The TIF Consultant’s
Report was prepared for the express purpose of estimating future State sales tax and State property tax
revenues as they pertain to the TIF District. The analysis and reporting in the TIF Consultant’s Report for
the TIF District are based upon assumptions and estimates which are necessarily subject to uncertainty
and variation. These estimates are often based upon data obtained in interviews with third parties and
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reviews of historical performance, data which are not always completely reliable. While assumptions
have been made relative to the future performance of the TIF District, such assumptions are highly
uncertain. Therefore, while the estimates have been conscientiously prepared on the basis of experience
and available data, the TIF Consultant makes no warranty that the financial projections will be achieved.

As noted in the TIF Consultant’s Report, the TIF Consultant is of the opinion that the underlying
assumptions presented in the TIF Consultant’s Report provide a reasonable basis for the projections
contained therein.

VERIFICATION

Causey Demgen Moore P.C. (the “Verifier”), has verified, from the information provided to
them, the mathematical accuracy, as of the date of the closing of the Bonds, of (i) the computations
contained in the provided schedules to determine that the anticipated receipts from the securities and cash
deposits listed in the underwriters’ schedules, to be held in escrow, will be sufficient to pay the principal
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Prior Bonds, when due, and (ii) the computations of yield on both
the securities and the Series 2017A Bonds contained in the provided schedules used by Bond Counsel in
its determination that the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds is excludible from gross income of the
owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. The Verifier will express no opinion on the assumptions
provided to them, nor as to the exemption from taxation of the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds.

MISCELLANEOUS
The execution and delivery of this Official Statement has been duly authorized by the Issuer and

approved by the Corporation. This Official Statement is not to be considered a contract or agreement
between or among the Issuer, the Corporation, and the purchasers or holders of the Bonds.

KENTUCKY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
FINANCE AUTHORITY

By: J. Don Goodin

Title: Vice Chair

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS APPROVED:

LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.

By: Scott Cox

Title: Chair
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APPENDIX A
Arena Consultant’s Report

Including Operating Information Regarding Corporation
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY
LETTERHEAD

November 17, 2017

Conventions, Sports & Leisure International, LLC (“CSL")
One Cowboys Way, Suite 325
Frisco, Texas 75034

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with your feasibility study for the KFC Yum! Center bond refinancing, we make
the following representations:

1. We understand that you have no responsibility to update your report for events and
circumstances occurring after the date of your report.

2. The feasibility study presents the assumptions of LAA and, to the best of LAA’s knowledge
and belief, the expected results of operations for the KFC Yum! Center.

3. CSL prepares the financial forecast. Generally accepted accounting principles are
expected to be used by the Project during the forecast period.

4. The feasibility study is based on LAA’s judgment of the expected conditions and LAA’s
expected course of actions.

5. We have made available to you all significant information that we believe is relevant to
the feasibility study, including information regarding actions taken at meetings of the
board of directors.

6. We believe that the assumptions underlying the feasibility study are appropriate and
reasonable.

7. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the documents and records supporting the
assumptions are appropriate and reliable.

8. We intend to use the feasibility study only for inclusion in the official statements of debt
and equity offerings.

9. We are not aware of any information that conflicts with the feasibility study results or the
presentation and disclosures of the estimated financial statements.



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Legal counsel has advised us that the offering documents comply with all applicable SEC,
blue sky and other legal requirements.

We understand CSL’s feasibility study cannot be relied on to disclose errors, irregularities
or illegal acts, including fraud or defalcations that may exist.

We understand there will usually be differences between the estimated and actual
results, because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those
differences may be material.

To the extent permitted by law, we agree to indemnify CSL and its partners, members,
principals, directors, officers, and employees, and hold them harmless from all claims,
liabilities, losses, and costs arising in circumstances where any such loss, claim, damage,
liability or expense is found in a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to
have resulted primarily or directly from (a) the willful misconduct or negligence by a
member of LAA, regardless of whether such person was acting in the interest of LAA; or
(b) LAA’s use, reproduction, distribution or other use of the any financial forecasts and/or
associated reports as described herein, provided that this indemnification shall be
inapplicable to the extent it is found in a final judgement by a court of competent
jurisdiction to have resulted from the willful misconduct or gross negligence of CSL. This
indemnification will survive termination or completion of the engagement.

Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary, LAA agrees that in
no event shall CSL, its members, principals, or employees be liable (a) to client for any
losses, damages, claims, liabilities, costs, or expenses in any way arising out of or relating
to this engagement and the feasibility study provided therein for an aggregate amount in
excess of any fees paid to CSL for such services and (b) for consequential, special, indirect,
incidental, punitive, or exemplary loss, damage, cost, or expense (including, without
limitation, lost profits and opportunity costs). The provisions of this paragraph shall apply
regardless of the form of action, whether in contract, statute, tort (including, without
limitation, negligence), or otherwise, and shall survive termination or completion of the
engagement.

Very truly yours,

LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.

By:
Name: Signature:
Title: Date:



November 17, 2017

Mr. Scott Cox

Chairman

Louisville Arena Authority
One Arena Plaza
Louisville, Kentucky 40202

Dear Mr. Cox:

Conventions, Sports & Leisure International (“CSL”) is pleased to present this feasibility study of
the KFC Yum! Center’s operations and its ability to support debt refinancing. The attached report
summarizes our research and analyses and is intended to assist project stakeholders in making
informed regarding debt refinancing.

The information contained in this report is based on estimates, assumptions and other
information developed from research of the market, knowledge of the sports industries and
other factors, including certain information provided by the Louisville Arena Authority and
others. Allinformation provided to us was not audited or verified and was assumed to be correct.
Because procedures were limited, we express no opinion or assurances of any kind on the
achievability of any projected information contained herein and this report should not be relied
upon for that purpose. Furthermore, there will be differences between projected and actual
results. This is because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those
differences may be material. We have no responsibility to update this report for events and
circumstances occurring after the date of this report.

We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to assist you with this project, and would be pleased to
be of further assistance in the interpretation and application of the study’s findings.

Very truly yours,

CSL International

Conventions, Sports & Leisure International
One Cowboys Way, Suite 325  Frisco, TX 75034 ¢ Telephone 972.491.6900 * Facsimile 972.491.6903
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Executive Summary

Opened in October 2010, the KFC Yum! Center (“Arena”) is a 22,090-seat multi-purpose sports
and entertainment arena located in downtown Louisville. The state-of-the-art venue has
historically served as the home of the University of Louisville’s basketball and volleyball
programs and has also hosted a variety of concerts, sporting events, family shows, meetings,
banquets and other events.

The Louisville Arena Authority
(“Authority”) was established in 2006 for
the purpose of financing, developing and
overseeing the construction,
management and operation of the Arena
and related ancillary improvements.

Required existing bond payments are set
to increase substantially in the coming
years and, based on the current and
expected future amounts of pledged
revenues  and reserves, project
representatives anticipate that the
Authority may be unable to meet debt
payments in the future.

In anticipation of this potential shortfall
the Authority has restructured certain key
pledged-revenue agreements to generate
additional revenues and provide a much
stronger financial profile from which to
support Arena bond refinancing.

As part of the debt refinancing process, the Authority engaged Conventions, Sports & Leisure
International (“CSL”) to evaluate the feasibility of future Arena operations. Specifically, CSL:

1. Met with Authority representatives and other project stakeholders in Louisville to
develop goals and objectives for the study, review the study schedule and finalize the
scope and desired deliverables.

2. Toured the KFC Yum! Center with Arena management and other key stakeholders to gain
valuable insight into the Arena’s assets, condition and operations including management
perspectives on event marketability, revenue generation, operating efficiencies, etc.

3. Collected for review and analysis all pertinent project documentation including but not
limited to the Arena development agreement, management agreements, lease
agreements, service provider agreements, naming rights/sponsorship agreements, suite
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Executive Summary

license agreements, arena event and attendance reports, sponsorship inventory and sell-
through rates, historical and projected arena financial statements and other pertinent
information.

4. Conducted individual interviews with key Arena stakeholders representing functional
areas such as administration, finance, marketing, operations, etc. to obtain feedback on
current operations and outlook for future operations.

5. Conducted independent market research to ascertain the current and future market
conditions within which the Arena operates including, but not limited to, a review of
demographic and economic market data, arena industry trends, current and prospective
future competition in the local/regional marketplace and comparable arena
benchmarking comparisons.

6. Evaluated Category A revenues (i.e. naming rights, sponsorships and premium seating),
and conducted additional research and analyses to determine the short and long-term
market potential for these key revenues, including:

A. Conducted a detailed naming rights valuation study to determine the current
market value of naming rights for the Arena and the prospects for renewal after
the initial 10-year term with Yum! Brands. Analysis included estimates of the total
value, term and average annual value that can reasonably be expected using
commonly-accepted naming rights valuation methodologies;

B. Conducted a detailed sponsorship asset identification study to determine the
long-term value of Arena sponsorships after current agreements expire;

C. Reviewed the current sell-thru rates and contractual terms associated with
premium seating in the arena and employed various research and analytical
techniques to ascertain future market potential for premium seating to potentially
include premium seating benchmarking, penetration analyses (i.e. market
saturation analysis) and discussions with Athletics representatives regarding
prospective premium seat holder satisfaction levels, renewal intent, pricing
sensitivity, etc.

7. Developed detailed financial projections for the KFC Yum! Center that reflect the
expected terms of debt refinancing to include arena-related revenues generated to the
Authority (i.e. such as naming rights, sponsorships, suite and premium seating, and other
arena operating income) as well as expenses incurred by the Authority associated with
operations and maintenance, capital reserve and debt service to determine the ability of
the Authority to meet debt obligations each year and provide sufficient debt coverage
ratios.




Executive Summary

8. Prepared our analysis with potential NCAA sanctions on the University of Louisville men’s
basketball team in mind and conducted sensitivity analyses to reflect potential impacts of
yet-to-be-determined NCAA sanctions under various ranges of potential outcomes based
on the experiences of other collegiate programs in past similar circumstances.

The remainder of this executive summary outlines the key findings of CSL’s analysis of future
operations and financial projections for the KFC Yum! Center. The full report is available in the
offering memorandum and should be read in its entirety to obtain the background, methods and
assumptions underlying the findings.

MARKET CONDITIONS

The strength of the Louisville market in terms of its demographic and socioeconomic profile,
economic health and competitive landscape can directly impact the KFC Yum! Center
management’s ability to generate revenues that are used to support Arena debt service
payments.

Key findings from a review of Louisville market conditions include:

e Louisville’s market area (defined as its Core-Based Statistical Area (“CBSA”)) of
approximately 1.30 million residents in 2017 ranks as the 43rd—largest CBSA out of 917
market areas in the United States.

e High median ages in the local market, centered around the “45 to 64” demographic,
signals a favorable market condition for the KFC Yum! Center. An older population, with
a high share of middle-aged adults, generally has more disposable income to spend on
sports and entertainment events.

e While median incomes in the Louisville market ($52,603) are below the national average
(556,124), the area’s cost of living index (86.3) implies that the effective median income
in the Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA is approximately $61,000 (nine percent above the
national median income) when adjusted for cost of living differences (cost of living
indexed to 100).

e Louisville GDP growth has generally mirrored United States GDP growth. Since the end
of the 2008-2009 economic recession, GDP has grown at an average annual rate of 3.4
percent, while United States GDP as a whole has grown at 3.2 percent annually.

e The Louisville market has had an unemployment rate below the United States
unemployment rate in 38 of the last 43 months. Per the Bureau of Labor Statistics, the
unemployment rate in the Louisville market area is currently 5.0 percent whereas the
unemployment rate for the United States is 4.2 percent as of September 2017.
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SUPPORT PAYMENT RENEGOTIATION

As part of its due diligence, CSL reviewed restructured key pledged-revenue agreements
intended to improve the go-forward financial stability of the Arena.

Key findings from a review of the renegotiated support payments include:

e As part of the Series 2008 bond agreement, the Metro Louisville government agreed to
provide a guaranteed annual payment to service a portion of the Arena’s debt service.
The agreement committed Metro Louisville to make annual payments ranging from a
minimum of $6.5 million to a maximum of $10.8 million. In 2017, Metro Louisville agreed
to increase annual payments from its current pledge of $9.8 million to a flat $10.8 million,
effective until the earlier of full bond repayment or 2054 (the agreed-upon date of final
Metro Louisville payments). By increasing the guaranteed revenue received from Metro
Louisville, the Authority is better positioned to meet future bond repayments associated
with bond refinancing.

e The Commonwealth of Kentucky provides specified TIF revenues to service a portion of
Series 2008 bond debt service. 2017 TIF contributions were $11.2 million, and the
Commonwealth projects 2018 contributions to be $11.3 million. Beyond 2018, the
Commonwealth projects a 4.7 percent average annual growth in TIF contributions
including an approximately 2.5 percent annual growth in sales tax collections as well as
increases in property tax collections. Methodologies and assumptions behind
Commonwealth projections are detailed in the full report in Appendix: Commonwealth
TIF Projections.

e In July 2008, the Authority and the University of Louisville Athletic Association, Inc.
(“ULAA”) entered into a lease agreement for use of the KFC Yum! Center for University of
Louisville men’s and women'’s basketball games. The Authority’s master lease agreement
with ULAA allocated specific Category A (i.e. naming rights, sponsorships and premium
seating) and Category B (i.e. rent, facility fees, concessions, merchandise, among others.)
revenues to the Authority.

e |n 2017, in order to further stabilize Authority finances, the Authority and ULAA agreed
to amend their agreement such that ULAA provides the Authority with a $2.42 million
annual payment in addition to previously-determined Category A and Category B
revenues. This payment will continue until the earlier of bond retirement or 2054 (the
agreed-upon date of final ULAA payments) and will be classified under Category B
revenues.
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CATEGORY A REVENUE DUE DILIGENCE

Category A revenues that could be generated to support the KFC Yum! Center debt refinancing
were evaluated. These contractually-obligated revenues that are secured through multi-year
agreements include:

Naming Rights;
Sponsorships; and,
Premium Seating.

Key findings from an evaluation of potential Category A revenues include:

In 2010, the Authority entered into a 10-year naming rights agreement with Yum! Brands
that commenced in 2010 and expires in 2020. Given the upcoming expiration of the
current naming rights, a naming rights valuation analysis of the KFC Yum! Center was
completed to determine the market value of naming rights in 2021 and beyond.

Based on this analysis, the current market value for the naming rights fee is expected to
be $2.20 million in 2021.

In November 2017, the Authority and Learfield signed an extension agreement which is
anticipated to generate over $47 million to the arena over the term of the contract. The
new agreement replaces the final three years of the previous agreement and extends the
total term of the contract an additional seven years. The new 2018 guarantee is $3.75
million annually (an increase of $750,000 over the original agreement), increasing
$250,000 each year in 2019, 2020 and 2021. In 2022, the annual guarantee increases to
$4.65 million, escalating to $5.65 million by 2027. The average annual guarantee over the
term of the agreement is approximately $4.7 million.

It is estimated that the Authority will collect approximately $1.7 million in premium
seating revenues in 2018, derived from $7.2 million in club seat license sales, $723,000 in
loge seat license sales and $6.2 million in suite license sales.

Beyond 2018, it is estimated that premium seat sell-through rates will decrease from
historical averages as a result of yet-to-be-determined NCAA sanctions. It is estimated
that sell-through rates will decrease approximately ten percent from their historical
averages of 95 to 99 percent based on a review of other collegiate programs in past similar
circumstances.
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CATEGORY B REVENUE DUE DILIGENCE

In addition to the guaranteed ULAA payment described previously, Category B revenues that
could be generated from Arena operations to support the KFC Yum! Center debt refinancing were
evaluated. Category B revenues include all Arena revenue except contracted premium seating,
sponsorships and naming rights (Category A revenues) and are applied to debt service after
covering Arena operations and maintenance costs. Key Category B Arena revenues other than
the guaranteed annual ULAA payment include rental charges, concessions, restaurant and
merchandise sales, single event premium seating sales, and other such revenues that are subject,
in large part, to Arena event and attendance levels.

Key findings from an evaluation of potential Category B revenues include:

e |n 2012, the Authority entered into a 10-year facility management agreement with AEG
Management Louisville, LLC (“AEG”) which replaced the then-current management
agreement with the Kentucky State Fair Board (“KSFB”).

e |n 2015, the agreement between AEG and the Authority was amended and extended to
2027. The annual management fee was adjusted upwards to $700,000 and the maximum
incentive fee was adjusted downwards to $35,000. The $1.5 million Authority net profit
guarantee, which was part of the 2012 agreement with AEG, remains in effect until the
agreement’s expiration.

e Because of the recent amendment to the AEG management agreement, the Arena is
guaranteed not only $1.5 million in net profit (adjusted annually for increases in the
Consumer Price Index), but also stable venue management with the experience and
relationships necessary to continue managing tenant events and booking strong non-
tenant event activity until at least 2027.

e In 2008, the Authority and ULAA entered into a lease agreement for use of the Arena for
University of Louisville men’s and women’s basketball games. Under the terms of the
agreement, ULAA must play all men’s and women’s basketball home games at the Arena.

e Men’s basketball attendance has fluctuated less than one percent on an annual basis,
ranging from a high of 21,832 in its inaugural year at the Arena to a low of 20,846 this
past season. The 2016-2017 season attendance for ULAA men’s basketball ranked third-
highest in the NCAA.

e As a means of analyzing the impact pending sanctions might have on Louisville
attendance, attendance levels of NCAA football and basketball programs in the years
before and after NCAA sanctions were analyzed.
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e For the years after NCAA sanctions, average attendance levels were 14.6 percent below
pre-sanction levels, ranging from a high of 1.0 percent of pre-sanction attendance levels
for Miami football to a low of 40.9 percent of pre-sanction attendance levels for
University of Massachusetts (UMASS) basketball.

e |t is estimated that average attendance for men’s basketball home games will decrease
10 percent from historical levels based on the review of collegiate programs in past similar
circumstances. Ultimately, with no other professional team in the market, the University
of Louisville men’s basketball team is Louisville’s premier sports team, which could serve
to mitigate the degree of attendance impact from NCAA sanctions, relative to comparable
programs. The team’s popularity in the local and regional market has historically
weathered, and will likely continue to weather, losing seasons, poor economic conditions
and NCAA sanctions.

e The Arena has hosted between 81 and 87 non-tenant events since AEG took over facility
management. As long as AEG or a similarly-experienced management firm is in charge of
programming the Arena, average annual non-tenant event activity should remain
consistent with historical averages, with individual year event activity subject to the
number and quality of touring acts each year.

PROJECTED FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

Based on a review of historical Arena operations, terms of renegotiated support payments from
Metro Louisville and the Commonwealth of Kentucky, discussions with Arena management and
University of Louisville Athletic Association (“ULAA”) representatives, knowledge of the
marketplace, industry trends, the Authority’s plan of refinance and Category A and B revenue
due diligence, operating revenues and expenses for the Arena and Authority were estimated.

Key assumptions include, but are not limited to the following:

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to exist and serve as a quality, state-of-the-art venue
with the necessary event spaces, amenities, acoustics, stage configuration, rigging
capacities, flexible seating configurations and back-of-house space to accommodate the
needs of various types of users.

e The Louisville men’s and women’s basketball teams will continue to serve as the primary
tenants in the Arena and will remain competitive within the Atlantic Coast Conference or
similar conference.

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to be operated by AEG or another competent private
management company that has extensive industry relationships with key event
promoters and booking agents.




Executive Summary

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to be aggressively marketed, providing competitive
rental rates and co-promoting as necessary to best balance utilization and revenue
maximization.

e |tis assumed there will be no material changes in the supply or quality of existing venues
in the marketplace beyond those previously discussed in this report.

e The market will generate spending on tickets, concessions, novelties,
sponsorships/advertising and premium seating that is consistent with historical averages.

e The KFCYum! Center will continue to be conducive to providing a pleasant fan experience.

e Anadequate capital reserve will be funded to re-invest in the Arena to ensure it maintains
its revenue-generating abilities and operational efficiencies.

e Unknown future economic conditions will not adversely affect the market and its
response to Arena events.

e Assuming bonds are refinanced in fiscal year 2018, the projections presented herein begin
in 2018 and continue through 2047 (current estimate of bond retirement).

The table on the following page details estimated operating revenues and expenses associated
with the Authority in certain years of debt repayment.
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PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - BASE CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800
TIF Contribution $11,284 S$12,156 $13,142 $13,968 $15,184
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES $22,084 $22,956 $23,942 $24,768 $25,984
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues $6,838 $7,045 57,237  $8,252  $8,446
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420
Net AEG Management Revenues $1,604 S$1,615 S1,625 S$1,636  $1,648
Operating Expenses '’ (2,634)  (2,730) (2,827) (2,924) (2,991)
NET ARENA REVENUES $8,228 $8,350 $8,455 $9,384 $9,522
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE $30,313 $31,305 $32,397 $34,151 $35,506
NET DEBT SERVICE $20,158 $21,219 $21,219 $23,519 $23,907
Coverage Ratio 1.50x 1.48x 1.53x 1.45x 1.49x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $825 $1,510 $1,300 $2,350  $4,500
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.46x 1.40x 1.47x 1.35x 1.30x

(1) Excludes depreciation

Note: CapEx (capital expenditure) estimates per offering memorandum.

As shown, the Authority is projected to collect $30.3 million in net revenues available for debt

service in 2018, increasing to $35.5 million in 2022.

The table on the following page details net revenues available for debt service and debt coverage

ratios over the entire expected term of debt service.

ES-9
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PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - BASE CASE
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands
Excluding CapEx | | Including CapEx
Revenues Revenues

Available Net Available Net

for Debt Debt Coverage for Debt Debt Coverage
Year Service Service Ratio Service Service Ratio
2018 $30,313 $20,158 1.50 $29,488 $20,158 1.46
2019 $31,305 $21,219 1.48 $29,795 $21,219 1.40
2020 $32,397 $21,219 1.53 $31,097 $21,219 1.47
2021 $34,151 $23,519 1.45 $31,801 $23,519 1.35
2022 $35,506 $23,907 1.49 $31,006 $23,907 1.30
2023 $36,974 $24,135 1.53 $33,724 $24,135 1.40
2024 $38,696 $24,658 1.57 $37,096 $24,658 1.50
2025 $40,055 $25,184 1.59 $39,555 $25,184 1.57
2026 $41,186 $25,601 1.61 $41,036 $25,601 1.60
2027 $42,299 $26,107 1.62 $37,999 $26,107 1.46
2028 $43,360 $25,990 1.67 $41,360 $25,990 1.59
2029 $44,663 $26,441 1.69 $42,623 $26,441 1.61
2030 $46,084 $26,898 1.71 $44,003 $26,898 1.64
2031 $47,494 $27,363 1.74 $45,371 $27,363 1.66
2032 $48,833 $27,839 1.75 $46,668 $27,839 1.68
2033 $50,045 $28,328 1.77 $47,837 $28,328 1.69
2034 $51,232 $28,819 1.78 $48,980 $28,819 1.70
2035 $52,481 $29,321 1.79 $50,183 $29,321 1.71
2036 $53,808 $29,835 1.80 $51,465 $29,835 1.72
2037 $55,196 $30,357 1.82 $52,805 $30,357 1.74
2038 $56,573 $30,891 1.83 $54,135 $30,891 1.75
2039 $57,899 $31,432 1.84 $55,412 $31,432 1.76
2040 $59,189 $31,990 1.85 $56,652 $31,990 1.77
2041 $60,477 $32,583 1.86 $57,890 $32,583 1.78
2042 $61,803 $33,232 1.86 $59,164 $33,232 1.78
2043 $63,174 $33,902 1.86 $60,482 $33,902 1.78
2044 $64,565 $34,589 1.87 $61,819 $34,589 1.79
2045 $65,951 $35,294 1.87 $63,150 $35,294 1.79
2046 $67,318 $36,019 1.87 $64,461 $36,019 1.79
2047 $68,676 $36,761 1.87 $65,762 $36,761 1.79

As shown, net revenues are expected to cover debt service by 1.50 times in 2018 and 1.87 times
in 2047. After including capital expenditures ranging from $825,000 to $4.5 million depending
on the fiscal year, debt service coverage ratios range from 1.46 times in 2018 to 1.79 times in
2047.

ES-10
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

In order to assess potential risks to the operating performance of the Authority resulting from
potential impacts of yet-to-be-determined NCAA sanctions, a sensitivity analysis was performed.

Operating scenario estimates and deviations from the base case operating performance
presented previously were analyzed based on both the severity of potential NCAA sanctions and
their resulting impacts on Category A and B Authority revenues. Accordingly, the sensitivity
analysis included the following scenarios (descriptions of each scenario are included in the full
report):

e Stress Case Scenario;

e |ow Case Scenario;

e High Case Scenario; and,
e Summary.

The table on the following page displays the variations in Authority revenue in 2020 across all
scenarios. 2020 was selected as a stabilized year of comparison given that this will be the first
year under stress case scenario (in which the death penalty is assumed to be levied on the
Louisville men’s basketball program) assumptions when the University of Louisville’s men’s
basketball team will return to play at the KFC Yum! Center.
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SENSITIVITY SCENARIO SUMMARIES
KFC Yum! Center
% of Base Case Revenue and $ Thousands in 2020
Base Stress Low High
Case Case Case Case
GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee 100% 100% 100% 100%
TIF Contribution 100% 84% 100% 100%
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 100% 91% 100% 100%
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues 100% 36% 96% 103%
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments 100% 100% 100% 100%
Net AEG Management Revenues 100% 61% 79% 121%
Operating Expenses 100% 91% 99% 100%
NET ARENA REVENUES 100% 41% 93% 106%
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE 100% 78% 98% 102%
NET DEBT SERVICE $21,219 $21,219 S$21,219 $21,219
Coverage Ratio 1.53x 1.19x 1.50x 1.55x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $1,300 $900 $1,300 $1,300
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.47x 1.15x 1.44x 1.49x

As shown, in 2020, Category A revenues range from 36 percent of base case projections under a
stress case scenario (driven by the lack of a naming rights agreement, decreased sponsorship and
premium seat sales) to 103 percent of base case revenues under a high case scenario.

Net AEG management revenues are estimated to range from 61 percent of base case revenues
under a stress case scenario (driven by a 75 percent decrease in men’s basketball attendance
from historical averages) to 121 percent of base case revenues under a high case scenario (driven
by historical average attendance — base case assumed 90 percent of historical average).

Overall, net revenues available for debt service are estimated to fluctuate between 78 percent
of base case projections under the stress case scenario to 102 percent of base case projections
under the high case scenario. With over 70 percent of these revenues coming from governmental
revenue sources (Metro Louisville and TIF) in any scenario, the potential large fluctuations in
Category A and B revenues under various sensitivity scenarios do not have as large of an impact
on the overall financial picture of the Authority.
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1. Introduction

Opened in October 2010, the KFC Yum! Center (“Arena”) is a 22,090-seat multi-purpose sports
and entertainment arena located in downtown Louisville. The state-of-the-art venue has
historically served as the home of the University of Louisville’s basketball and volleyball programs
and has also hosted a variety of concerts, sporting events, family shows, meetings, banquets and
other events.

The Louisville Arena Authority
(“Authority”), a Kentucky non-stock, non-
profit corporation, was established in
2006 for the purpose of financing,
developing and overseeing  the
construction, management and operation
of the Arena and related ancillary
improvements.

Arena development costs were $469.4
million, inclusive of land acquisition,
relocation and financing costs as well as
costs associated with the construction of
the Arena, a 760-space parking garage
and flood wall.

The Kentucky Economic Development
Finance Authority issued a total of $349.2
million in bonds and loaned the proceeds
to the Authority to construct the Arena.
Revenues pledged toward repayment of
Arena bonds include sales, property and
income tax increment financing (“TIF”) revenue from the Commonwealth of Kentucky, a revenue
guarantee from the Metro Louisville government and revenues derived from Arena operations
including naming rights, sponsorships, suite and premium seating revenues and net operating
income (“Arena revenues”).

Revenues pledged to repay Arena debt, in particular Commonwealth TIF and Arena revenues,
have been less than was projected for financing approval. However, the pledged revenues and
reserves have been sufficient to make required bond payments to date, which have largely been
comprised of interest payments with minimal principal reduction. Required bond payments will
increase substantially in the coming years and, based on the current and expected future
amounts of pledged revenues and reserves, project representatives anticipate that the Authority
may be unable to meet debt payments in the future.

Due to this anticipated shortfall, the Authority has restructured certain key pledged-revenue
agreements to generate additional revenues and provide a much stronger financial profile from
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which to support Arena bond refinancing. It is anticipated that debt refinancing under improved
revenue conditions could result in a lower interest rate due to improved investment-grade bond
status.

As part of the debt refinancing process, the Authority engaged Conventions, Sports & Leisure
International (“CSL”) to evaluate the feasibility of future Arena operations, including certain
Arenarevenues (i.e. Category A and B revenues) that would be pledged towards debt refinancing.
Specifically, CSL:

1. Met with Authority representatives and other project stakeholders in Louisville to
develop goals and objectives for the study, review the study schedule and finalize the
scope and desired deliverables.

2. Toured the KFC Yum! Center with Arena management and other key stakeholders to gain
valuable insight into the Arena’s assets, condition and operations including management
perspectives on event marketability, revenue generation, operating efficiencies, etc.

3. Collected for review and analysis all pertinent project documentation including but not
limited to the Arena development agreement, management agreements, lease
agreements, service provider agreements, naming rights/sponsorship agreements, suite
license agreements, arena event and attendance reports, sponsorship inventory and sell-
through rates, historical and projected arena financial statements and other pertinent
information.

4. Conducted individual interviews with key Arena stakeholders representing functional
areas such as administration, finance, marketing, operations, etc. to obtain feedback on
current operations and outlook for future operations.

5. Conducted independent market research to ascertain the current and future market
conditions within which the Arena operates including, but not limited to, a review of
demographic and economic market data, arena industry trends, current and prospective
future competition in the local/regional marketplace and comparable arena
benchmarking comparisons.

6. Evaluated Category A revenues (i.e. naming rights, sponsorships and premium seating),
and conducted additional research and analyses to determine the short and long-term
market potential for these key revenues, including:

A. Conducted a detailed naming rights valuation study to determine the current
market value of naming rights for the Arena and the prospects for renewal after
the initial 10-year term with Yum! Brands. Analysis included estimates of the total
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value, term and average annual value that can reasonably be expected using
commonly-accepted naming rights valuation methodologies;

B. Conducted a detailed sponsorship asset identification study to determine the
long-term value of Arena sponsorships after current agreements expire;

C. Reviewed the current sell-thru rates and contractual terms associated with
premium seating in the arena and employed various research and analytical
techniques to ascertain future market potential for premium seating to potentially
include premium seating benchmarking, penetration analyses (i.e. market
saturation analysis) and discussions with Athletics representatives regarding
prospective premium seat holder satisfaction levels, renewal intent, pricing
sensitivity, etc.

7. Developed detailed financial projections for the KFC Yum! Center that reflect the
expected terms of debt refinancing to include arena-related revenues generated to the
Authority (i.e. such as naming rights, sponsorships, suite and premium seating, and other
arena operating income) as well as expenses incurred by the Authority associated with
operations and maintenance, capital reserve and debt service to determine the ability of
the Authority to meet debt obligations each year and provide sufficient debt coverage
ratios.

8. Prepared our analysis with potential NCAA sanctions on the University of Louisville men’s
basketball team in mind and conducted sensitivity analyses (included in Section 7 —
Sensitivity Analysis) to reflect potential impacts of yet to be determined NCAA sanctions
under various ranges of potential outcomes based on the experiences of other collegiate
programs in past similar circumstances.

The remainder of this report outlines the key findings of the analysis of future operations and
financial projections for the KFC Yum! Center. This report should be read in its entirety to obtain
the background, methods and assumptions underlying the findings.
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2. Market Conditions

The strength of the Louisville market in terms of its demographic and socioeconomic profile,
economic health and competitive landscape can directly impact the KFC Yum! Center
management’s ability to generate revenues that are used to support Arena debt service
payments. Accordingly, this section analyzes the following key market conditions in the Louisville
metropolitan area:

e Demographic and Socioeconomic Profile:
o Population and Growth;
o Age;
o Household Income;
e Economic Outlook:
o Gross Domestic Product;
o Unemployment; and,
e Competition.

The demographic and
socioeconomic data
presented in this
section is based on

the Louisville
metropolitan  area.
The Louisville

metropolitan area is
defined as the
Louisville/Jefferson
County Core-Based
Statistical Area
(“CBSA”).

A CBSA is a US.

geographic area

defined by the U.S.

Office of

Management and A% ¥

Budget based around |8 R LA . ; w;“_«m-\{

[

an urban center of at
least 10,000 people
and adjacent areas
that are socioeconomically tied to the urban center by commuting. A large portion of Arena
attendees, ticket sales, premium seating, and corporate partners originate from within the
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA, shown in the map above.

@/ 4
CSH



2. Market Conditions

DEMOGRAPHIC AND SOCIOECONOMIC PROFILE

The strength of the Arena’s market in terms of its ability to attract events, draw spectators, and
generate revenues is measured, in part, by its demographic and socioeconomic characteristics.
Specific characteristics analyzed herein include:

o Population and Growth;

e Age; and,
e Household Income.

Population and Growth

Market size, in terms of population, can indicate the ability of the local and regional areas to
support the KFC Yum! Center. Event promoters consider the population of a market a key
factor in determining which cities to route touring acts.

The table below provides historical, current, and projected population levels in the
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA compared to the United States as a whole.

POPULATION AND POPULATION GROWTH
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA

Louisville United

CBSA States

2010 Population 1,235,708 308,745,538
2017 Population 1,296,400 327,514,334
2022 Population 1,341,113 341,323,594
Historical CAGR (2010 to 2017) 0.69% 0.85%
Projected CAGR (2017 to 2022) 0.68% 0.83%
2017 Households 518,677 123,158,887

Note: CAGR = Compound Annual Growth Rate.

Source: Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI).

Since 2010, the population of the Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA has increased at 0.69
percent annually which is slightly below the national average population growth rate of 0.85
percent. The projected future population growth rate of 0.68 percent annually from 2017 to
2022 is also slightly below the national average of 0.83 percent. By 2022, the
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA is projected to reach 1.34 million residents.

Louisville’s market area of approximately 1.30 million residents in 2017 ranks as the 43"
largest CBSA out of 917 market areas in the United States. The table on the following page
depicts Louisville’s population comparted to the top 100 CBSAs in the United States.
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TOP 100 CBSAS
2017 Population
Rank Metro Area Population Rank Metro Area Population
1 New York, NY 20,153,634 51 Rochester, NY 1,078,879
2 Los Angeles, CA 13,310,447 52 Grand Rapids, Ml 1,047,099
3 Chicago, IL 9,512,999 53 Tucson, AZ 1,016,206
4 Dallas, TX 7,233,323 54 Honolulu, HI 992,605
5 Houston, TX 6,772,470 55 Tulsa, OK 987,201
6 Washington, DC 6,131,977 56 Fresno, CA 979,915
7 Philadelphia, PA 6,070,500 57 Bridgeport, NJ 944,177
8 Miami, FL 6,066,387 58 Worcester, MA 935,781
9 Atlanta, GA 5,789,700 59 Omaha, NE 924,129
10 Boston, MA 4,794,447 60 Albuquerque, NM 909,906
11 San Francisco, CA 4,679,166 61 Greenville, SC 884,975
12 Phoenix, AZ 4,661,537 62 Bakersfield, CA 884,788
13 Riverside/San Bernardino, CA 4,527,837 63 Albany, NY 881,839
14 Detroit, Ml 4,297,617 64 Knoxville, TN 868,546
15 Seattle, WA 3,798,902 65 New Haven, CT 856,875
16 Minneapolis, MN 3,551,036 66 McAllen, TX 849,843
17 San Diego, CA 3,317,749 67 Oxnard, CA 849,738
18 Tampa, CA 3,032,171 68 El Paso, TX 841,971
19 Denver, FL 2,853,077 69 Allentown, PA 835,652
20 St. Louis, MO 2,807,002 70 Baton Rouge, LA 835,175
21 Baltimore, MD 2,798,886 71 Columbia, SC 817,488
22 Charlotte, NC 2,474,314 72 Dayton, OH 800,683
23 Orlando, FL 2,441,257 73 North Port, FL 788,457
24 San Antonio, TX 2,429,609 74 Charleston, SC 761,155
25 Portland, OR 2,424,955 75 Greensboro, NC 756,139
26 Pittsburgh, PA 2,342,299 76 Little Rock, AR 734,622
27 Sacramento, CA 2,296,418 77 Stockton, CA 733,709
28 Cincinnati, OH 2,165,139 78 Cape Coral, FL 722,336
29 Las Vegas, NV 2,155,664 79 Colorado Springs, CO 712,327
30 Kansas City, MO/KS 2,104,509 80 Akron, OH 702,221
31 Austin, TX 2,056,405 81 Boise City, ID 691,423
32 Cleveland, OH 2,055,612 82 Lakeland, FL 666,149
33 Columbus, OH 2,041,520 83 Winston, NC 662,079
34 Indianapolis, IN 2,004,230 84 Syracuse, NY 656,510
35 San Jose, CA 1,978,816 85 Ogden, UT 654,417
36 Nashville, TN 1,865,298 86 Madison, WI 648,929
37 Virginia Beach, VA 1,726,907 87 Wichita, KS 644,672
38 Providence, RI 1,614,750 88 Deltona, FL 637,674
39 Milwaukee, WI 1,572,482 89 Des Moines, IA 634,725
40 Jacksonville, FL 1,478,212 90 Springfield, MA 630,283
41 Oklahoma City, OK 1,373,211 91 Toledo, OH 605,221
42 Memphis, TN 1,342,842 92 Provo, UT 603,309
43 Louisville, KY 1,296,400 93 Augusta, GA 594,919
44 Raleigh, NC 1,295,946 94 Jackson, MS 579,229
45 Richmond, VA 1,281,708 95 Melbourne, FL 579,130
46 New Orleans, LA 1,268,883 96 Harrisburg, PA 568,033
47 Hartford, CT 1,206,836 97 Durham, NC 559,535
48 Salt Lake City, UT 1,186,187 98 Spokane, WA 556,634
49 Birmingham, AL 1,147,417 99 Scranton, PA 555,225
50 Buffalo, NY 1,132,804 100 Chattanooga, TN 551,632
Source: Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI).
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Age

In general, sports and entertainment events
attract patrons of various ages, with the
core group of attendees clustered between

AGE
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA

the ages of 25 and 64. Therefore, it is

. R Louisville United
|mporta.nt .to analyze the age dlstrlbutlo.n in CBSA States
the Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA, since '

it can serve as an indicator of the strength of 2017 Median Age 39.6 38.2
. . - Under 25 30.6% 32.1%

the market in terms of its ability to generate
. 25to 44 26.3% 26.4%

demand for sports and entertainment
events in the core demographic markets oot 27:3% 222
grap ’ 65 and older 15.8% 15.6%

The table on the right summarizes the Source: Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI).

median age and age distribution around the
KFC Yum! Center, relative to the United States.

The Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA has a median age of 39.6 which is slightly older than the
national median age of 38.2. The higher median age in the Louisville market is driven by
differences in the age distribution breakdown. Louisville has a higher proportion of residents
in the “45 to 64” demographic (27.3 percent compared to 25.9 percent) and a lower
proportion of “Under 25” residents relative to the United States (30.6 percent compared to
32.1 percent).

The higher median ages in the local market, especially around the “45 to 64” demographic,
signals a favorable market condition for the KFC Yum! Center. An older population, especially
with a higher share of middle-aged adults, generally has more disposable income to spend on
sports and entertainment events.

Household Income

Household income can indicate the ability of local market residents to allocate discretionary
spending towards the purchase of tickets, concessions, merchandise, parking, and other such
items associated with attending sports and entertainment events at the KFC Yum! Center.

The table on the following page summarizes the median household income and income
distribution of the Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA, relative to the United States.




2. Market Conditions

HOUSEHOLD INCOME
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA

Louisville United

CBSA States

2017 Median Household Income $52,603 $56,124
Under $25K 22.1% 21.5%
$25K to $49.9K 25.0% 22.7%
S50K to $74.9K 18.9% 17.8%
S75K to $99.9K 12.4% 12.4%
S100K to $149.9K 12.8% 13.9%
S$150K or more 8.8% 11.7%

Source: Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI).

The Louisville market has a median household income of $52,603 which is six percent lower
than the median income of the United States as a whole ($56,124). The lower median
household incomes in the Louisville market are driven by a higher proportion of residents
with median incomes below $50,000 than the U.S. average (47.1 percent compared to 44.2
percent) and a lower proportion of residents with median incomes greater than $100,000
relative to the U.S. average (21.6 percent compared to 25.6 percent).

Louisville’s cost of living index is 86.3, which implies that the cost of goods and services in the
local market are approximately 14 percent below the national average price for the same
goods and services.

While median incomes in the Louisville market are below the national average, the cost of
living index implies that the effective median income in the Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA
is approximately $61,000 (9 percent above the national median income) when adjusted for
cost of living differences.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

It is important to consider the overall economic health of Louisville when considering future
financial operations of the Arena. Economic conditions measured in this report include:

e Gross Domestic Product; and,
e Unemployment.
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Gross Domestic Product

Gross domestic product (GDP) measures the total value of all goods produced in a specified
area. GDP is one of the primary indicators used by economists, investors and policy makers
to gauge the health of an economy.

The chart below illustrates GDP growth in Louisville relative to the United States from 2002
to 2015 (the most recent years available at the time of this report).

GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT GROWTH
Louisville/Jefferson County CBSA
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1.0%
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GDP Growth

-1.0%

— — United States
-2.0% GDP Growth

-3.0%
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Source: Federal Reserve Economic Data (FRED).

Overall, Louisville GDP growth has generally mirrored U.S. GDP growth. The economic
recession in 2008 and 2009 was one of the most severe recessions in the United States in
modern times. In the years leading up to the most recent recession, annual GDP growth in
Louisville was between approximately three to six percent. GDP experienced a short-lived
negative growth of up to 2.5 percent during the 2008 — 2009 recession before rebounding to
pre-recession levels.

Since the end of the 2008-2009 economic recession, GDP has grown at an average annual
rate of 3.4 percent, while the U.S. GDP as a whole has grown at 3.2 percent annually.
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Unemployment Rate

A market’s unemployment rate can also indicate the relative strength of the local economy.
The chart below illustrates the unemployment rate in Louisville relative to the United States
over the last 27 years.

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE
Loulsville/Jefferson County CBSA

13.0%

Louisville Metro
12.0% § E Unemplayment
United States

Unemployment

11.0% e

10.0%

9.0%

8.0%

7.0%

6.0%

5.0%

Source: Bureau of Labor Statisties.

Overall, unemployment has generally mirrored the U.S. unemployment rate with lower
unemployment rates since the last recession in 2008-2009, indicating a relatively healthy
economy compared to the United States as a whole.

Since 2014, the Louisville market has had an unemployment rate below the U.S.
unemployment rate in 38 of the last 43 months. Per the Bureau of Labor Statistics, the
unemployment rate in the Louisville market area is 5.0 percent whereas the unemployment
rate for the United States is 4.2 percent as of September 2017.

COMPETITION

The operations of the KFC Yum! Center is impacted, to some degree, by the number and type of
facilities, locally and regionally, competing for the limited supply of events, spectators, and
corporate base within the marketplace. As such, it is important to identify existing arenas in the
local and regional area that could provide some level of competition to the KFC Yum! Center in




2. Market Conditions

terms of its ability to attract events and/or the discretionary spending of local and regional
residents and corporations.

Based on discussions with Arena management and a review of local and regional market facilities,
the following competitive arenas were identified as primary competition: Bankers Life Fieldhouse
(Indianapolis, IN), Ford Center (Evansville, IN), Rupp Arena (Lexington, KY), Freedom Hall
(Louisville, KY), Fifth Third Arena (Cincinnati, OH), BB&T Arena (Highland Heights, KY), U.S. Bank
Arena (Cincinnati, OH) and Broadbent Arena (Louisville, KY). The table below provides an
overview of the competitive landscape in which the KFC Yum! Center operates.

COMPETITIVE ARENAS
KFC Yum! Center
CBSA Median

Year Seating CBSA Household
Facility Location Opened Capacity Population Income
KFC Yum! Center Louisville, KY 2010 22,090 1,296,400 $52,603
U.S. Bank Arena'") Cincinnati, OH 1975 17,500 2,202,268 $57,874
BB&T Arena Highland Heights, KY 2008 9,400 2,202,268 $57,874
Fifth Third Arena'” Cincinnati, OH 1989 13,176 2,202,268 $57,874
Bankers Life Fieldhouse(3) Indianapolis, IN 1999 18,165 2,038,559 $55,500
Freedom Hall Louisville, KY 1956 19,200 1,296,400 $52,603
Broadbent Arena Louisville, KY 1974 6,600 1,296,400 $52,603
Rupp Arena'” Lexington, KY 1976 23,500 507,802 $53,191
Ford Center Evansville, IN 2011 11,000 320,704 $50,204
(1) Currently in planning process ofa proposed $370 million+renovation.
(2) Recently completed an $87 million renovation.
(3) Currently in planning process ofa $100 million+renovation.
(4) Currently in planning process ofa $265 million renovation.

There are a number of competitive arenas that KFC Yum! Center management has successfully
competed against during its first seven years of operations. Arena management will need to
continue to be competitive in terms of its event offerings, ticket prices and promoter rebates to
remain competitive in the regional market, especially as a number of the identified competitors
are in the midst of, or will soon begin, large-scale modernization efforts.

Conversations with promoters who have used the Arena in the past indicated generally positive
attitudes regarding Arena experiences and a ready willingness to utilize the venue in the future,
pending future tour details. KFC Yum! Center is the only state-of-the-art venue in the Louisville
area, giving the Arena a platform to compete for events effectively. Since AEG’s management
takeover, the Arena has sold, on average, the 54™ most concert tickets of all arenas worldwide,
per industry publication Pollstar. Other local arenas including Freedom Hall and Broadbent Arena
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2. Market Conditions

lack many of the modern fan-experience amenities and revenue generating capabilities that the
Arena offers, making the KFC Yum! Center the Louisville market’s leading arena destination.

In addition to competitive arenas in the local marketplace, there are a number of other existing
or planned sports and entertainment facilities in the local market that the Arena competes
against for the discretionary spending of local residents and the entertainment and marketing
dollars of local corporations. These facilities include:

e [roquois Amphitheater (2,400-seat outdoor performing arts venue);

e PapaJohn’s Cardinal Stadium (home of the University of Louisville’s football program);

e Louisville Slugger Field (home of the Louisville Bats AAA minor league baseball franchise);
e Proposed soccer-specific stadium (home of Louisville City FC); and,

e Churchill Downs (home of the annual Kentucky Derby horse race).

The magnitude of sports and entertainment venues in the immediate market area will continue
to stretch discretionary income spending, corporate sponsorship opportunities and premium
sales. While Arena management has successfully navigated this local / regional competitive
environment since opening in 2010, Arena management will need to continue to consider these
market pressures in setting future rental rates and deal structures to continue to attract event
and attendance levels consistent with its historical performance.

3k %k %k 3k %k %k %k %k %k k

The local market conditions of the KFC Yum! Center are considered together with terms of
renegotiated support payments and Category A and B revenue due diligence to evaluate the
feasibility of future Arena operations.
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3. Support Payment Renegotiation

The purpose of this section is to review restructured key pledged-revenue agreements intended
to improve the go-forward financial stability of the Arena. This section is divided into the
following subsections:

e Metro Louisville Payments;
e Commonwealth of Kentucky TIF Contributions; and,
e ULAA Payments.

METRO LOUISVILLE PAYMENTS METRO LOUISVILLE
Past Payments

As part of the Series 2008 bond agreement, the Metro Louisville $ Thousands

government agreed to provide a guaranteed annual payment to

service a portion of the Arena’s debt service. The agreement | piscal Actual

committed Metro Louisville to make annual payments ranging from (1)

Year Payments
a minimum of $6.5 million to a maximum of $10.8 million. Actual
Metro Louisville payments are detailed in the table on the right. 2010 $3,297

2011 $6,533
As part of an effort to alleviate future bond payment shortfalls, | 2012 $9,800
Metro Louisville agreed, in 2017, to increase annual payments toa | 2013 $9,800
flat $10.8 million, effective until the earlier of full bond repayment | 2014 $9,800
or 2054 (the agreed-upon date of final Metro Louisville payments). | 2015 $9,800

2016 $9,800

L AA audited financials.

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY TIF CONTRIBUTIONS

The Commonwealth of Kentucky provides specified TIF revenues to service a portion of Series
2008 bond debt service. TIF revenues were pledged over 20 years with a $265 million cap and
were primarily derived from incremental Commonwealth sales and property tax revenues within
a six-square mile district encompassing Metro Louisville’s central business area, the Arena site
and adjacent development areas. Incremental income tax revenues derived from the Arena site
were also included in this TIF pledge.

In 2013, the Commonwealth condensed the TIF district to a two-square mile area after it was
determined that the elimination of four square miles south of the current TIF district would
produce greater tax increments. In March 2017, the Commonwealth agreed to extend the life of
the TIF for an additional 25 years and remove the $265 million cap.

2017 TIF contributions were $11.2 million, while the Commonwealth has projected 2018
contributions to be $11.3 million. From 2019 through the term of indebtedness, the
Commonwealth projects a 4.7 percent average annual growth in TIF contributions ranging from
0.4 percent to 9.0 percent. These include an approximately 2.5 percent annual growth in sales

@, 13



3. Support Payment Renegotiation

tax collections as well as increases in property tax collections. Methodologies and assumptions
behind Commonwealth projections are detailed in Appendix: Commonwealth TIF Projections.

ULAA PAYMENTS

In July 2008, the Arena Authority and the University of Louisville Athletic Association, Inc.
(“ULAA”) entered into a lease agreement for use of the KFC Yum! Center for University of
Louisville men’s and women'’s basketball games. At the time of the Series 2008 bond issuance,
the Authority’s master lease agreement with ULAA allocated specific Category A (i.e. naming
rights, sponsorships and premium seating) and Category B (i.e. rent, facility fees, concessions,
merchandise, among others) revenues to the Authority.

In 2017, in order to further stabilize Authority finances, the Authority and ULAA agreed to amend
their agreement such that ULAA provides the Authority with an annual payment in addition to
previously-determined Category A and Category B revenues. This $2.42 million annual payment
includes no escalators and will be due beginning in 2017 and will continue until the earlier of
bond retirement or 2054 (the agreed-upon date of final ULAA payments). This payment is
anticipated to be directed toward Category B revenues.

As a means of providing revenue to ULAA to cover the payment, the Authority authorized an
optional facility fee escalator for ULAA men’s basketball tickets. While the S2 facility fee currently
applied to tickets sold for men’s basketball games will continue to flow directly to the Authority,
ULAA now has the option to raise the fee to a maximum of S8 per ticket sold for men’s basketball
games and collect the incremental fee above $2 per ticket.

3k 3k 3k 3k %k ok %k kok ok

Support payment renegotiation is considered together with local market conditions and Category
A and B revenue due diligence to evaluate the feasibility of future Arena operations.
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4. Category A Revenue Due Diligence

The purpose of this section of the report is to evaluate the potential Category A revenues that
could be generated to support the KFC Yum! Center debt refinancing. Category A revenues
consist of contractually-obligated revenues that are secured through multi-year agreements,
including:

e Naming Rights;
e Sponsorships; and,
e Premium Seating.

The remainder of this section provides an overview of each Category A revenue including due
diligence to support estimates of future revenues.

NAMING RIGHTS REVENUES

In 2010, the Louisville Arena Authority (“Authority”) entered into a 10-year naming rights
agreement with Yum! Brands that commenced in 2010 and expires in 2020. The agreement
required an annual payment by Yum! Brands of $1.3 million for the first five years, thereafter
escalating at two percent annually for the final five years of the agreement. Yum! Brands has an
exclusive Right of First Negotiation with the Authority as long as it submits a written offer prior
to October 1, 2018.

Given the expiration of the current naming rights agreement in 2020, a naming rights valuation
analysis of the KFC Yum! Center was completed to determine the market value of naming rights
in 2021 and beyond. The following pages provide an overview of the naming rights industry, as
well as the anticipated value of the rights and benefits associated with KFC Yum! Center in the
Louisville marketplace.

Overview

Naming rights partnerships are agreements in which a company places its name or logo
on a specific venue (e.g. KFC Yum! Center), and in return, pays an annual fee to venue
management. Regional examples of naming rights partnerships besides the KFC Yum!
Center include Papa John’s Cardinal Stadium, Kroger Field at the University of Kentucky,
BB&T Arena at Northern Kentucky University, Fifth-Third Bank Arena at the University of
Cincinnati, U.S. Bank Arena in Cincinnati, and Houchen Industries-L.T. Smith Stadium at
Western Kentucky University.

Typically, these types of deals are done on a more intermediate or long-term basis (e.g.
20 to 30 years), while renewals typically are done on shorter terms (i.e. 10 years or less).
Along with the naming of the facility, a naming rights partner typically receives a variety
of exposure opportunities, including landmarks, scoreboard signage, exterior facility
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signage, digital marquee signage, directional signage, opportunities for activation and
product sampling, hospitality benefits, inclusion in the venue’s media buy and editorial
media coverage.

Benefits of Naming Rights

The growth in naming rights can be attributed to facilities and teams looking for new
revenues. As properties put a greater emphasis on the importance of naming rights,
decision-makers at corporations began to see naming rights as an effective method for
achieving specific marketing objectives.

Naming rights marketing is particularly valuable because of its effectiveness in introducing
new products, helping new or established products contend with competitive brands, and
increasing corporate brand awareness. However, the real value lies in the borrowed
imagery of a property and the unique media exposure a brand receives through the
agreement. A corporation’s ability to associate their brand directly to a team, facility or
event is an important component in the value of naming rights agreements.

Key Determinants of Value

The naming rights value the KFC Yum! Center will be able to command when its
management signs an extension or new agreement depends, in large part, on the
following factors:

Comparable Deals:

e A potential partner will analyze comparable deals in collegiate athletics and
other sports industries throughout North America.

Market Size and Media Coverage:

e Sponsors are willing to pay more for naming rights for arenas that generate a
considerable amount of media coverage — from TV, radio, print and online.
Larger markets typically generate greater exposure for a naming rights
partner.

Broadcast Exposure:
e National broadcast exposure is often available to successful tenant teams and

those in large markets. Sponsors are willing to pay a premium for naming
rights to facilities that receive a high degree of such broadcast exposure.
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Newness of the Facility:

e New arenas can command higher naming rights fees; these facilities tend to
be state-of-the-art and architecturally significant. Properties can face
obstacles in renaming older facilities that have been known by a certain name
for an extended period of time.

Number of Events:

e The more events hosted at a facility on an annual basis, the greater the
attendance, the more value to a naming rights partner. The type of events
hosted at an arena can also impact the amount a venue can command for
naming rights.

Historical Success:

e A tenant team’s historical success (i.e. number of playoff/tournament
appearances) typically has an impact on the overall value of a venue’s naming
rights.

Qualitative Value:

e (Qualitative facility factors provide corporations opportunities to align their
brand with the image, emotions, popularity and lifestyle of a property.

Comparable Benchmarks

As a means of determining the potential value of naming rights at the KFC Yum! Center,
we reviewed naming rights agreements of comparable facilities including collegiate
facilities, other major regional and national arenas and NBA facilities.

Collegiate Arenas

There are over 60 collegiate sports facilities in the United States with a naming
rights partner. The table on the following page shows public information for the
top 11 collegiate naming rights agreements including the average term length,
average annual fee, and the total amount of a contract.

17
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COMPARABLE NAMING RIGHTS AGREEMENTS
Collegiate Arenas
S Thousands

FirstYear Total Term Annual
Rank Venue Name School of Deal Amount  (Years) Fee
1 State Farm Center Illinois 2013  $60,000 30 $2,000
2 Save Mart Center Fresno State 2003  $40,000 20 $2,000
3 Wintrust Arena DePaul 2017 $22,000 15 $1,467
4 KFC Yum! Center Louisville 2010 $13,500 10 $1,350
5 Alaska Airlines Arena Washington 2011 $6,100 5 $1,220
6 Dreamstyle Arena New Mexico 2017 $10,000 10 $1,000
7 Xfinity Center Maryland 2002  $25,000 25 $1,000
8 Allstate Arena DePaul 1999 $10,000 10 $1,000
9 United Supermarkets Arena Texas Tech 1999 $9,450 10 $945
10 Dunkin' Donuts Arena Providence 2001 $8,300 10 $830
11 Island Federal Credit Union Arena Stony Brook 2014 $7,000 10 $700
AVERAGE 2008 $19,214 14 $1,228
MEDIAN 2010 $10,000 10 $1,000

The average naming rights deal for collegiate arenas was approximately $19.2
million or $1.2 million annually with an average 14-year term. While it is
important to consider collegiate comparator, the current corporate naming rights
agreement for the KFC Yum! Center outperforms all but three collegiate arenas.
In addition, the facility’s capacity and event activity are more consistent with other
major non-professional arenas in North America.

Major Arenas with No Professional Tenants

Another potential comparative set are the naming rights agreements of other
major regional and national arenas that support a large number of non-tenant
events like concerts, family shows, and other sporting events, similar to the KFC
Yum! Center. The table on the following page details the naming rights
agreements of other major arenas with no professional tenants.

18
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COMPARABLE NAMING RIGHTS AGREEMENTS

Major Arenas with No Professional Tenants

$ Thousands

First Year Total Term Annual
Rank Venue Name Location of Deal Amount  (Years) Fee
1 Sprint Center Kansas City, MO 2005  $42,500 25 $1,700
2 Allstate Arena Rosemont, IL 2002  $11,000 10 $1,100
3 Ricoh Coliseum Toronto, ON 2003  $10,000 10 $1,000
4 CenturyLink Center Omaha, NE 2003  $14,000 15 $933
5 Xfinity Center College Park, MD 2002  $20,000 25 $800
6 Denny Sanford PREMIER Center Sioux Falls, SD 2014  $18,750 25 $750
7 Sears Centre Hoffman Estates, IL 2006 $6,000 10 $600
8 Wells Fargo Arena Des Moines, |A 2010 $11,500 20 $575
9 BOK Center Tulsa, OK 2008 $11,000 20 $550
10 DCU Center Worcester, MA 2005 $5,200 10 $520
KFC YUM! CENTER 2010 $13,500 10 $1,350
AVERAGE 2006 $14,995 17 $853
MEDIAN 2005 $11,250 18 $775

These deals are closer in size to collegiate venues with naming rights agreements
ranging from $5.2 million to $42.5 million (average of $15.0 million) or

approximately $853,000 annually on average.

NBA Arenas

Given the national exposure of the Louisville men’s basketball program as well as
high profile non-tenant events such as NCAA tournament games, concerts and
family shows, the KFC Yum! Center’s event activity more closely resembles single-
tenant NBA arenas. The table on the following page details current single-tenant
NBA arena naming rights agreements.

19
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COMPARABLE NAMING RIGHTS AGREEMENTS
Single-Tenant NBA Arenas
$ Thousands

Total Term Annual
Rank Venue Name NBA Team Amount  (Years) Fee
1 Chase Center Golden State Warriors $300,000 20 $15,000
2 Barclays Center Brooklyn Nets $200,000 20 $10,000
3 Philips Arena Atlanta Hawks $185,000 20 $9,250
4 Golden 1 Center Sacramento Kings $120,000 20 $6,000
5 Toyota Center Houston Rockets $95,000 20 $4,750
6 FedEx Forum Memphis Grizzlies $82,000 20 $4,100
7 Smoothie King Arena New Orleans Pelicans $40,000 10 $4,000
8 Amway Center Orlando Magic $40,000 10 $4,000
9 Moda Center Portland Trail Blazers $40,000 10 $4,000
10 Chesapeake Energy Arena Oklahoma City Thunder $42,000 12 $3,500
11 Talking Stick Resort Arena Phoenix Suns $35,000 10 $3,500
12 Vivint Smart Home Arena Utah Jazz $30,000 10 $3,000
13 American Airlines Arena Miami Heat $42,000 20 $2,100
14 AT&T Center San Antonio Spurs $41,000 20 $2,050
15 Bankers Life Fieldhouse Indiana Pacers $40,000 20 $2,000
16 Target Center Minnesota Timberwolves $25,000 20 $1,250
17 BMO Harris Bradley Center Milwaukee Bucks $7,027 6 $1,171
KFC YUM! CENTER $13,500 10 $1,350
AVERAGE $80,237 16 $4,687
MEDIAN $41,000 20 $4,000

As shown, the average naming rights deal for single-tenant NBA venues was
approximately $80.2 million or $4.7 million annually with an average 16-year
term. These terms of significantly higher than comparable collegiate venues given
the national exposure and visibility of NBA franchises which commands for value
to potential naming rights partners. The KFC Yum! Center’s current deal would
rank 16™ out of 17 current single-tenant NBA naming rights deals.

Naming Rights Valuation Components

In order to properly assess the naming rights value, quantitative and qualitative factors
are considered together to arrive at an exposure-based analysis of the fair market value

of sponsorship assets. The analysis considers the following components:

e Exterior signage;
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e On-site exposure;

e Earned media;

e Paid media; and,

e Television and radio exposure.

The following pages define each of these components. It should be noted that the
estimates presented herein account for the potential impact of pending NCAA sanctions
on naming rights value. Specifically, the naming rights analysis assumes the following
adjustments to key metrics used to determine the value of naming rights:

e Ten percent decrease in Louisville basketball attendance from historical
averages;

e Twenty percent decrease in earned media stories;

e Twenty percent decrease in average viewers and the loss of national TV
games; and,

e Decrease in the qualitative value or prestige of the property.

Exterior Signage

Exterior signage refers to the exposure a facility receives year-round from vehicular and
pedestrian traffic. Exterior branding seen outside the Arena includes facade, marquee
and directional signage. Impressions, a key determinant of naming rights value, are
influenced by signage locations, size and quantities, summarized in the table on the right.
Impressions are also a function of the daily vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the
Arena and its exterior signage.

In total, vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the Arena would generate over 61 million
annual impressions for a potential naming rights partner.

On-Site Exposure

On-site exposure refers to the exposure sponsors receive via venue attendees. This
visibility may include sponsor ID on iconic landmarks, static signage, LED or video boards
and numerous other forms of signage.

On-site exposure is determined by the various events held at the arena. On-site signage
for a naming rights partner is based on signage locations, size and quantities and valued
between $0.35 and $S0.65 per impression, depending on event type.

Through events held at the Arena, over 860,000 annual impressions would be generated
for a potential naming rights partner.
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Earned Media

Earned media refers to the amount of naming rights sponsor media coverage generated
through local, regional and national editorial media. Included in this category is
television, radio, print and Internet/social media editorial exposure.

To calculate impressions, naming rights sponsor exposure from July 2016 to June 2017 at
the KFC Yum! Center was analyzed and a 20 percent reduction to account for pending
NCAA sanction was applied. In total, traditional and social media would generate nearly
580 million annual impressions for a potential naming rights partner.

Paid Media

Paid media refers to a sponsor’s inclusion in a property’s media buy. This can include
print, television, radio and Internet purchased by the property, or provided by its media
co-sponsors, including sponsor ID. The media buy may also include sponsor ID in audited,
property-controlled publications such as event programs. Since ID is less value than
advertisement, a discount was applied to the advertising buy. Paid media also includes
sponsor ID on each team website, including banner ads, presenting sponsorship and
sponsor videos. It also includes naming rights to the Arena website and mentions on
social media. In addition to print exposure, the naming rights partner would be included
in various mailings.

A potential sponsor would also receive naming rights to the Arena’s website (currently
KFCYumCenter.com) and text inclusion on GoCards.com, the website for University of
Louisville athletics. In addition, a sponsor would be tagged on the social media platforms
for both the arena and Louisville Athletics. Impressions are valued at $10 to $15 CPM for
websites and $0.01 to $0.05 for social media.

In total, over 195 million impressions would be generated from paid media for a naming
rights partner.

Television and Radio Exposure

Television and radio exposure refers to sponsor ID or mentions in event television and
radio broadcasts. This exposure occurs during broadcasts of University of Louisville
basketball games. For television, the naming rights sponsor may receive in-broadcast
exposure via text graphics, signage and audio mentions. For radio, the sponsor would
receive audio mentions only.
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To determine the amount of in-broadcast exposure a naming rights sponsor would
receive, a sample of broadcasts from Louisville basketball games were analyzed.

To determine impressions, the seconds of exposure were multiplied by the number of
broadcasts and the average viewers/listeners per broadcast. The product is divided by 30
to represent the impressions generated through equivalent 30-second units. Given
pending NCAA sanctions, the number of nationally televised men’s basketball games was
decreased and average viewership was decreased by 20 percent.

Television and radio exposure at the KFC Yum! Center would generate over 430 million
annual impressions for a naming rights sponsor.

Hospitality
Hospitality benefits are standard NAMING RIGHTS HOSPITALITY BENEFITS
in almost every naming rights KFC Yum! Center
package. The table on the right
details a projected list of Packaged
rights sponsor would receive as ) o

t of its relationshio with the Suites for Louisville Basketball 2 $180,000
par P Use of Facility 2 $10,000
Arena.

TOTAL VALUE $190,000

A total value of $190,000 in
hospitality is projected for a potential naming rights sponsor.

Qualitative Value

Qualitative value refers to qualitative benefits that a sponsor receives, such as community
goodwill, audience loyalty and property prestige. The marketplace premium is almost
always the driving force behind naming rights and typically accounts for a significant
portion of the total value of a deal. This is the most subjective category evaluated and is
based on research of the value that corporations place on a property’s image, as well as
our evaluation experience.

The potential qualitative value for naming rights to the Arena are estimated to be 25
percent of the sponsor benefits (net of hospitality). The following factors were ranked on
a scale of one to five with five being the highest and one being the lowest. The results
provide the qualitative value of naming the Arena.
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e Facility Condition: 50f5

e Prestige of Property: 4 0of 5

e Community Goodwill: 4 0of 5

e Property’s Track Record with Sponsors: 50f 5

e Market Size and Media Coverage: 4 of 5

e Loyalty of Audience: 50f5
TOTAL SCORE: 27 of 30

Based on this analysis, it has been determined that the qualitative value of a naming rights
partnership is 23 percent (27 of 30) of the total value of sponsor benefits net of
hospitality.

Summary

Companies evaluating the Arena’s naming rights opportunity will look to achieve a cost-
to-value ratio greater than one-to-one. For this analysis, a cost-to-value ratio of one-to-
1.50 for their investment has been assumed. This means that for each dollar a sponsor
pays in naming rights fees, a corporate sponsor may realize $1.50 in value.

NAMING RIGHTS VALUATION
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
Benefit Category Impressions Total Value
Exterior 61,108,472 $327
On-Site 861,651 5381"
Earned Media 579,195,265 $844
Paid Media 195,912,770 $305
Broadcast 430,889,000 $628
Hospitality - $190
Qualitative Benefits - $447
TOTAL - 2017 DOLLARS $3,122
TOTAL - 2021 DOLLARS $3,313
COST/VALUE RATIO $1.00: $1.50
NAMING RIGHTS FEE - 2021 $2,200

Based on this analysis, the current market value for the naming rights fee is expected to
be $2.20 million in 2021. Utilizing a two percent annual escalator, the average annual fee
for a 10-year term would be $2.4 million per year ($24.1 million total fee) over 10 years.
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This average annual fee would be 1.8 times the current average annual naming rights fee
under the Yum! agreement. To put this into context, comparable arena naming rights
renewals were collected to analyze the change from the original deal to the new
agreement. The results of this analysis are presented in the chart below.

NAMING RIGHTS RENEWALS
Comparable Arenas
Average Annual Revenue Increase Multiple of New Deal Over Old Deal
United Center (Chicago) 3.3x
Honda Center (Anaheim) 2.7x
2021 Arena Projection _ 1.8x
Talking Stick Arena (Phoenix) 1.8x
Gila River Arena (Glendale) 1.1x
Average
SAP Center (San Jose) 1.1x g
1.8x
Energy Solutions Arena (Salt Lake City) 1.0x
0.0x 0.5x 1.0x 1.5x 2.0x 2.5x 3.0x 3.5x
Source: Individual naming rights deals.

As shown, the projected Arena average annual naming rights agreement revenue increase
of 1.8 times, similar to the average increase experience at comparable arenas.

SPONSORSHIP REVENUES

In 2011, the Authority retained Learfield as their multimedia rights provider for the KFC Yum!
Center. The initial nine-year agreement provided Learfield’s local property, LASEP, exclusive
rights to represent the Authority for sponsorship sales. In the agreement, Learfield provided the
Authority a revenue guarantee of $2.0 million in year one, increasing to $2.5 million in years two
through six (2013 through 2017) with a $3.0 million guarantee in the final three years of the
contract (2018 through 2020).
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In November 2017, the Authority and Learfield signed an extension agreement which is
anticipated to generate over $S47 million to the arena over the term of the contract. The new
agreement replaces the final three years of the previous agreement and extends the total term
of the contract an additional seven years. The new 2018 guarantee is $3.75 million annually (an
increase of $750,000 over the original agreement), increasing $250,000 each year in 2019, 2020
and 2021. In 2022, the annual guarantee increases to $4.65 million, escalating to $5.65 million
by 2027. The average annual guarantee over the term of the agreement is approximately $4.7
million.

The table on the left shows sponsorship revenues under the
SPONSORSHIP REVENUES P P .
ST extended contract. For context, the average annual sponsorship
$ Thousands guarantee for the projection extension was compared to the
average sponsorship revenue generated for NHL and NBA arenas
as well as and other top-tier universities (shown in the chart
LASEP
below).
Agreement
Year Guarantee ANNUAL ARENA SPONSORSHIP REVENUE
Comparable Industries
2018 $3,750 $ Thousands
2019 $4,000
2020 $4,250
2021 $4,500
2022 $4,650 NHLArenas® $7,525
2023 $4,800
2024 $5,100
2025 $5,250
2026 $5,400 LASEP
$4,735
2027 $5,650 Agreement
AVERAGE $4,735
Collegiate
Arenas®@ $4,500
NBA Arenas® $3,530
S0 $1,000 $2,000 $3,000 $4,000 $5,000 $6,000 $7,000 $8,000
M League-wide average arena sponsorship revenue, per NHL accounting practices.
Q’Topcollegiatearena sponsorship deals; includes only arena sponsorships,
excluding other university or institutional sponsorship revenues.
“’PerNBAaccountingpractices.
Source: NBA, NHL and CSL research.
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As shown, the average annual arena sponsorship revenue projection would be approximately
$200,000 above current top collegiate arena averages.

It should be noted that a merger between Learfield and IMG College, the two largest marketing
and media sales groups in college sports, was recently announced. While the impacts on future
sponsorship revenue for the KFC Yum! Center are unknown, experts have speculated that this
industry consolidation could suppress guaranteed rights fee given that fewer companies are
available to drive a competitive process.

As a result, beyond the term of the projected Arena sponsorship agreement, it is projected that
the first-year increase in the rights guarantee will be three percent. In addition, it is projected
that the rights guarantee would increase at three percent annually thereafter. A three percent
annual escalator is slightly lower than the four percent average annual escalator under the
projected extended LASEP agreement, reflecting the market dynamics of a maturing facility
whose strong qualitative value (i.e. intellectual property) that sponsors find most appealing could
wear off with facility newness as well as the unknown impacts of industry consolidation.

For context, this annual growth is considered conservative relative to industry trends for
sponsorship growth as demonstrated in the chart below.

SPONSORSHIP REVENUE ANNUAL GROWTH
Comparable Industries

College Multimedia Rights 10.0%
Global Sports 4.7%
North American Sports 4.1%
2028-2047 Arena Projection 3.0%

0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Note: Global Sports include all professional and amateur sports worldwide.
Note: North American Sports include all professional and amateur sports in North America.
Source: |EG.
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As shown, a three percent annual growth projection is seven percent lower than the industry
average for college multimedia rights and approximately one to two percent below other North
American and global sports.

PREMIUM SEATING REVENUES

In July 2008, the Arena Authority and ULAA entered into a lease agreement for use of the KFC
Yum! Center for University of Louisville men’s and women’s basketball games. Key lease terms
related to premium seating include:

Luxury Suites and Premium Seating:

e ULAA has exclusive use and control of all 72 luxury suites with two suites (including
one double suite) reserved for the Office of the President and the Office of the Athletic
Director at no charge. An additional six suites are reserved for use by the Authority
to market to Arena sponsors, for which the Authority pays ULAA current license fee
values.

e The initial annual suite license fee was agreed to be no less than $75,000 and the
minimum suite license period was to be no less than five years (although initial terms
may be shorter to stagger lease expirations).

e ULAA markets, licenses and assigns all Arena premium seating, retaining all revenue
generated from licensing and the sale of ULAA tickets to licensees for ULAA events.

o ULAA pays the Authority 12 percent of net luxury suite and premium seating revenue
after deducting tickets, ticket taxes, ticket surcharges and allotted complimentary
parking pass values.

Party Suites:

e One of the Arena’s four party suites is reserved for Authority use, with the remaining
three held for ULAA’s exclusive use and control during ULAA basketball games. The
Authority has control over all four party suites for all other Arena events.

VIP Court Seating:

e ULAA can place temporary seats on the side of the basketball court during men’s and
women’s basketball games.
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e ULAA has the right to market, sell and assign this VIP court seating for basketball
games and retains all revenue generated therefrom; this revenue is not counted as
part of gross admissions receipts for the purposes of calculating ULAA rent, and is not
subject to the Authority’s premium seating payment.

Current Arena premium seating inventory on which the Authority receives a 12 percent share of
license revenues includes:

e 2,710 side-court club seats, 36 of
which are accessible/companion
seats and 250 of which are reserved
for internal use. These seats require
a $2,500 per-seat donation, are sold
on an annual basis and include first
right of refusal for tickets to all Arena
events, access to the Burnett and
Evan Williams premium lounges and
a complimentary parking pass per
every four seats purchased.

sl
00
o
00
®0
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e 830 terrace club seats, 16 of which
are accessible/companion seats.
These seats require a $1,500 per-
seat donation, are sold on an annual
basis, and include the first right of
refusal for tickets to all Arena events,
access to the Absolut Lounge and a
complimentary parking pass per
every four seats purchased. This
premium product was developed by
ULAA  officials upon building
opening; initial sell-through rates were lower than other premium categories, but within
the first four years of Arena opening became in-line with other premium products.
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e 70 premium loge boxes, including 62
four-seat boxes and eight six-seat
boxes for a total of 296 premium
loge box seats. Four of these loge
boxes are held for Authority use.
Each seat requires a $2,500
donation, is sold on an annual basis,
and includes the first right of refusal
for tickets to all Arena events, access
to the Absolut Lounge and in-seat
wait service. Two complimentary
parking passes are provided per box.

e 72 luxury suites, including 54 16-
seat suites and 16 20-seat suites.
Four of these suites are held for
Authority use, and two are used
internally by ULAA. Suite license
cost varies depending on suite
location and lease length, ranging
from $85,000 to $92,000 per year.
Suites are offered on four-year and
seven-year contract terms, and
include first right of refusal for

tickets to all Arena events, in-suite catering services and five complimentary parkmg

passes per suite.

Authority premium seating revenues have
remained relatively consistent since 2011,
the first full year of Arena operations, a
function of stable inventory sell-through, as
detailed in the table on the right.

Through the continued cultivation of
relationships with current season ticket
holders, referrals from existing premium seat
holders to potential buyers, the utilization of
an annual premium seat waitlist and

HISTORIC PREMIUM SEATING SELL-THROUGH
KFC Yum! Center

Sellable Average
Type Inventory Sell-Through
Side-Court Club Seats 2,460 99%
Terrace Club Seats 830 95%
Loge Box Seats 292 99%
Luxury Suites 70 99%

continued prospecting for new clients, ULAA’s annual renewal objective is approximately 97
percent for each premium area. ULAA seeks to generate new sales for the remaining three
percent of Arena premium inventory not sold to previously-contracted customers. Historically,
ULAA has maintained a year-to-year premium seating wait list of between 400 and 750 names,
which aids in generating new sales and maintaining high sell-through rates.
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While premium seat sales for fiscal year 2018 are expected to remain consistent with historical
averages given that the majority of these seats are under contract, premium seat sell-through
rates beyond 2018 could be impacted by potential NCAA sanctions.

To estimate the impact of potential NCAA sanctions, athletic department donations were
compared between 2016 and 2013, when the Louisville men’s basketball team won the NCAA
National Championship. During the 2016 season allegations surfaced of recruitment violations
and misconduct which ultimately led to the NCAA’s 2017 decision to suspend head coach Rick
Pitino and place the men’s basketball program on a four-year probationary period. Even in the
face of program allegations and potential NCAA sanctions, donation levels during 2016 were still
approximately 93 percent of donations during Louisville’s NCAA National Championship year in
2013.

In addition, as shown in the table below, ULAA’s suite, loge box and club seat premium program
is one of the most robust in collegiate athletics, with annual revenue potential of over $14.2
million annually, nearly 800 percent higher than the average at comparable arenas.

COMPARABLE ARENA PREMIUM SEATING PROGRAMS
KFC Yum! Center
Suites Loge Boxes Club Seats
Annual
Sellable*  Annual| Sellable*  Annual| Sellable* Annual Revenue
Arena University Inventory Price| Inventory Price| Inventory Price| Potential**
KFC Yum! Center Louisville 69 $90,000 289  $2,500 3,224 $2,255 | $14,231,000
State Farm Center Illinois 12 $70,000 36 $16,000 1,642  $3,500 | $9,156,000
Mizzou Arena Missouri 27 $32,000 20 $3,199 1,000 $2,815 | $4,017,000
Pinnacle Bank Arena Nebraska 36 $55,000 20 $20,000 832 $750 | $3,257,000
Frank Erwin Center Texas 38 $64,000 - - - -] $3,176,000
Cameron Indoor Stadium Duke - - - - - -| $2,843,000
Moody Coliseum SMU 12 $31,000 24 $24,000 400 $3,100 | $2,788,000
UD Arena Dayton 12 $66,000 20  $8,000 400 $2,275 | $2,198,000
Mackey Arena Purdue - - - - 522 $2,693 | $1,816,000
Hank McCamish Pavilion Georgia Tech - - - - 500 $2,200 | $1,441,000
Gallagher-Iba Arena Oklahoma State 14 $37,500 - - - -l $1,275,000
Crisler Arena Michigan - - 12 $13,750 280 $1,500 | $1,260,000
United Supermarkets Arena Texas Tech 24 $30,000 - - - - $900,000
Bramlage Coliseum Kansas State - - 16 $12,000 - - $595,000
L. Joel Veterans Memorial Coliseum Wake Forest 18 $26,000 - - - - $468,000
Allen Fieldhouse Kansas - - - - 120 $1,000 $443,000
Memorial Gymnasium Vanderbilt 9 $45,000 - - - - $405,000
Schollmaier Arena TCU - - - - 488 $750 $401,000
WVU Coliseum West Virginia - - - - - - $338,000
Littlejohn Coliseum Clemson - - 32 n/a 400 $675 $270,000
Galen Center usc 12 $12,800 - - - - $154,000
Hilton Coliseum lowa State - - - - - - $135,000
Ferrell Center Baylor - - - - - - $112,000
Lloyd Noble Center Oklahoma - - - - - - $65,000
AVERAGE 19 $42,664 23 $13,850 599 $1,933| $1,631,000
*Does not include any non-revenue generating inventory
**May include inventory not accounted for in suites, loge boxes or club seats
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Assuming a 10 percent decrease in premium seat revenue consistent with the drop in donations
following the 2016 allegations, annual premium seat revenue for the University of Louisville
would still be the highest among comparable arenas.

The table below details projected premium seating revenue to be collected by the Authority in
2018. It should be noted that revenues the Authority owes to ULAA for the use of four suites,
eight club seats and one loge box are included in the Arena’s operating expenses.

2018 PREMIUM SEATING REVENUE PROJECTIONS
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands
Estimated

Sellable Total Annual Total Gross

Inventory Sold License Fee Revenue

Side-Court Club Seats 2,460 2,435 $2,500 $6,089
Terrace Club Seats 830 789 $1,500 $1,183
Loge Box Seats 292 289 $2,500 $723
Luxury Suites 70 69 $90,000 $6,237
GROSS PREMIUM SEATING REVENUE $14,231
Authority Share 12%
GROSS AUTHORITY PREMIUM SEATING REVENUE $1,708

It is estimated that the Authority will collect approximately $1.7 million in premium seating
revenues in 2018, derived from $7.2 million in club seat license sales, $723,000 in loge seat
license sales and $6.2 million in suite license sales.

Beyond 2018, it is estimated that premium seat
sell-through rates will decrease from historical
averages as a result of yet-to-be-determined

PREMIUM SEATING SELL-THROUGH
KFC Yum! Center - 2019-2047

NCAA sanctions. The table on the right shows
premium seating sell-through rates for 2019
through 2047 (current estimate of bond
retirement), when it is expected that premium | Side-Court Club Seats 2,460 90%

Sellable Average
Type Inventory Sell-Through

seat sales will stabilize following the impact of |.Jerrace Club Seats 830 85°f
. . . Loge Box Seats 292 90%
potential NCAA sanctions. As shown, it is Luxury Suites 20 0%

estimated that sell-through rates will decrease

approximately ten percent from their historical
averages of 95 to 99 percent. It is also estimated that the University will hold current premium
seat prices constant for 10 years to help mitigate any premium seat sales attrition stemming from
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NCAA sanctions. After a period of 10 years, prices are then increased based on conservative price
escalations.

3k % 3k 3k %k 3 %k %k %k

KFC Yum! Center Category A revenue due diligence is considered together with local market
conditions, terms of renegotiated support payments and Category B revenue due diligence to
evaluate the feasibility of future Arena operations.
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5. Category B Revenue Due Diligence

The purpose of this section is to provide due diligence supporting revenue projections for
Category B revenues generated by the operations of the Arena. Category B revenues include all
Arena revenue except contracted premium seating, sponsorships and naming rights (Category A
revenues) and are applied to debt service after covering Arena operations and maintenance
costs. Category B revenue due diligence is therefore critical to determining how these revenues
would contribute to the Authority’s plan of refinance.

Key Category B Arena revenues include rental charges, concessions, restaurant and merchandise
sales, single event premium seating sales, and other such revenues that are subject, in large part,
to Arena event and attendance levels. The chart below details Category B revenue by source in
2016, the most recent full year of operations. The annual $2.42 million ULAA payment is not
included in 2016 Category B revenues, as this payment was agreed to in 2017.

2016 Category B Revenue™: $8.7 million

E tRx‘ Other Income
vent Revenue 1%

2%|

Premium Seating
13%

Food and Beverage,
Merchandise 58%
26%

Arena Rent

W Revenue before operations and maintenance expenses.

Source: AEG Management Louisville
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Of total net Category B revenue, nearly 85 percent was derived from Arena rent, food and
beverage, and merchandise sales.

The following pages provide an analysis of past Arena event and attendance activity and key
considerations for the future, including an evaluation of key agreements driving per-event
revenue, and how future operating conditions may affect total Category B revenues. It should
be noted that guaranteed ULAA payments of $2.42 million annually (described previously) will
be included as part of Category B revenues moving forward; however, given that these payments
are fixed, this section focuses only on variable Category B revenue streams. The section is divided
as follows:

e AEG Management;

e University of Louisville Events;

e Non-Tenant Events;

e Event Outlook; and,

e Arena Operations and Maintenance Costs.

AEG MANAGEMENT

In April 2008f the Authority entered Fnto an operations management ARENA NET REVENUES
agreement with the Kentucky State Fair Board (“KSFB”). KSFB managed $ Thousands

the Arena for a fixed fee of $150,000 annually plus reimbursement for
labor costs and the reduction in net income of KSFB’s Freedom Hall
resulting from KFC Yum! Center operations.

Fiscal Actual

Year Revenues(l)

While the KSFB management agreement included an initial term of 10 | kseg management:

years, the Authority terminated the contract in 2012, less than two 2010 (83,501
years after the Arena opened. Upon termination of the KSFB |[7%p11 519
management agreement, the Authority entered into a 10-year facility

AEG Management:
management agreement with AEG Management Louisville, LLC (“AEG”). o
2012 $898
- 2013 $2,438
As part of the original AEG management agreement, AEG was 014 $1553
guaranteed an annual management fee of $480,000, adjusted annually |15 $1.493
(up to a maximum of 1.5 percent) to account for increases in the | 2016 $2,384
Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers (“CP1”). In addition, AEG TOTAL $5,784

could earn an incentive fee of up to $120,000 annually, subject to Arena |7, T
. LAA audited financials.
Operatlng reSUItS' @ KSFB and AEG both provided

management during FY 2012.

Also under the terms of the management agreement, AEG guarantees
the Authority a minimum Arena operating profit net of management fees (i.e. Category B
revenues) of $1.5 million, adjusted annually by increases in the CPI.
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In 2015, this agreement was amended and extended to 2027. The annual management fee was
adjusted upwards to $700,000 and the maximum incentive fee was adjusted downwards to
$35,000. The $1.5 million Authority net profit guarantee remains in effect until the agreement’s
expiration. The table on the previous page details management contract revenues collected
since 2010.

According to Pollstar, AEG is the

world’s Second-|argest presenter TOP TEN WORLDWIDE PROMOTERS BY TICKETS SOLD

of live music and entertainment 2016

acts, as shown in the table below.

Because the company has Tickets

business relationships with a |Rank  Promoter Sold

significant number of artists and , .

acts, it is able to vertically : Lve tation ST

A ‘ 2 AEG 15,183,802

integrate its talent/event |73 OCESA / CIE (Mexico) 3679.916

management with its venue |} Feld Entertainment 3,482,402

operations businesses. AEG |5 TAF - Time For Fun (South America) 2,558,556

Management Louisville, a |86 5JM (United Kingdom) 2,129,971

subsidiary of AEG, therefore has |7 Zignia Live (Mexico) 1,944,678

direct relationships with all AEG- |8 Caesars Entertainment 1,588,498

represented talent for purposes |2 MSG Entertainment 1,565,899
. . 10 FKP Scorpio Konzertproduktionen (Germany) 1,484,250

of routing and booking events,

especially hlgh revenue- Source: Pollstar.

generating concerts, into the
Arena. These processes have helped to enable strong ticketed non-tenant event activity at the
Arena since 2013.

Because of the recent amendment to the AEG management agreement, the Arena is guaranteed
not only $1.5 million in net profit, but also stable venue management with the experience and
relationships necessary to continue managing tenant events and booking strong non-tenant
event activity until at least 2027.

Over the past four years, the level of net Category B revenues generated by AEG has exceeded
the minimum guarantee three times. Category B revenues have exceeded AEG’s net profit
guarantee by an average of 35 percent.

UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE EVENTS

In 2008, the Authority and ULAA entered into a lease agreement for use of the Arena for
University of Louisville men’s and women’s basketball games, set to terminate in September
2044. Under the terms of the agreement, ULAA must play all men’s and women’s basketball
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home games at the Arena, providing the following tiered rental payments in addition to Category
A-specific premium seating revenues.

RENTAL AGREEMENT TERMS
Category B Revenue to Authority
Men's Basketball Games Women's Basketball Games Other Events
Greater of 10% of gross Greater of 5% of gross Greater of 5% of gross
Rent: admissions receipts or $10,000 admissions receipts or $5,000 admissions receipts or $5,000
per event per event per event
Facility Fees: 100% of 52 facility fee None None
Concessions and 50% of net concessions and 50% of net concessions and 50% of net concessions and
Merchandise: gift shop merchandise gift shop merchandise gift shop merchandise
Expenses related to personnel Expenses related to personnel Expenses related to personnel
Expense . . .
. required to properly staff required to properly staff required to properly staff
Reimbursement:
games games events
Source: ULAA Lease Agreement.

In July 2017, the lease agreement between the Authority and ULAA was amended such that
ULAA’s priority use period was reduced from October 1 to the conclusion of the NCAA basketball
season to November 1 to the conclusion of the NCAA basketball season, and the term of the
agreement was extended until the earlier of bond retirement or 2054 (the agreed-upon date of
final ULAA payments). These changes provide AEG additional calendar flexibility to book non-
tenant events during the month of October, while extending guaranteed ULAA participation in
Arena finances through the anticipated expiration of the refinanced bonds.

While the revised agreement guarantees that ULAA men’s and women’s basketball programs will
be primary tenants through debt repayment, the amount of Category B revenue generated to
the Authority from ULAA events is impacted, to a large degree, by attendance at ULAA home
games. It is therefore important to evaluate ULAA attendance and spending patterns across
event type.

Men’s Basketball Games

The Arena has hosted between 17 and 21 contractually-required ULAA men’s home
basketball games on an annual basis since 2010. These games have averaged
approximately 21,300 reported attendees, as shown in the table on the following page.
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Attendance has fluctuate.d less .than one REPORTED ATTENDANCE
percent on an annual basis, ranging from a U of L Men's Basketball
high of 21,832 in its inaugural year to a low KFC Yum! Center
of 20,846 this past season.
Average Total
The men’s basketball program has also Reported Reported
achieved high levels of on-court success |3€ason Games _Attendance _Attendance
since before the Arena opened, averaging a
. . 2010-2011 21 21,832 458,463
0.709 win percentage since the 1999 ! :
season 2011-2012 20 21,503 430,052
) 2012-2013 16 21,571 345,129
2013-2014 18 21,282 383,070
The 2016-2017 season attendance for ULAA | 501275015 19 21,386 406,338
’ . . .
men’s basketball ranked third-highest in the | 5p15-2016 18 20,859 369,333
NCAA, as detailed in the table on the right. 2016-2017 17 20,846 354,390
AVERAGE 18 21,326 392,396

An analysis of future Arena financial
Source: NCAA.

operations also requires consideration of
the potential impacts reduced team
performance that could occur as a result of

MEN'S BASKETBALL ATTENDANCE

NCAA sanctions, the loss of head coach Rick Top Ten NCAA Division | Teams™
Pitino or normal fluctuations in program 2016°17 Season
success. The chart on the following page 2016-17 2016-17
provides a graphical overview of ULAA Average Total
) Rank Institution Attendance Attendance
men’s basketball revenues as reported by
the U.S. Department of Education’s EADA, 1 Kentucky 23,461 398,837
, . . 2 Syracuse 21,181 444,801
and ULAA men’s basketball wmrnng 5 e 20,846 5538
percentage, as reported to the NCAA, since | 2 North Carolina 18,067 289,072
1999. 5 Creighton 17,812 296,004
6 Wisconsin 17,286 293,862
7 Maryland 16,628 299,304
As shown, the program has seen sustained 8 Kansas 16,395 262,320
growth in revenues irrespective of winning | 2 Indiana 16,363 294,534
10 North Carolina St. 15,906 286,308

percentage and economic recessions. |
Top 10 teams among 351 Division | basketball programs.
Pronounced revenue growth in 2010 was | source:ncan

attributable to the program’s move to the
KFC Yum! Center.

A statistical analysis was performed to determine the correlation between men’s
basketball revenues and the team’s winning percentage. A correlation coefficient is a
number between -1 and 1 measuring the degree to which two variables are associated.
A correlation of -1.0 indicates a perfect negative correlation, and a correlation of 1.0
indicates a perfect positive correlation. A correlation of 0.0 means there is no relationship
between the two variables. The determined correlation coefficient of 0.5 indicates that
basketball revenues are somewhat positively correlated to the team’s performance on
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the court, but the correlation is weak and not considered statistically significant (typically

defined as a correlation above 0.80).
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Itis important to consider, however, that despite the program’s historical attendance and
revenue trends, pending NCAA sanctions could impact future attendance and revenues.

As a means of analyzing the impact pending sanctions might have on Louisville
attendance, attendance levels of NCAA football and basketball programs in the years
before and after NCAA sanctions were analyzed. These institutions included the
University of Memphis, University of Miami, Penn State University, Syracuse University,
the University of Southern California (USC) and the University of Massachusetts (UMASS).
The table below shows the impact of NCAA sanctions on attendance.

IMPACT OF NCAA SANCTIONS ON ATTENDANCE
Comparable NCAA Programs

| Percentage of Pre-Sanction Attendance |

Year Year 1 Average

of After After

Program Sanctions Sanctions Sanctions
Memphis Basketball (2.6%) (1.0%) (14.8%)
Miami Football (7.5%) (9.2%) (1.0%)
Penn State Football (4.6%) (4.8%) (1.8%)
Syracuse Basketball (9.5%) (11.2%) (11.2%)
UMASS Basketball 1.4% (10.5%) (40.9%)
USC Basketball (10.7%) (16.5%) (23.6%)
USC Football (5.8%) (11.8%) (9.1%)
AVERAGE (5.6%) (9.3%) (14.6%)

Source: NCAA.

During the year of sanctions, comparable NCAA programs noticed an average attendance
drop of 5.6 percent per game from average attendance the year before sanctions, ranging
from a decrease of 10.7 percent for USC basketball to a 1.4 percent increase for UMASS
basketball. In the first year after sanctions, average comparable attendance levels were
9.3 percent below attendance the year before sanctions. For the years after NCAA
sanctions, average attendance levels were 14.6 percent below pre-sanction levels,
ranging from a high of 1.0 percent of pre-sanction attendance levels for Miami football to
a low of 40.9 percent of pre-sanction attendance levels for UMASS basketball.

It should be noted that UMASS basketball, Memphis basketball and USC football had to
replace their head coach during the year of sanctions. This, along with the lack of success
of the programs post-sanctions likely also contributed to the attendance decreases.

It is estimated that average attendance for men’s basketball home games will decrease
10 percent from historical levels. Ultimately, with no other professional team in the
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market, the University of Louisville men’s basketball team is Louisville’s premier sports
team which could serve to mitigate the degree of attendance impact from NCAA
sanctions, relative to comparable programs. The team’s popularity in the local and
regional market has historically weathered, and will likely continue to weather, losing
seasons, poor economic conditions and NCAA sanctions.

Women’s Basketball Games REPORTED ATTENDANCE
U of L Women's Basketball
The table on the right provides a summary KFC Yum! Center
of average reported attendance since the
team’s inaugural 2010 season at the Arena. Average Total
Reported Reported

Season Games Attendance Attendance

The Arena has hosted between 13 and 20
H ’
contractually-required ULAA women.s 2010-2011 15 10,859 162,292
home basketball games on an annual basis | 3p11-2012 13 10,670 138,706
since 2010. As shown, women’s home 2012-2013 18 9,358 168,442
basketball games have averaged | 2013-2014 20 9,469 189,385
approximately 10,000 reported attendees | 2014-2015 17 9,515 161,754
annually, ranging from a high of 10,859 in | 2015-2016 16 9,503 152,049
the Arena’s inaugural year to a low of 8,256 | 2016-2017 20 8,256 165,115
this past season. AVERAGE 17 9,661 162,535
. Source: NCAA.

Even though the team has enjoyed NCAA

tournament appearances in each year of its Arena tenancy, and average reported
attendance figures in the top three of Division | NCAA, no ULAA women’s basketball game
has exceeded the $5,000 ULAA rent threshold in net ticket revenues. The majority of
women’s basketball game attendees are given free or discounted admission, limiting net
ticket revenues.

Given the ticketing trend of the women’s basketball program and based on discussions
with Athletics officials that this trend is likely to continue, it is not anticipated that the
$5,000 ticketing threshold will be surpassed in the future. Stable attendance is therefore
projected consistent with historical averages with conservative revenue growth in the
future accounting for conservative escalations in concessions, merchandise and related
prices.

Other University Events

The Arena has hosted between 11 and 17 other University events on an annual basis since
2013, averaging approximately 4,300 attendees per event. Between seven and 12 of
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these events have been ULAA women’s volleyball matches since 2013, as the program
played home matches at the Arena while an on-campus facility was constructed.

As the ULAA women’s volleyball team moved to its on-campus facility in 2017, it is
envisioned that the Arena will average approximately four non-basketball University
events on an annual basis. These events include the University’s fall and spring
Commencement ceremonies and two men’s basketball Red/Black Scrimmage games.
Although the University is not contractually obligated to host these events at the Arena,
historical precedent and discussions with ULAA and Arena officials suggests continued
Arena utilization in a similar manner.

While the total number of future non-basketball University events is anticipated to fall
compared to recent trends, the additional month of programming available to Arena
management to program non-tenant events as negotiated in the recent lease
amendment with ULAA adds more flexibility to host more profitable non-tenant events,
potentially placing the Arena in a better financial position.

NON-TENANT EVENTS HISTORICAL NON-TENANT EVENT ACTIVITY
KFC Yum! Center
The Arena has hosted between 81 and 87 2013-2016
non-tenant events since AEG took over
facility management in 2013, as shown in the | EventType 2013 2014 2015 2016 Average
table on the right. Between 52 to 63 of these
B ) Concerts 22 25 28 27 26
events have been ticketed full- or partial- Sporting Events 3 3 7 c e
bowl events, including concerts, sporting | Family Shows 18 17 15 10 15
events, family shows and other such events. Other Events 1 7 10 21 12
Meetings/Banquets 28 29 25 24 27
TOTAL 87 81 85 87 85
Concerts Source: AEG.

As previously detailed, concerts have historically been the most popular non-tenant
events at the Arena. Concert profitability is expected to continue into the future as the
live music industry continues to grow. Gross North American concert ticket sales hit a
record $7.3 billion in 2016, a six percent increase over the previous year, as seen in the
table on the following page. Overall, ticket sales have grown at a compound annual rate
of approximately 8.9 percent since 2000.
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CONCERT TICKET SALES
North America
$ Thousands

Concert Percent
Year Ticket Sales  Change
2000 $1,700,000 -
2001 $1,800,000 5.9%
2002 $2,100,000 16.7%
2003 $2,500,000 19.0%
2004 $2,800,000 12.0%
2005 $3,100,000 10.7%
2006 $3,600,000 16.1%
2007 $3,900,000 8.3%
2008 $4,200,000 7.7%
2009 $4,600,000 9.5%
2010 $4,300,000 -6.5%
2011 $4,400,000 2.3%
2012 $4,700,000 6.8%
2013 $5,100,000 8.5%
2014 $6,200,000 21.6%
2015 $6,900,000 11.3%
2016 $7,300,000 5.8%
Source: Pollstar.

It should be noted that the number of concerts hosted at
the Arena each vyear is, in part, a function of industry
cyclicality. In 2016, the number of concerts hosted at the
Arena decreased to 27 from 28 concerts hosted the year
before, due in part to act scheduling availability and
routing needs. In 2017, due to favorable scheduling and
routing patterns, the Arena is scheduled to host 30
concerts.

Family Shows, Sporting Events and Other Ticketed Events

Family shows, sporting events and other ticketed events
provide the Arena with significant per-event net revenues.

Family shows hosted at the Arena include annual multi-day
Feld Entertainment (“Feld”) shows, such as Monster Jam
and Disney Live! The Arena also hosted Ringling Bros.
Circus events, and upon the circus’ closing in 2017 Arena
management actively began looking for replacement
events and anticipates family show event activity in the
future to be on-par with historical trends.

Among the stable number of sporting events hosted at the
Arena in fiscal year 2016, the Arena also hosted the 2017

NCAA Regional Men’s Basketball Tournament, attracting approximately 38,000 attendees
over the course of the two-day event. These tournaments are awarded on a rotating
basis, and will likely return to the Arena in future years, but not annually (Arena
management recently confirmed booking of the 2019 NCAA Men’s Basketball Regional
Finals). Even still, Arena management has consistently held between three to six non-
ULAA sporting events per year, and is anticipated to continue to do so in the future.

EVENT OUTLOOK

Given stable historical event loads, industry trends, the Arena’s success in hosting sporting events
including the NCAA Regional Men’s Basketball tournament and AEG’s management agreement,
it is estimated that Arena event activity will remain consistent with historical averages, with
moderate revenue increases.

As long as AEG or a similarly-experienced management firm is in charge of programming the
Arena, average annual non-tenant event activity should remain consistent with historical

@,
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5. Category B Revenue Due Diligence

averages, with individual year event activity subject to the number and quality of touring acts
each year.

ARENA OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COSTS

Category B revenues are available for debt service payments net of Arena operations and
maintenance costs. Since AEG’s management takeover in 2013, Arena expenses have averaged
$6.8 million, increasing by approximately 2.5 percent annually, as shown in the table on the
following page.

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSES
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands

Expense Type 2013 2014 2015 2016
Administration $4,612 $4,632 $4,559 $4,517
Utilities $1,207 $1,287 $1,424 $1,232
Insurance $275 $397 $479 $505
Management Fee $480 $487 $495 $495
TOTAL $6,574 $6,803 $6,957 $6,749
Source: AEG Management Louisville.

As Arena management continues to explore expense-side efficiencies, conservative Arena
expense growth is projected. This growth in Arena expenses is not expected to have a materially
negative impact on AEG’s ability to cover the Authority’s $1.5 million revenue guarantee.

3 % 3k 3k %k %k %k %k k% k

KFC Yum! Center Category B revenue due diligence is considered together with local market
conditions, terms of renegotiated support payments and Category A revenue due diligence to
evaluate the feasibility of future Arena operations.
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6. Projected Financial Operations

The purpose of this section is to present estimated operating revenues and expenses for the KFC
Yum! Center (“Arena”) and the Louisville Arena Authority (“Authority”). The assumptions used
in this analysis are based on a review of historical Arena operations, contractual agreements with
key Arena partners, discussions with Arena management and University of Louisville Athletic
Association (“ULAA”) representatives, knowledge of the marketplace, industry trends, the
Authority’s plan of refinance and Category A and B revenue due diligence.

Key assumptions used to estimate the potential operating revenues and expenses for the Arena
and Authority include, but are not limited to the following:

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to exist and serve as a quality, state-of-the-art venue
with the necessary event spaces, amenities, acoustics, stage configuration, rigging
capacities, flexible seating configurations and back-of-house space to accommodate the
needs of various types of users.

e The Louisville men’s and women'’s basketball teams will continue to serve as the primary
tenants in the Arena and will remain competitive within the Atlantic Coast Conference or
similar conference.

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to be operated by AEG or another competent private
management company that has extensive industry relationships with key event
promoters and booking agents.

e The KFC Yum! Center will continue to be aggressively marketed, providing competitive
rental rates and co-promoting as necessary to best balance utilization and revenue

maximization.

e |tis assumed there will be no material changes in the supply or quality of existing venues
in the marketplace beyond those previously discussed in this report.

e The market will generate spending on tickets, concessions, novelties,
sponsorships/advertising and premium seating that is consistent with historical averages.

e The KFCYum! Center will continue to be conducive to providing a pleasant fan experience.

e Anadequate capital reserve will be funded to re-invest in the Arena to ensure it maintains
its revenue-generating abilities and operational efficiencies.

e Unknown future economic conditions will not adversely affect the market and its
response to Arena events.

e Assuming bonds are refinanced in fiscal year 2018, the projections presented herein begin
in 2018 and continue through 2047 (current estimate of bond retirement).




6. Projected Financial Operations

The presentation of estimated operating results is presented in the following sections:

e Revenues:
o Governmental Revenues:
= Metro Louisville Guarantee;
= TIF Contribution; and,
= Governmental Revenues Summary.
o Net Arena Revenues:
= (Category A Revenues:
e Naming Rights;
e Sponsorship;
e Premium Seating;
= Category B Revenues:
e ULAA Payments;
e AEG Management Agreement Revenues;
=  QOperating Expenses; and,
e Financial Pro Forma.

REVENUES
Authority revenues consist of Metro Louisville guarantee payments, Commonwealth of Kentucky
TIF Contributions, Category A revenues (naming rights, sponsorships and premium seating) and

Category B revenues (University of Louisville Athletics Association (“ULAA”) payments and AEG
management agreement). A brief description of each revenue source is provided below.

Governmental Revenues

Revenues collected by the Authority to support debt service include payments and
contributions from the Metro Louisville Government and the Commonwealth of
Kentucky. Projected disbursements from these entities are discussed over the following
pages.

Metro Louisville Guarantee

As part of the Series 2008 bond agreement, the Metro Louisville government
agreed to provide a guaranteed annual payment to service a portion of the Arena’s
debt service. In 2017, this agreement was amended such that Metro Louisville’s
annual payments were increased to a flat $10.8 million, effective until bond
maturity or full repayment.




6. Projected Financial Operations

Per this agreement, it is projected that the Authority will receive $10.8 million
from Metro Louisville annually until bond retirement.

TIF Contribution

The Commonwealth of Kentucky provides specified TIF revenues to service a
portion of Series 2008 bond debt service. In 2013 the TIF district was condensed
to a two-square mile area encompassing Louisville’s central business core and in
2017, the TIF agreement was amended such that it was extended an additional 25
years (through bond retirement) and the funds cap was removed.

2017 TIF contributions were $11.2 million, while the Commonwealth projects
2018 contributions to be $11.3 million. From 2019 through the term of
indebtedness, the Commonwealth projects a 4.7 percent average annual growth
in TIF contributions ranging from 0.4 percent to 9.0 percent. This includes a 2.5
percent annual growth in sales tax collections along with increases in property tax
collections.

The table on the following page details projected TIF contributions over the
expected term of debt service.

47



6. Projected Financial Operations

PROJECTED TIF CONTRIBUTIONS
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands
2018-2032 | | 2033-2047 |
Projected Projected
Annual Annual Annual Annual

Year Revenue Growth Year Fee Growth
2018 $11,284 - 2033 $27,754 8.5%
2019 $12,156 7.7% 2034 $28,744 3.6%
2020 $13,142 8.1% 2035 $29,790 3.6%
2021 $13,968 6.3% 2036 $30,909 3.8%
2022 $15,184 8.7% 2037 $32,083 3.8%
2023 $16,513 8.8% 2038 $33,240 3.6%
2024 $17,990 8.9% 2039 $34,341 3.3%
2025 $19,209 6.8% 2040 $35,399 3.1%
2026 $20,198 5.2% 2041 $36,450 3.0%
2027 $21,088 4.4% 2042 $37,531 3.0%
2028 $21,981 4.2% 2043 $38,650 3.0%
2029 $23,111 5.1% 2044 $39,784 2.9%
2030 $24,354 5.4% 2045 $40,905 2.8%
2031 $25,582 5.0% 2046 $41,999 2.7%
2032 $26,734 4.5% 2047 $43,075 2.6%
Source: Commonwealth of Kentucky projections.

As noted in Section 3 — Support Payment Renegotiation, the methodologies and
assumptions behind Commonwealth projections are detailed in the document
“Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues — Louisville Arena TIF Baseline and
Projections, Methodologies and Assumptions”, provided in the appendix of this
report.

Governmental Revenues Summary

The table on the following page details projected revenue generation by payment
type over the expected term of debt service.
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PROJECTED GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
KFC Yum! Center

$ Thousands
2018-2032 [ | 2033-2047 |
Metro Total Metro Total
Louisville TIF Governmental Louisville TIF Governmental
Year Guarantee Contributions Revenues Year Guarantee Contributions Revenues
2018 510,800 511,284 $22,084 2033 $10,800 $27,754 $38,554
2019 $10,800 512,156 $22,956 2034 $10,800 528,744 $39,544
2020 $10,800 513,142 $23,942 2035 $10,800 $29,790 $40,590
2021 $10,800 513,968 $24,768 2036 $10,800 $30,909 $41,709
2022 $10,800 515,184 $25,984 2037 $10,800 $32,083 $42,883
2023 $10,800 516,513 $27,313 2038 $10,800 $33,240 $44,040
2024 $10,800 $17,990 $28,790 2039 $10,800 $34,341 $45,141
2025 $10,800 519,209 $30,009 2040 $10,800 $35,399 $46,199
2026 $10,800 520,198 $30,998 2041 $10,800 $36,450 $47,250
2027 $10,800 521,088 $31,888 2042 $10,800 $37,531 $48,331
2028 $10,800 521,981 $32,781 2043 $10,800 $38,650 $49,450
2029 $10,800 523,111 $33,911 2044 $10,800 $39,784 $50,584
2030 $10,800 524,354 $35,154 2045 $10,800 $40,905 $51,705
2031 $10,800 525,582 $36,382 2046 $10,800 $41,999 $52,799
2032 $10,800 $26,734 $37,534 2047 $10,800 $43,075 $53,875

Sources: Metro Louisville and Commonwealth of Kentucky.

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in TIF contributions is presented in Section 7 — Sensitivity
Analysis.

Category A Revenues

Category A revenues consist of contractually-obligated revenues secured through multi-
year agreements, and include naming rights, sponsorship and premium seating revenues.
Future projections for each of these revenue sources are summarized over the following
pages.

Naming Rights

In 2010, the Authority entered into a 10-year naming rights agreement on behalf
of the Authority with Yum! Brands (“Yum!”). The agreement, expiring in 2020,
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6. Projected Financial Operations

required an annual payment by Yum! of $1.3 million for the first five years,
escalating at two percent annually for the final five years of the agreement.

Based on a comprehensive naming rights valuation as detailed in Section 4 —
Category A Revenue Due Diligence, it is estimated that the market value of Arena
naming rights will be approximately $2.2 million in 2021, escalating two percent
annually over an estimated 10-year term ($2.4 million average annual revenues).

Upon the expiration of this projected 10-year agreement, it is estimated that
naming rights will be sold such that the $2.63 million fee projected in 2030 will
grow by two percent in 2031 and continue to grow by two percent thereafter until
bond repayment. This conservative growth is based on a review of comparable
arena naming rights escalations.

The table below details projected naming rights revenue over the expected term
of debt service.

PROJECTED NAMING RIGHTS REVENUES
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
2018-2031 [ | 2032-2047
Projected Projected

Annual Annual Annual Annual
Year Fee Growth Year Fee Growth
Current Yum! Brands Agreement: 2032 $2,735 2.0%
2018 $1,380 2033 $2,790 2.0%
2019 $1,407 2.0% 2034 $2,846 2.0%
2020 $1,435 2.0% 2035 $2,903 2.0%
Projected Future Agreement: 2036 $2,961 2.0%
2021 $2,200 53.3% 2037 $3,020 2.0%
2022 $2,244 2.0% 2038 $3,081 2.0%
2023 $2,289 2.0% 2039 $3,142 2.0%
2024 $2,335 2.0% 2040 $3,205 2.0%
2025 $2,381 2.0% 2041 $3,269 2.0%
2026 $2,429 2.0% 2042 $3,334 2.0%
2027 $2,478 2.0% 2043 $3,401 2.0%
2028 $2,527 2.0% 2044 $3,469 2.0%
2029 $2,578 2.0% 2045 $3,539 2.0%
2030 $2,629 2.0% 2046 $3,609 2.0%
2031 $2,682 2.0% 2047 $3,682 2.0%
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6. Projected Financial Operations

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in naming rights revenue is presented in Section 7 —
Sensitivity Analysis.

Sponsorship

In 2011, the Authority retained local Learfield property LASEP as the Arena’s
multimedia rights provider. In November 2017, LASEP executed an extension
through 2027.

The new agreement replaces the final three years of the previous agreement and
extends the total term of the contract an additional seven years. The new 2018
guarantee is $3.75 million annually (an increase of $750,000 over the original
agreement), increasing $250,000 each year in 2019, 2020 and 2021. In 2022, the
annual guarantee increases to $4.65 million, escalating to $5.65 million by 2027.
The average annual guarantee over the term of the agreement is approximately
$4.7 million.

Upon the expiration of LASEP’s current agreement in 2027, it is projected that the
revenue guarantee will increase by three percent in year one as well as annually
throughout bond repayment.

The table on the following page details projected sponsorship revenue over the
expected term of debt service.

@
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6. Projected Financial Operations

PROJECTED SPONSORSHIP REVENUES
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands
2018-2031 | | 2032-2047 |
Projected Projected
Annual Annual Annual Annual

Year Fee Growth Year Fee Growth
Extended LASEP Agreement: 2032 $6,550 6.1%
2018 $3,750 2033 $6,746 3.0%
2019 $4,000 6.7% 2034 $6,949 3.0%
2020 $4,250 6.3% 2035 $7,157 3.0%
2021 $4,500 5.9% 2036 $7,372 3.0%
2022 $4,650 3.3% 2037 $7,593 3.0%
2023 $4,800 3.2% 2038 57,821 3.0%
2024 $5,100 6.3% 2039 $8,056 3.0%
2025 $5,250 2.9% 2040 $8,297 3.0%
2026 $5,400 2.9% 2041 $8,546 3.0%
2027 $5,650 4.6% 2042 $8,803 3.0%
Projected Future Agreement: 2043 $9,067 3.0%
2028 $5,820 3.0% 2044 $9,339 3.0%
2029 $5,994 3.0% 2045 $9,619 3.0%
2030 $6,174 3.0% 2046 $9,907 3.0%
2031 $6,359 3.0% 2047 $10,205 3.0%

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in sponsorship revenue is presented in Section 7 — Sensitivity
Analysis.

Premium Seating

The Authority’s 2008 lease agreement with ULAA provides the Authority with 12
percent of net premium seat revenues on an annual basis through the projection
period. Authority premium seating revenues have remained relatively consistent
since 2011, the first full year of Arena operations, a function of stable sell-through
rates.

It is estimated that the Authority will collect approximately $1.7 million in
premium seating revenues in 2018, derived from $7.2 million in club seat license
sales, $723,000 in loge seat license sales and $6.2 million in suite license sales.
Sell-through rates for 2018 are not currently estimated to be impacted by the
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pending NCAA sanctions given that these revenues are already contracted from
sales for the 2017/2018 men’s basketball season.

Beyond 2018, it is estimated that premium seat sell-through rates will decrease
from historical averages as a result of yet-to-be-determined NCAA sanctions. As
previously discussed, it is estimated that sell-through rates will fall approximately
ten percent from their historical averages of 95 to 99 percent, which is consistent
with donation decreases in 2016 following the men’s basketball program’s
previous recruiting violations. In addition to sell-through decreases, it is also
estimated that the University will hold current premium seat prices constant for
10 years to help mitigate any premium seat sales attrition stemming from NCAA
sanctions. After a period of 10 years, prices are then increased based on
conservative price escalations.

The table below details projected premium seating revenue over the expected
term of debt service.

PROJECTED PREMIUM SEATING REVENUES
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
2018-2032 | | 2033-2047 |
Projected Projected

Annual Annual Annual Annual

Year Revenue Growth Year Fee Growth
2018 $1,709 2033 $1,663 2.0%
2019 $1,638 (4.1%) 2034 $1,680 1.0%
2020 $1,552 (5.3%) 2035 $1,697 1.0%
2021 $1,552 0.0% 2036 $1,714 1.0%
2022 $1,552 0.0% 2037 51,731 1.0%
2023 $1,552 0.0% 2038 $1,748 1.0%
2024 $1,552 0.0% 2039 $1,766 1.0%
2025 $1,552 0.0% 2040 $1,783 1.0%
2026 $1,552 0.0% 2041 $1,801 1.0%
2027 $1,567 1.0% 2042 $1,819 1.0%
2028 $1,583 1.0% 2043 $1,837 1.0%
2029 $1,599 1.0% 2044 51,856 1.0%
2030 $1,615 1.0% 2045 51,874 1.0%
2031 $1,631 1.0% 2046 $1,893 1.0%
2032 $1,647 1.0% 2047 $1,912 1.0%
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A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in premium seat sell-through rates is presented in Section 7

— Sensitivity Analysis.

Category A Revenues Summary

The table below details projected Category A revenues by type over the expected

term of debt service.

PROJECTED CATEGORY A REVENUES - BASE CASE

KFC Yum! Center

$ Thousands
2018-2032 2033-2047 |
Total Total
Naming Premium Category A Naming Premium Category A
Year Rights Sponsorship Seating Revenues Year Rights Sponsorship Seating Revenues
2018 $1,380 $3,750 $1,709 $6,838 2033 $2,790 $6,746 $1,663 $11,200
2019 $1,407 $4,000 $1,638 $7,045 2034 $2,846 $6,949 $1,680 $11,475
2020 $1,435 $4,250 $1,552 $7,237 2035 $2,903 $7,157 $1,697 $11,757
2021 $2,200 $4,500 $1,552 $8,252 2036 $2,961 $7,372 $1,714 $12,047
2022 $2,244 $4,650 $1,552 $8,446 2037 $3,020 $7,593 $1,731 $12,344
2023 $2,289 $4,800 $1,552 $8,640 2038 $3,081 $7,821 $1,748 $12,650
2024 $2,335 $5,100 $1,552 $8,986 2039 $3,142 $8,056 $1,766 $12,963
2025 $2,381 $5,250 $1,552 $9,183 2040 $3,205 $8,297 $1,783 $13,286
2026 $2,429 S$5,400 $1,552 $9,380 2041 $3,269 $8,546 $1,801 $13,616
2027 $2,478 $5,650 $1,567 $9,695 2042 $3,334 $8,803 $1,819 $13,956
2028 $2,527 $5,820 $1,583 $9,929 2043 $3,401 $9,067 $1,837 $14,305
2029 $2,578 $5,994 $1,599 $10,170 2044 $3,469 $9,339 $1,856 $14,664
2030 $2,629 $6,174 $1,615 $10,418 2045 $3,539 $9,619 $1,874 $15,032
2031 $2,682 $6,359 $1,631 $10,672 2046 $3,609 $9,907 $1,893 $15,410
2032 $2,735 $6,550 $1,647 $10,932 2047 $3,682 $10,205 $1,912 $15,798

In total, naming rights, sponsorship and premium seating revenues are anticipated
to generate approximately $6.8 million in 2018, escalating to approximately $15.8
million in 2047, the estimated year of bond retirement.

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in Category A revenues is presented in Section 7 — Sensitivity

Analysis.
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Category B Revenues

Category B revenues include guaranteed payments from ULAA as well as all other Arena
revenue except revenue generated from contracted premium seating, sponsorships and
naming rights (Category A revenues). Category B revenue is collected by the Arena’s
manager, AEG of Louisville, and disbursed to the Authority net of Arena operations and
maintenance costs. Future projections for ULAA payments and other AEG management
agreement revenue sources are summarized over the following pages.

ULAA Payments

In 2017, the Authority and ULAA agreed to an amended lease agreement
guaranteeing the Authority an annual payment of $2.42 million in addition to rent,
premium seats, food and beverage and other revenues that it receives from its
original lease agreement with the Authority. This $2.42 million annual payment
includes no escalators and will continue until the earlier of bond retirement or
2054 (the agreed-upon date of final ULAA payments).

AEG Management Agreement Revenues

As previously detailed, the Authority entered into a 10-year facility management
agreement with AEG in 2012, which guarantees the Authority $1.5 million in
operating profit net of stipulated management fees, increasing 1.5 percent
annually through the length of the contract. In three of the first four full years of
AEG management, Arena profit has surpassed this $1.5 million threshold.

Projected other AEG management agreement revenues include net rent, single
event premium seating sales, concessions and merchandise sales, other event
revenue including facility fees, Ticketmaster rebates and handling fees, and
operations and maintenance costs, including administration, utilities, insurance
and management fee expenses. A summary of each revenue and expense
projection follows.

Net Rent Revenue

ULAA and non-tenant events hosted at the Arena are charged base rental
fees in addition to event expenses reimbursable to the Arena. ULAA event
rental fees are outlined in ULAA’s lease agreement with the Authority,
while non-tenant event rental fees were determined through
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conversations with Arena management and a review of historical rents
realized for past events hosted at the Arena.

Overall, it is estimated that the Arena will host 99 events subject to rental
fees on an annual basis. These events include tenant events such as ULAA
men’s and women'’s basketball games, U of L commencement ceremonies
and Red and White scrimmages, as well as non-tenant events including
concerts, sporting events and family shows designated as either full bowl
or partial bowl rentals, conferences and meetings. In total, it is estimated
that the Arena could generate net rental revenue of approximately
$820,000 in 2018. It is estimated that this revenue will grow over time
based on conservative price escalations and normal event fluctuations.

Single Event Premium Sales Revenue

Arena premium seating licensees are given the first right of refusal to
purchase tickets for non-tenant events. Revenue derived from the sale of
tickets to these licensees is retained by the Arena. For purposes of this
analysis, average premium tickets sold and average ticket price data was
developed based on a review of historical Arena operational data and
expected future demand.

Overall, it is estimated that single event premium sales could generate
approximately $1.0 million in revenue in 2018. It is estimated that this
revenue will grow over time based on conservative price escalations.

Concessions and Merchandise Revenue

Concessions revenue is derived from the sale of food and beverages during
ULAA and non-tenant events at permanent and portable concession
stands in general and premium seating areas throughout the Arena.
Merchandise revenue is derived from the sale of jerseys, shirts, jackets,
scarves, hats, game-day programs and other miscellaneous souvenir items
in the Arena during ULAA and non-tenant events.

Concession and merchandise revenue is calculated as a function of the
estimated number and type of events at the Arena, estimated turnstile (or
actual) attendance and average concessions and merchandise Arena
commissions per capita. Arena commissions are net of the revenue
retained by the Arena’s concessionaire, Centerplate, and the 50 percent of
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remaining revenue shared with ULAA. Key assumptions were developed
based on a review of historical Arena operational data.

Overall, it is estimated that concessions and merchandise sales could
generate approximately $2.7 million in net Arena revenue in 2018. It is
estimated that these revenues will grow over time based on conservative
price escalations.

Event Revenue

Other event revenue is derived from fees associated with ticket sales,
including facility fees, Ticketmaster rebates and handling fees.

The Arena charges a $2.00 facility fee on every ticket sold to ULAA men’s
basketball games, as well as a higher facility fee for tickets to non-tenant
full bowl and partial bowl events. For purposes of this analysis, average
paid attendance figures and non-tenant event facility fees were developed
based on a review of historical Arena operational data.

It is anticipated that Ticketmaster will continue to handle a significant
portion of ticket sales for non-tenant full and partial bowl Arena events.
Ticketmaster generally collects a convenience charge on each ticket sold
through its platform, and rebates a portion of such charge to the Arena.
For purposes of this analysis, key assumptions were developed based on a
review of review of historical Arena operational data and discussions with
Arena management.

In addition to facility fees and ticket master convenience charge rebates,
the Arena also generates revenue from handling fees for select other
tickets sold. For purposes of this analysis, key assumptions were
developed based on a review of historical Arena operational data and
discussions with Arena management.

Overall, it is estimated that event revenue for the Arena would total $4.6
million in 2018. It is estimated that this revenue will grow over time based
on conservative price escalations.
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Operations and Maintenance Expenses

Operations and maintenance

expenses include those related OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSES
to Arena administration, AT D

utilities, insurance and AEG’s A

management ~ fee. These Administration $4,910,000
expenses are covered by Utilitios $1 380,000
Category B revenues, with Insurance $440,000
remaining revenues directed Management Fee $710,500
toward Authority debt service TOTAL $7.440,500
payments.

Operating expense estimates, as detailed in the table above, are based on
areview of the Arena’s historical expense figures, as well as AEG’s recently-
amended management agreement with the Authority stipulating a
guaranteed $700,000 management fee beginning in 2017.

Overall, it is estimated that Arena operations and maintenance expenses
will approximate $7.4 million in 2018. It is estimated that these expenses
will grow over time based on conservative expense escalations.

Category B Revenues Summary

The table on the following page details net Category B revenue over the expected
term of debt service.
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PROJECTED NET CATEGORY B REVENUES - BASE CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
2018-2032 [ | 2033-2047

Net AEG Net AEG Net Revenue
Management Net Management From
ULAA Agreement Category B ULAA Agreement Operations
Year Payments Revenues * Revenue Year Payments Revenues Contract
2018 $2,420 $1,604 $4,024 2033 $2,420 $1,795 $4,215
2019 $2,420 $1,615 $4,035 2034 $2,420 $1,810 $4,230
2020 $2,420 $1,625 $4,045 2035 $2,420 $1,826 $4,246
2021 $2,420 $1,636 $4,056 2036 $2,420 $1,842 $4,262
2022 $2,420 51,648 $4,068 2037 $2,420 51,858 $4,278
2023 $2,420 $1,659 $4,079 2038 $2,420 $1,875 $4,295
2024 $2,420 $1,672 $4,092 2039 $2,420 $1,893 $4,313
2025 $2,420 51,684 $4,104 2040 $2,420 $1,910 $4,330
2026 $2,420 $1,697 $4,117 2041 $2,420 $1,929 $4,349
2027 $2,420 $1,710 $4,130 2042 $2,420 $1,947 $4,367
2028 $2,420 51,723 $4,143 2043 $2,420 51,966 $4,386
2029 $2,420 $1,737 $4,157 2044 $2,420 $1,986 $4,406
2030 $2,420 $1,751 $4,171 2045 $2,420 $2,006 $4,426
2031 $2,420 $1,765 $4,185 2046 $2,420 $2,027 $4,447
2032 $2,420 $1,780 $4,200 2047 $2,420 $2,050 $4,470

* Net of operations and maintenance expenses.

In total, Category B revenues are anticipated to generate approximately $4.0
million in 2018, net of operations and maintenance expenses.

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations
based on fluctuations in Category B revenues is presented in Section 7 — Sensitivity

Analysis.

Operating Expenses

The table on the next page shows historical Authority operating expenses by category.
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6. Projected Financial Operations

AUTHORITY OPERATING EXPENSES
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands

Expense Type 2013 2014 2015 2016
Accounting $105 $105 $100 S58
Contractual Services $183 $209 $229 $227
Insurance $131 $175 $168 $162
Legal $159 $113 $792 $197
Meetings S17 S10 S8 S7
Suite Sponsorships and Fees S643 $591 S580 S540
Signage - UL $843 $961 $1,052 $1,036
Repairs and Maintenance SO SO S124 S15
Management Fee S30 S58 SO SO
Sponsorships $103 SO SO S0
Other $53 $3 S0 $0
TOTAL $2,267  $2,224  $3,054  $2,242
Source: Louisville Arena Authority.

As shown, since 2013 (the first full year of Arena management under AEG), Authority operating
expenditures have ranged from a low of $2.22 million in 2014 to a high of $3.05 million in 2015
driven by increased one-time legal fees. Included in Authority operating expenses are revenues
the Authority owes to ULAA for the use of four suites, eight club seats and one loge box in
addition to sponsorship signage shares in accordance with the lease agreement.

Moving forward, it is projected that Authority operating expenses will be approximately $2.6
million in 2018. It is estimated that expenses will grow over time based on conservative cost
escalations. The table on the following page details projected Authority expenses over the
estimated term of indebtedness.
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6. Projected Financial Operations

PROJECTED AUTHORITY OPERATING EXPENSES
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
2018-2032 [ | 2033-2047 |
Projected Projected
Annual Annual Annual Annual

Year Expenses Growth Year Expenses Growth
2018 $2,634 2033 $3,924 4.8%
2019 $2,730 3.6% 2034 $4,016 2.4%
2020 $2,827 3.5% 2035 $4,112 2.4%
2021 $2,924 3.4% 2036 $4,209 2.4%
2022 $2,991 2.3% 2037 $4,310 2.4%
2023 $3,059 2.3% 2038 $4,413 2.4%
2024 $3,172 3.7% 2039 $4,518 2.4%
2025 $3,241 2.2% 2040 $4,626 2.4%
2026 $3,310 2.1% 2041 $4,738 2.4%
2027 $3,413 3.1% 2042 $4,852 2.4%
2028 $3,493 2.3% 2043 $4,969 2.4%
2029 $3,575 2.3% 2044 $5,089 2.4%
2030 $3,659 2.3% 2045 $5,212 2.4%
2031 $3,745 2.4% 2046 $5,338 2.4%
2032 $3,833 2.4% 2047 $5,468 2.4%

FINANCIAL PRO FORMA

The table on the following page details estimated operating revenues and expenses associated
with the Authority in certain years of debt repayment.
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6. Projected Financial Operations

PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - BASE CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800
TIF Contribution $11,284 S$12,156 $13,142 $13,968 515,184
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES $22,084 $22,956 $23,942 $24,768 $25,984
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues $6,838 $7,045 S7,237  $8,252  S$8,446
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420
Net AEG Management Revenues $1,604 S1,615 S$1,625 S1,636  S1,648
Operating Expenses ‘" (2,634)  (2,730)  (2,827) (2,924) (2,991)
NET ARENA REVENUES $8,228 $8,350  $8,455 $9,384 $9,522

NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE ~ $30,313 $31,305 $32,397 $34,151 $35,506

NET DEBT SERVICE $20,158 $21,219 $21,219 $23,519 $23,907
Coverage Ratio 1.50x 1.48x 1.53x 1.45x 1.49x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $825 $1,510 $1,300 $2,350  $4,500
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.46x 1.40x 1.47x 1.35x 1.30x

(1) Excludes depreciation

Note: CapEx (capital expenditure) estimates per offering memorandum.

As shown, the Authority is projected to collect $30.3 million in net revenues available for debt
service in 2018, increasing to $35.5 million in 2022.

The table on the following page details net revenues available for debt service and debt coverage
ratios over the entire expected term of debt service.




6. Projected Financial Operations

PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - BASE CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
Excluding CapEx | | Including CapEx
Revenues Revenues

Available Net Available Net

for Debt Debt Coverage for Debt Debt Coverage
Year Service Service Ratio Service Service Ratio
2018 $30,313 $20,158 1.50 $29,488 $20,158 1.46
2019 $31,305 $21,219 1.48 $29,795 $21,219 1.40
2020 $32,397 $21,219 1.53 $31,097 $21,219 1.47
2021 $34,151 $23,519 1.45 $31,801 $23,519 1.35
2022 $35,506 $23,907 1.49 $31,006 $23,907 1.30
2023 $36,974 $24,135 1.53 $33,724 $24,135 1.40
2024 $38,696 $24,658 1.57 $37,096 $24,658 1.50
2025 $40,055 $25,184 1.59 $39,555 $25,184 1.57
2026 $41,186 $25,601 1.61 $41,036 $25,601 1.60
2027 $42,299 $26,107 1.62 $37,999 $26,107 1.46
2028 $43,360 $25,990 1.67 $41,360 $25,990 1.59
2029 $44,663 $26,441 1.69 $42,623 $26,441 1.61
2030 $46,084 $26,898 1.71 $44,003 $26,898 1.64
2031 $47,494 $27,363 1.74 $45,371 $27,363 1.66
2032 $48,833 $27,839 1.75 $46,668 $27,839 1.68
2033 $50,045 $28,328 1.77 $47,837 $28,328 1.69
2034 $51,232 $28,819 1.78 $48,980 $28,819 1.70
2035 $52,481 $29,321 1.79 $50,183 $29,321 1.71
2036 $53,808 $29,835 1.80 $51,465 $29,835 1.72
2037 $55,196 $30,357 1.82 $52,805 $30,357 1.74
2038 $56,573 $30,891 1.83 $54,135 $30,891 1.75
2039 $57,899 $31,432 1.84 $55,412 $31,432 1.76
2040 $59,189 $31,990 1.85 $56,652 $31,990 1.77
2041 $60,477 $32,583 1.86 $57,890 $32,583 1.78
2042 $61,803 $33,232 1.86 $59,164 $33,232 1.78
2043 $63,174 $33,902 1.86 $60,482 $33,902 1.78
2044 $64,565 $34,589 1.87 $61,819 $34,589 1.79
2045 $65,951 $35,294 1.87 $63,150 $35,294 1.79
2046 $67,318 $36,019 1.87 $64,461 $36,019 1.79
2047 $68,676 $36,761 1.87 $65,762 $36,761 1.79

As shown, net revenues are expected to cover debt service by 1.50 times in 2018 and 1.87 times
in 2047. After including capital expenditures ranging from $825,000 to $4.5 million depending
on the fiscal year, debt service coverage ratios range from 1.46 times in 2018 to 1.79 times in
2047.

A sensitivity analysis summarizing anticipated Authority financial operations based on
fluctuations in key operating variables is presented in Section 7 — Sensitivity Analysis.
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7. Sensitivity Analysis

On September 26" 2017, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) arrested ten NCAA basketball
officials stemming from investigations into bribes paid to officials to recruit high profile athletes
to select universities. Later the same day, the University of Louisville issued a statement
acknowledging that the University was included in the FBI’s investigation into fraud and
corruption charges.

On September 27" one day following the announcement that the University was a part of the
FBI’s probe into recruiting bribery claims, the University began the process of removing head
men’s basketball coach Rick Pitino and athletic director Tom Jurich from their positions. Pitino
was placed on unpaid administrative leave and Jurich was placed on paid leave. In addition, the
University suspended star freshman recruit Brian Bowen (who is the player believed to be directly
linked to the bribery allegations against Louisville) indefinitely. Dave Padgett has replaced Rick
Pitino as interim head coach for the University of Louisville men’s basketball team and the team
has begun fall practice heading into the 2017-2018 season.

As of the time of this report, it is unknown whether, and to what extent, sanctions will be levied
by the NCAA against ULAA’s men’s basketball program. In June 2017 and prior to the FBI
announcement, the NCAA announced that it had suspended then-coach Rick Pitino for the first
five games of the Atlantic Coast Conference season and placed the men’s basketball program on
a four-year probation due to violations unrelated to the FBI investigation. While the University
was in the process of appealing the suspension and probation, it is unclear what impact
previously pending sanctions will have on new potential NCAA sanctions given the FBI
investigations and what impact, if any, these sanctions will have on the operating revenues of
the Arena and financing capabilities of the Authority.

In order to assess potential risks to the operating performance of the Louisville Arena Authority
(“Authority”) resulting from the impacts of yet-to-be-determined NCAA sanctions, a sensitivity
analysis was performed.

Operating scenario estimates and deviations from the base case operating performance
presented in Section 6 — Projected Financial Operations were analyzed based on both the severity
of potential NCAA sanctions and their resulting impacts on Category A and B revenues for the
Authority, including naming rights, sponsorship, event rent, facility fees, concessions and
merchandise, among others. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis is presented in the following
sections:

e Stress Case Scenario;

e Low Case Scenario;

e High Case Scenario; and,
e Summary.

Each sensitivity’s assumptions are outlined over the following pages.
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7. Sensitivity Analysis

STRESS CASE SCENARIO

While it is considered highly unlikely from industry experts, the NCAA could impose “death
penalty” sanctions on the University of Louisville men’s basketball program in a manner
consistent with the only other modern death penalty precedent in Division | history, Southern
Methodist University football (SMU). Sanctions imposed on the SMU football team included:

e No games during the 1987 season;

o No home games during the 1988 season;

e Athree-year postseason ban;

e The loss of over 50 scholarships;

e Restrictions on coaching hires;
and,

e No off-campus recruiting for two
years, among others.

The table on the right shows the impact
of the death penalty on SMU football
attendance.

As shown, the SMU football team has
struggled to achieve similar levels of
success as seen in the pre-sanction
environment. Specifically, average
attendance in the vyears since the
implementation of the death penalty is
approximately 52 percent below pre-
sanction levels. In addition, the impact of
other sanctions such as a postseason ban,
scholarship reductions and coaching
limitations, likely contributed to the team
winning, on average, 50 percent fewer
games in a post-sanction environment.

It is in large part due to the impact death
penalty sanctions had on the SMU
football program that the NCAA has
hesitated to implement similar sanctions
since.

However, since the University of
Louisville was currently on a four-year

IMPACT OF DEATH PENALTY

SMU Football

% of Win
Year  Stadium Attendance Capacity Percentage
1981 Texas 33,611 51.2% 90.9%
1982 Texas 42,363 64.5% 95.8%
1983  Texas 35,818 54.5% 83.3%
1984 Texas 32,484 49.5% 83.3%
1985 Texas 34,612 52.7% 54.5%
1986 Texas 35,727 54.4% 54.5%
1987 NO GAMES
1988 NO HOME GAMES
1989 Ownby 22,002 92.5% 18.2%
1990 Ownby 20,587 86.6% 9.1%
1991 Ownby 16,413 69.0% 9.1%
1992  Ownby 14,418 60.6% 45.5%
1993  Ownby 17,265 72.6% 27.3%
1994 Ownby 16,588 69.7% 13.6%
1995 Cotton Bowl 19,256 28.2% 9.1%
1996  Cotton Bowl 20,618 30.2% 45.5%
1997  Cotton Bowl 21,484 31.5% 54.5%
1998  Cotton Bowl 18,218 26.7% 50.0%
1999  Cotton Bowl 19,625 28.8% 40.0%
2000 Ford 21,815 68.2% 25.0%
2001 Ford 17,386 54.3% 36.4%
2002 Ford 18,292 57.2% 25.0%
2003  Ford 17,435 54.5% 0.0%
2004  Ford 17,706 55.3% 27.3%
2005 Ford 18,630 58.2% 45.5%
2006  Ford 15,428 48.2% 50.0%
2007 Ford 17,171 53.7% 8.3%
2008 Ford 19,780 61.8% 8.3%
AVERAGE - PRE SANCTIONS 35,769 54.5% 77.1%
AVERAGE - POST SANCTIONS 18,506 55.4% 27.4%

Source: NCAA.
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7. Sensitivity Analysis

probationary period stemming from 2016 program violations, it is possible that the NCAA could
invoke the “repeat offender” clause which led to SMU’s death penalty decision in 1987.

Due to these considerations, a sensitivity analysis was performed on the impact to Arena
revenues from death penalty sanctions placed on the University of Louisville men’s basketball
program (“Stress Case”).

Assumptions used to estimate the potential impact of this stress case scenario on the men’s
basketball program include:

e No University of Louisville men’s basketball home games or scrimmages for 2018
and 2019;

o No postseason play for three years;

e Decreases in the number of national TV broadcasts;

e Scholarship reductions; and,

e Coaching hire limitations.

In addition to general sanction assumptions, Category A and Category B revenues were estimated
based on the impact of these sanctions on each revenue stream. Assumptions were based on a
review of the impact of the death penalty on SMU, a review of historical operations and their
sensitivity to sanctions/team performance and our industry expertise. Key stress case scenario
assumptions related to Category A and B revenue streams include:

e No premium seating revenue during 2018 and 2019;

e No naming rights revenues from 2018 to 2047%;

e Annual attendance decreases to 75 percent of historical average from 2020 to
2047;

e Premium seating sell-through rates of 80 percent from 2020 to 2047,

e Twenty percent decrease in premium seating prices to drive sell-through rates;

e QOver 50 percent reduction in sponsorship revenue from the base case scenario;

e Category B revenues (rental fees, facility fees, concessions, merchandise, etc.)
fluctuate with attendance for the men’s basketball program;

e The $1.5 million AEG management guarantee is renegotiated to no guaranteed
revenue;

e An increase in the number of concerts during the two years when the men’s
basketball team is not playing at the KFC Yum! Center;

e No other changes to Category B revenues; and,

e Fluctuations to operating expenses.

* Yum! Brands has a termination clause in its naming rights contract that could be
triggered if the men’s basketball team fails to play at the KFC Yum! Center (team would
not play at the Arena during the 2018/2019 season under this scenario).




7. Sensitivity Analysis

The table below details estimated operating revenues and expenses associated with the
Authority in certain years of debt repayment under a stress case scenario. It should be noted
that fluctuations in TIF contributions from the base case throughout the term of indebtedness
are detailed in the document “Certain Information Relating to TIF Revenues — Louisville Arena TIF
Baseline and Projections, Methodologies and Assumptions”, provided in the appendix of this

report.
PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - STRESS CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800
TIF Contribution $10,707 $10,707 $11,076 $11,450 $11,830
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES $21,507 $21,507 $21,876 $22,250 $22,630
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues $1,500 S$1,500 $2,595 < $2,706  $2,749
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420  $2,420
Net AEG Management Revenues $237 $229 $996  $1,000 $1,015
Operating Expenses ‘"’ (51,929) ($1,959) ($2,564) ($2,631) ($2,680)
NET ARENA REVENUES $2,228 $2,190 $3,448 $3,495 $3,505
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE $23,735 $23,697 $25,324 $25,745 $26,135
NET DEBT SERVICE $20,158 $21,219 $21,219 $23,519 $23,907
Coverage Ratio 1.18x 1.12x 1.19x 1.09x 1.09x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $825 $310 $900 S600 S500
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.14x 1.10x 1.15x 1.07x 1.07x

(1) Excludes depreciation

Note: CapEx estimates per offering memorandum.

As shown, the Authority is projected to collect $23.7 million in net revenues available for debt

service in 2018, increasing to $26.1 million in 2022.

The table on the following page details net revenues available for debt service and debt coverage

ratios over the entire expected term of debt service under a stress case scenario.
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PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - STRESS CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
Excluding CapEx | | Including CapEx
Revenues Revenues

Available Net Available Net

for Debt Debt Coverage for Debt Debt Coverage
Year Service Service Ratio Service Service Ratio
2018 $23,735 $20,158 1.18 $22,910 $20,158 1.14
2019 $23,697 $21,219 1.12 $23,387 $21,219 1.10
2020 $25,324 $21,219 1.19 $24,424 $21,219 1.15
2021 $25,745 $23,519 1.09 $25,145 $23,519 1.07
2022 $26,135 $23,907 1.09 $25,635 $23,907 1.07
2023 $26,510 $24,135 1.10 $25,760 $24,135 1.07
2024 $26,902 $24,658 1.09 $26,090 $24,658 1.06
2025 $27,301 $25,184 1.08 $26,488 $25,184 1.05
2026 $27,706 $25,601 1.08 $26,893 $25,601 1.05
2027 $28,117 $26,107 1.08 $27,304 $26,107 1.05
2028 $28,525 $25,990 1.10 $28,025 $25,990 1.08
2029 $28,950 $26,441 1.09 $28,440 $26,441 1.08
2030 $29,372 $26,898 1.09 $28,851 $26,898 1.07
2031 $29,800 $27,363 1.09 $29,270 $27,363 1.07
2032 $30,256 $27,839 1.09 $29,715 $27,839 1.07
2033 $30,699 $28,328 1.08 $30,147 $28,328 1.06
2034 $31,150 $28,819 1.08 $30,587 $28,819 1.06
2035 $31,608 $29,321 1.08 $31,033 $29,321 1.06
2036 $32,073 $29,835 1.08 $31,487 $29,835 1.06
2037 $32,546 $30,357 1.07 $31,948 $30,357 1.05
2038 $33,027 $30,891 1.07 $32,417 $30,891 1.05
2039 $33,516 $31,432 1.07 $32,894 $31,432 1.05
2040 $34,012 $31,990 1.06 $33,378 $31,990 1.04
2041 $34,517 $32,583 1.06 $33,871 $32,583 1.04
2042 $35,031 $33,232 1.05 $34,371 $33,232 1.03
2043 $35,542 $33,902 1.05 $34,869 $33,902 1.03
2044 $36,073 $34,589 1.04 $35,386 $34,589 1.02
2045 $36,602 $35,294 1.04 $35,901 $35,294 1.02
2046 $37,150 $36,019 1.03 $36,436 $36,019 1.01
2047 $37,689 $36,761 1.03 $36,960 $36,761 1.01

As shown, under the stress case scenario, net revenues are expected to cover debt service by
1.18 times in 2018 and 1.03 times in 2047. After including capital expenditures ranging from
$500,000 to $900,000 depending on the fiscal year, debt service coverage ratios range from 1.14
times in 2018 to 1.01 times in 2047.

68




7. Sensitivity Analysis

LOW CASE SCENARIO

Another potential scenario could include the case where the University of Louisville men’s
basketball program is levied with significant sanctions, but is not given the full death penalty. For
purposes of a low case sensitivity scenario, assumptions were estimated based on the impact of
sanctions on NCAA basketball and football programs presented previously in Section 5 — Category
B Revenue Due Diligence, a review of historical revenue and attendance patterns for men’s
basketball and our industry expertise. Key low case scenario assumptions related to Category A
and B revenue streams include:

e Annual attendance decreases to 80 percent of historical average;

e Premium seating sell-through rates of 80 percent;

e No premium seating price increases for ten years to drive sell-through;

e Current sponsorship agreement remains in place through 2027, modest increases
thereafter;

e Category B revenues (rental fees, facility fees, concessions, merchandise, etc.)
fluctuate with attendance for the men’s basketball program;

e No other changes to Category B revenues; and,

e Fluctuations to operating expenses.

The table on the following page details estimated operating revenues and expenses associated
with the Authority in certain years of debt repayment under a low case scenario. It should be
noted that this scenario does not contemplate any fluctuations in TIF contributions relative to
the base case during the term of indebtedness.
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PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - LOW CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800
TIF Contribution $11,284 $12,156 $13,142 $13,968 $15,184
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES $22,084 $22,956 $23,942 $24,768 $25,984
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues $6,838 $6,883 $6,935 S$7,500 $7,685
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420
Net AEG Management Revenues S$1,274 S1,280 S1,285 S1,291  S$1,297
Operating Expenses ‘™’ ($2,634) ($2,709) ($2,785) ($2,881) ($2,949)
NET ARENA REVENUES $7,898 $7,873 $7,855 $8,329  $8,453

NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE $29,983 $30,829 $31,797 $33,097 $34,437

NET DEBT SERVICE $20,158 $21,219 $21,219 $23,519 $23,907
Coverage Ratio 1.49x 1.45x 1.50x 1.41x 1.44x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $825 $1,510 $1,300 $2,350  $4,500
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.45x 1.38x 1.44x 1.31x 1.25x

(1) Excludes depreciation

Note: CapEx estimates per offering memorandum.

As shown, the Authority is projected to collect $30.0 million in net revenues available for debt
service in 2018, increasing to $34.4 million in 2022.

The table on the following page details net revenues available for debt service and debt coverage
ratios over the entire expected term of debt service under a low case scenario.
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PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - LOW CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands
Excluding CapEx | | Including CapEx
Revenues Revenues

Available Net Available Net

for Debt Debt Coverage for Debt Debt Coverage
Year Service Service Ratio Service Service Ratio
2018 $29,983 $20,158 1.49 $29,158 $20,158 1.45
2019 $30,829 $21,219 1.45 $29,319 $21,219 1.38
2020 $31,797 $21,219 1.50 $30,497 $21,219 1.44
2021 $33,097 $23,519 141 $30,747 $23,519 1.31
2022 $34,437 $23,907 1.44 $29,937 $23,907 1.25
2023 $35,890 $24,135 1.49 $32,640 $24,135 1.35
2024 $37,597 $24,658 1.52 $35,997 $24,658 1.46
2025 $38,941 $25,184 1.55 $38,441 $25,184 1.53
2026 $40,056 $25,601 1.56 $39,906 $25,601 1.56
2027 $41,151 $26,107 1.58 $36,851 $26,107 1.41
2028 $42,193 $25,990 1.62 $40,193 $25,990 1.55
2029 $43,477 $26,441 1.64 $41,437 $26,441 1.57
2030 $44,879 $26,898 1.67 $42,798 $26,898 1.59
2031 $46,269 $27,363 1.69 $44,146 $27,363 1.61
2032 $47,588 $27,839 1.71 $45,423 $27,839 1.63
2033 $48,780 $28,328 1.72 $46,571 $28,328 1.64
2034 $49,945 $28,819 1.73 $47,693 $28,819 1.65
2035 $51,173 $29,321 1.75 $48,875 $29,321 1.67
2036 $52,478 $29,835 1.76 $50,135 $29,835 1.68
2037 $53,844 $30,357 1.77 $51,453 $30,357 1.69
2038 $55,198 $30,891 1.79 $52,760 $30,891 1.71
2039 $56,502 $31,432 1.80 $54,015 $31,432 1.72
2040 $57,768 $31,990 1.81 $55,231 $31,990 1.73
2041 $59,033 $32,583 1.81 $56,445 $32,583 1.73
2042 $60,334 $33,232 1.82 $57,695 $33,232 1.74
2043 $61,680 $33,902 1.82 $58,988 $33,902 1.74
2044 $63,046 $34,589 1.82 $60,300 $34,589 1.74
2045 $64,406 $35,294 1.82 $61,605 $35,294 1.75
2046 $65,747 $36,019 1.83 $62,890 $36,019 1.75
2047 $67,078 $36,761 1.82 $64,164 $36,761 1.75

As shown, under the low case scenario, net revenues are expected to cover debt service by 1.49
times in 2018 and 1.82 times in 2047. After including capital expenditures ranging from $825,000
to $4.5 million depending on the fiscal year, debt service coverage ratios range from 1.45 times
in 2018 to 1.75 times in 2047.
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HIGH CASE SCENARIO

In the event that NCAA sanctions are not imposed on the University of Louisville men’s basketball
program or potential sanctions do not have a material impact on the program’s revenue
generating capabilities, the Arena could outperform the operating performance set forth under
the base case scenario. For purposes of a high case sensitivity scenario, assumptions were
estimated based on an analysis of Category A and B revenue streams assuming no impact of
potential NCAA sanctions, current historical men’s basketball attendance patterns and other
Category B revenue trends and our industry expertise. Key high case scenario assumptions
related to Category A and B revenue streams include:

e Annual attendance at historical averages;

e Premium seating sell-through rates at historical averages;

e Conservative annual premium seat price escalations of one percent;
e Other event activity consistent with historical averages; and,

e Normal operating expense increases.

The table on the following page details estimated operating revenues and expenses associated
with the Authority in certain years of debt repayment under a high case scenario. It should be
noted that this scenario does not contemplate any fluctuations in TIF contributions relative to
the base case during the term of indebtedness.




7. Sensitivity Analysis

PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - HIGH CASE
KFC Yum! Center
$ Thousands

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800 $10,800
TIF Contribution $11,284 $12,156 $13,142 $13,968 $15,184
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES $22,084 $22,956 $23,942 $24,768 $25,984
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues $6,838 $7,133 S$7,429 $8,861  $9,080
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420 $2,420
Net AEG Management Revenues $1,931 S$1,947 S1,963 S$S1,979  S$1,996
Operating Expenses ‘™’ (52,634) (S2,734) ($2,835) ($2,936) ($3,007)
NET ARENA REVENUES $8,555 $8,766 $8,977 $10,324 $10,490
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE $30,640 $31,721 532,919 $35,092 $36,474
NET DEBT SERVICE $20,158 $21,219 $21,219 $23,519 $23,907
Coverage Ratio 1.52x 1.49x 1.55x 1.49x 1.53x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $825 $1,510 $1,300 $3,850  $4,500
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.48x 1.42x 1.49x 1.33x 1.34x

(1) Excludes depreciation

Note: CapEx estimates per offering memorandum.

As shown, the Authority is projected to collect $30.6 million in net revenues available for debt

service in 2018, increasing to $36.5 million in 2022.

The table on the following page details net revenues available for debt service and debt coverage
ratios over the entire expected term of debt service under a high case scenario.
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7. Sensitivity Analysis

PROJECTED AUTHORITY PRO FORMA - HIGH CASE
KFC Yum! Center
S Thousands
Excluding CapEx | | Including CapEx
Revenues Revenues

Available Net Available Net

for Debt Debt Coverage for Debt Debt Coverage
Year Service Service Ratio Service Service Ratio
2018 $30,640 $20,158 1.52 $29,815 $20,158 1.48
2019 $31,721 $21,219 1.49 $30,211 $21,219 1.42
2020 $32,919 $21,219 1.55 $31,619 $21,219 1.49
2021 $35,092 $23,519 1.49 $31,242 $23,519 1.33
2022 $36,474 $23,907 1.53 $31,974 $23,907 1.34
2023 $37,969 $24,135 1.57 $34,719 $24,135 1.44
2024 $39,718 $24,658 1.61 $38,118 $24,658 1.55
2025 $41,105 $25,184 1.63 $38,605 $25,184 1.53
2026 $42,265 $25,601 1.65 $41,565 $25,601 1.62
2027 $43,395 $26,107 1.66 $34,095 $26,107 1.31
2028 $44,474 $25,990 1.71 $42,474 $25,990 1.63
2029 $45,795 $26,441 1.73 $43,755 $26,441 1.65
2030 $47,234 $26,898 1.76 $45,153 $26,898 1.68
2031 $48,663 $27,363 1.78 $46,540 $27,363 1.70
2032 $50,021 $27,839 1.80 $47,856 $27,839 1.72
2033 $51,253 $28,328 1.81 $49,045 $28,328 1.73
2034 $52,459 $28,819 1.82 $50,207 $28,819 1.74
2035 $53,728 $29,321 1.83 $51,430 $29,321 1.75
2036 $55,076 $29,835 1.85 $52,732 $29,835 1.77
2037 $56,484 $30,357 1.86 $54,094 $30,357 1.78
2038 $57,882 $30,891 1.87 $55,444 $30,891 1.79
2039 $59,230 $31,432 1.88 $56,743 $31,432 1.81
2040 $60,542 $31,990 1.89 $58,006 $31,990 1.81
2041 $61,853 $32,583 1.90 $59,266 $32,583 1.82
2042 $63,202 $33,232 1.90 $60,563 $33,232 1.82
2043 $64,595 $33,902 191 $61,903 $33,902 1.83
2044 $66,010 $34,589 191 $63,265 $34,589 1.83
2045 $67,420 $35,294 1.91 $64,620 $35,294 1.83
2046 $68,812 $36,019 1.91 $65,955 $36,019 1.83
2047 $70,195 $36,761 191 $67,281 $36,761 1.83

As shown, under the high case scenario, net revenues are expected to cover debt service by 1.52
times in 2018 and 1.91 times in 2047. After including capital expenditures ranging from $825,000
to $9.3 million depending on the fiscal year, debt service coverage ratios range from 1.48 times
in 2018 to 1.83 times in 2047.
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7. Sensitivity Analysis

SUMMARY

The table below displays the variations in Authority revenue in 2020 across all scenarios. 2020
was selected as a stabilized year of comparison given that this will be the first year under the
stress case scenario where the University of Louisville’s men’s basketball team will return to play
at the KFC Yum! Center.

SENSITIVITY SCENARIO SUMMARIES
KFC Yum! Center
% of Base Case Revenue and $ Thousands in 2020
Base Stress Low High
Case Case Case Case
GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Metro Louisville Guarantee 100% 100% 100% 100%
TIF Contribution 100% 84% 100% 100%
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 100% 91% 100% 100%
NET ARENA REVENUES
Category A Revenues 100% 36% 96% 103%
Category B Revenues:
ULAA Payments 100% 100% 100% 100%
Net AEG Management Revenues 100% 61% 79% 121%
Operating Expenses 100% 91% 99% 100%
NET ARENA REVENUES 100% 41% 93% 106%
NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE 100% 78% 98% 102%
NET DEBT SERVICE $21,219 $21,219 S$21,219 $21,219
Coverage Ratio 1.53x 1.19x 1.50x 1.55x
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $1,300 $900 $1,300 $1,300
Coverage Ratio After CapEx 1.47x 1.15x 1.44x 1.49x

As shown, in 2020, Category A revenues range from 36 percent of base case projections under a
stress case scenario (driven by the lack of a naming rights agreement, decreased sponsorship and
premium seat sales) to 103 percent of base case revenues under a high case scenario.

Net AEG management revenues are estimated to range from 61 percent of base case revenues
under a stress case scenario (driven by a 75 percent decrease in men’s basketball attendance
from historical averages) to 121 percent of base case revenues under a high case scenario (driven
by historical average attendance — base case assumed 90 percent of historical average).




7. Sensitivity Analysis

Overall, net revenues available for debt service are estimated to fluctuate between 78 percent
of base case projections under the stress case scenario to 102 percent of base case projections
under the high case scenario. With over 70 percent of these revenues coming from governmental
revenue sources (Metro Louisville and TIF) in any scenario, the potential large fluctuations in
Category A and B revenues under various sensitivity scenarios do not have as large of an impact
on the overall financial picture of the Authority.

In addition to the variations in operating performance from the various scenarios described
above, there are a number of other risk factors which could materially impact the ability of the
Authority to cover annual debt service. These risk factors could include, but are not limited to:

e A long, sustained economic downturn where consumers reduce discretionary spending
on Arena events and other area businesses impacting Arena revenues as well as TIF

contributions;

e A major flood or other catastrophic event which could suspend Arena operations for a
period of time;

e The Arena is no longer operated by AEG or another competent private management
company, impacting the ability of the Arena to host major non-tenant events; and,

e QOther risk factors.
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APPENDIX B
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Forecasting TIF Revenue for the Louisville Arena Development Area

Greg Harkenrider
Office of State Budget Director
Governor’s Office for Economic Analysis

October 13, 2017

The analysis and projections are based on estimates, assumptions and other information
developed by the Office of the State Budget Director (“OSBD”) from its research, general
knowledge of the TIF footprint, and information provided by and consultations with
stakeholders. OSBD findings represent fair and reasonable professional judgment but make no
warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to any information or methods disclosed in this
document.

The analysis includes projections and relate to OSBD’s expectations and professional beliefs
regarding the future but are subject to economic conditions over time and other risks. Actual
results could differ materially from those set forth in such statements due to various factors such
as the depth and timing of future recessions, changes to the development area, and exogenous
changes to Arena utilization from the primary tenants.



Introduction:

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) projects began in Kentucky with the passage of pilot language in
the 2000 regular session of the General Assembly.! These “Pilot TIF” laws vary dramatically
from the current day statutes governing tax increment financing.? In particular, Pilot TIF
projects had the following enhanced benefits:

e Limited to consolidated local governments or cities of the first class

e Local and State revenue could be pledged

e Taxes beyond the property tax were included as possible funding mechanisms, including
state income taxes, state sales taxes and local occupational taxes,

e The development area could be up to six square miles, even though the footprint of the
actual improvements could be a much smaller area

On December 19, 2006, the Commonwealth of Kentucky and the Louisville Arena Authority,
Inc. entered into a grant contract that created the “Arena TIF,” a key element to the overall
financing plan. The Arena TIF development area was defined in Ordinance 226, Series 2006,
adopted by the Louisville Metro Government on December 7, 2006. The Arena TIF was
activated in 2009 during the latter part of the construction phase. Officially, the Arena opened
on October 10, 2010. In terms of the TIF payments to the Arena Authority (“Arena TIF
Payments”), the first payment occurred in the fall of 2010 for calendar year 2009 construction
activity.® For purposes of this analysis, TIF calendar year 2012 is the first year of full arena
activity, so the active data for the sales tax portion of the TIF is five years of increment Arena
TIF payments. In terms of the property tax portion of the TIF, the analysis goes back to 2011
(the first new assessment after the opening date).

Finally, it should be noted that the development area was changed by ordinance 179, Series
2013, by the Louisville Metro Council from a six-mile area to a two-mile area on September 26,
2013, applied retroactively back to calendar 2012 activity.

TIF Nomenclature:

In order to navigate through the analysis efficiently, a definition of TIF terminology may prove
useful. At its core, the workings of a TIF are embedded in the acronym. The Tax dollar
Increments are used to Finance the project. The following is a list of terms that will be used in
the discussion of the projections:

e “Development Area” means an approximately two-square mile tax increment generally
including the Louisville central business district, subject to certain excluded areas.

I'See KRS 65.490 to 65.499

2 TIF statutes have been amended eight times since 2002. Eligibility for the Pilot program is limited to development
areas in cities of the first class established before March 23, 2007 (KRS 65.494).

3 The Arena TIF was established on a calendar year basis. Activity and incremental revenues accrue during a
calendar year and then the Arena Authority requests a refund in the spring of the following year. After the
Department of Revenue verifies the refund amount, the refund is released in the fall of the year following the
incremental revenue.



“Agency” for the purposes of this analysis shall mean the Louisville Arena Authority.

“ARIMA” means an estimating technique that uses auto-regressive, integrated, and
moving average terms (of the Arena TIF increments) to produce a forecast. In other
words, past values of the Arena increments are the primary predictor of future increment
payments.

“Footprint” means the actual physical area that is being redeveloped. For purposes of
this analysis, the footprint equals the Arena block.

“Increment” means the amount of money received by any taxing district or the state
that is determined by subtracting the amount of old revenues from the amount of new
revenues in any year for which a taxing district or the state and an agency have agreed
upon under the terms of a grant contract.

“Micro Data,” in the context of the sales tax increments, means sales tax Remitters
broken out by the name and amount of the sales tax collected by each individual sales tax
Remitter within the development area (multiple locations of a Remitter within the TIF
District are combined).

“New Revenues” means the revenues received by any taxing district or the state from a
development area in any year after the establishment of the development area.

“Old Revenues” means the amount of revenues received by any taxing district or the
state from a development area in the last year prior to the establishment of the
development area.

“Remitter” means the tax collector (business) that remits sales taxes collected to the
Commonwealth or, in the case of property taxes, the property owner.

“Sample Period” generally means the observations that are treated as known (or
historical) to the forecasting process. As used in this paper, however, the “sample
period” included both historical data for the years 2012 to 2016 plus projected data from
2017 to 2021, for a total of ten years, since the number of truly historical periods was
limited due to the limited number of increment years.

“Segment” means, either (i) restaurants, (ii) hotels, (iii) top fifty sales tax Remitters (not
hotels or restaurants) and (iv) smaller sales tax Remitters not contained in the first three
Segments.

“VAR Model” means a modeling technique using vector autoregression that incorporates
current and prior values of the multiple segments to generate a forecast of both segments.
In the case of the sales tax increment, the hotel and restaurant Segments were estimated
together with a VAR Model under an a priori belief that they are complementary in
demand.

An agency may enter into a contract with the state, acting by and through the Governor,
for an annual grant to the agency in an amount equal to not less than fifty percent (50%)



nor more than eighty percent (80%) of the increment in ad valorem taxes, sales taxes,
income taxes, and limited liability entity taxes derived by the state within the
development area with an existing economic development asset as leveraged in part by
the undertaking of the project.

e The current amended and restated grant contract pledges 80% of the incremental real
property tax and sales tax from the two-mile development area shown in figure 1 as
established by Ordinance Number 179, Series 2013 of the Louisville Metro Council on
September 26, 2013. Also pledged are incremental withholding taxes on the Arena
footprint. However, except for the construction period, new revenues have been less than
old revenues during the operational phase, so the increment has been zero. This analysis
assumes that the withholding increment continues to be zero through the 2054 forecasting
horizon.

e While corporate income and limited liability entity taxes are included in the Pilot TIF
legislation, neither of these taxes are pledge revenue sources for the Arena project.

Caveats to Estimating Incremental Revenues:

Some caveats apply to the estimates provided in this analysis. First, for any forecasting
technique, it is customary to have at least double the amount of historical observations compared
to the periods being forecasted. That is, if you have to forecast 10 years into the future, you
should ideally have about 20 years of history. That ratio is skewed in this analysis, as the sales
tax increment is projected 38 years into the future with just 5 years of history.

Second, structural models cannot be utilized. In a structural model, the analyst determines the
relationship between the Arena TIF Payments and predetermined but related factors based on the
shared history. Forecasting is performed by using the relationship from the first stage coupled
with forecasted values of all the related variables. When forecasting out to 2054, you must have
a forecast of your predetermined related variables that extends to 2054. OSBD uses “IHS Global
Insight” as our database of related variables. THS Global Insight provides economic data for use
in forecasting. Their long-run forecast extends only ten years (to 2027). Therefore, structural
models are impractical in the case of Arena TIF payments (which extend to 2054) because of
limitations to our database (which extends only to 2027).

Third, since structural models are eliminated from the tool box, ARIMA models or VAR models,
which are time series estimation techniques, are preferred. Here again the lack of sufficient
historical observations of the tax increments proves detrimental. ARIMA models cannot be
adequately fit with only five historical observations, and VAR models are limited due to a small
sample size and issues from the use of lagged dependent variables (each lagged dependent
variable requires a larger sample period).

Finally, the data for Arena TIF payments are mired with administrative caveats that require the
history to be adjusted for one-time nonrecurring events. In the property tax incremental
revenues, there were revenues collected in historical years that are currently being protested and
will likely lead to adjustments to assessed values in future periods. Similarly, in the sales tax



increments, store closings and new openings create discontinuous data elements for the five
years of history. Simply put, the Micro Data on the sales tax increment was required to ensure
that new sales tax Remitters were included and the sales tax Remitters that closed were
eliminated from the incremental revenues that were forecasted.

In a first-best world, the sample period would be twice as long as the forecasted period. This
was partially mitigated by extending the Micro Data as described below. Nevertheless, there was
enough information available to establish defensible estimates within an imperfect data
environment.

Estimation techniques and results:

The three tables following this section display the results of the TIF estimation. Separate models
were used for the property and sales taxes. Within the sales tax, there were several different
techniques utilized based on the type of sales. The sample included simply incremental revenues
for the entire sales tax, property tax, and withholding increments. For the sales tax, only 5 years
of data increments were available: 2012-2016. Since the sales tax was such a large component
of the total incremental revenues, OSBD petitioned the Department of Revenue for Micro Data
In particular, OSBD asked for a comprehensive list of hotels, restaurants, and the top-50 sales tax
Remitters. That Micro Data proved pivotal in the estimation process.

Incremental revenues for the sales tax were projected in four Segments: restaurants, hotels, top-
50 that are not hotels or restaurants, and the remainder of smaller sales tax Remitters. As the
caveats to estimation section alluded to above, OSBD was quite restricted in the modeling
techniques available for use. The following is a list of bullets that summarize our approach to
the sales tax:

e Extend the sample using trend analysis in order to get a large enough sample period to
attempt time series estimation modeling techniques.

e Rather than using trends for entire Segments of sales tax Remitters, the decision was
made to compute the trends by each sales tax Remitter within the Segments of
restaurants, hotels, and the top-50 in order to extend the sample period used for
estimation out to 2021. The micro approach to trending by sales tax Remitter as opposed
to Segment allowed OSBD to control for sales tax Remitters that closed between 2012
and 2016, as well as sales tax Remitters that had missing observations at the beginning of
the sample period.

e At this point, the adjusted sample period (using projected data) had double the number of
“historical” observations, which was barely enough to run respectable yet parsimonious
ARIMA and VAR models.

e One obvious hypothesis was to investigate restaurants and hotels together in a VAR
Model setting, as described above. Because the data for restaurants and hotels possesses
certain properties (resulting in nonstationarity and inability to utilize a cointegrating
equation) various mathematical techniques were used to allow the data to be projected.
Due to the underlying inter-relatedness of the data, it was subsequently determined that a



VAR Model would be best for projecting the restaurant and hotel data segments. The
results are displayed in Table 1 below.

The remaining Segment where Micro Data was available was the top-50 sales tax
Remitters that were not restaurants or hotels. There were 26 such sales tax Remitters in
the top-50; each of the 26 sales tax Remitters was extended via similar trend analysis
described above (using historical and projected data). After extending each of the 26
sales tax Remitters using trend analysis, the sales tax Remitters were aggregated back
into a Segment for estimation. The obvious first attempt was to fit a VAR with
restaurants or hotels, or possibly both. However, due to the aforementioned inter-
relatedness of the underlying data as well as its other limitations, a VAR Model could not
suitably project the data. (In other words, the VAR Model did not retain enough degrees
of freedom in a 2-lag model with three dependent variables.)

Neither restaurants nor hotels worked separately with the top-50 account Segment. This
finding was determined as none of the variables made to interact in the VAR Models
(referred to as cross-terms) were statistically significant, implying no benefit to
estimating the variables in the VAR Model. ARIMA models were also tried, but tools
used to measure the applicability of the ARIMA Model, auto correlation function (ACF)
and Partial ACF functions, which are used for mathematical diagnostic purposes,
produced white noise, implying no stable ARIMA Models. In the end, an exponential
smoothing model, which helps to control for underlying variations in the data related to
trends over time, was used to project the top-50 account Segment to 2054.

Other sales tax Remitters with no Micro Data were simply trended to 2054. Very little
growth was apparent in the 5-year sample, so the trend did not generate much growth
either.

Property Taxes

The only data available for the property tax was the increment payment released to the
Arena Authority. Therefore, OSBD worked backwards to get the incremental revenues.
With incremental revenues and a known baseline revenue amount, it was possible to
generate new revenues for the property tax TIF. From new revenues, with a known
millage rate, property assessments could be determined. It was important to get back to
assessed values because all of the expert testimony received by OSBD was in terms of
historical additions of new property assessments.* In summary, even though the raw data
was expressed as 80% of the property tax incremental revenue, the dependent variable for
the OSBD analysis was the annual assessed value of property in the Arena development
area.

4 OSBD spoke with Jefferson County PVA Tony Lindauer, Jay Mickle with the JC PVA, Karen Williams of the
Louisville Convention and Visitors Bureau, and Jim Baines of the Louisville Downtown Partnership to gain insights
on each submarket of the arena corridor real estate market. Their collective help is gratefully acknowledged, but all
assumptions used in this analysis are the lone responsibility of OSBD.



e The culmination of these conversations led to an assumption that approximately $27.7
million would be added as new revenue assessments on an annual basis.

e The marginal assessment increase was assumed constant through 2054. That assumption
may seem naive, but the state rate of 12.2 cents per $100 in valuation was also assumed.
It is likely that the state rate will fall slightly between now and 2054, and one might also
expect property tax assessments and new property to grow by more than a fixed amount
over time. The two assumptions essentially counteract one another as a falling rate
reduces the increment but growing property values increase incremental revenues.

Conclusions:

The sum total of the models is depicted in table 4 below. These projections represent the best
professional judgement of the author. In terms of the relative magnitude of the growth in
increment payments, the sales tax obviously accounts for a majority of the increase. The
modeling technique was fully described, but in addition, continued growth at a lower level than
the 2012-2016 data sample comports with external conversations OSBD had with stakeholders
and experts. All indications are that the re-opening of the Louisville Convention Center will
have a profound impact on restaurants and hotels in the Arena development area. Additional
hotel capacity is also expected to come online in 2018, which will increase spending and
economic activity. Finally, a static baseline of old revenues seemingly allows growth in
incremental revenues to occur from normal inflationary pressures in one of the more trendy
leisure markets in Kentucky.



Table 1 -- Sales Tax Increments

2012 $4,508,580  $4,503,091  $9,604,214 $5,283,764  $23,899,649 - $17,428,129  $6,471,520  $5,177,216
2013 5,095,041 4,907,607 10,669,800 5307422  25979.869  8.70% 17,428,129 8,551,740 6,841,392
2014 4914115 5229070 10,285,470  6,420252 26,848,907  3.35 17,428,129 9,420,778 7,536,622
2015 5,878,165 5,440,127  10,744283 7,408,339  29,552232  10.07 17,428,129 12,124,103 9,699,282
2016 6,852,177 5,829,115 10,588,842 7,341,219 30,550,360  3.38 17,428,129 13,122,231 10,497,785
2017 7,150,056 5988280 10,259,091 7,274,098 30,671,525  0.40 17,428,129 13,243,396 10,594,717
2018 7,339,744  6266,774 10,713,017  7,406978 31,726,513  3.44 17,428,129 14,298,384 11,438,707
2019 7,529,058 6,616,917 11,140,333 7,639,857 32,926,165  3.78 17,428,129 15,498,036 12,398,429
2020 7,697,378 6,951,465 11,502,420 7,772,736 33,924,000  3.03 17,428,129 16,495,871 13,196,697
2021 7,879,195 7434313 12,141,611 7,955,616  35410,735  4.38 17,428,129 17,982,606 14,386,085
2022 8,469,874 7,759,815 12,679,552 8,128,495 37,037,736  4.59 17,428,129 19,609,607 15,687,686
2023 9,461,293 8,104,365 12,983,403 8,301,375 38,850,436  4.89 17,428,129 21,422,307 17,137,845
2024 10,075,399 8,349,701 13,440,598 8474254 40339953  3.83 17,428,129 22,911,823 18,329,459
2025 10,484,830 8,558,601 13,852,552 8,647,134 41,543,116  2.98 17,428,129 24,114,987 19,291,990
2026 10,703,957 8,858,100 14,239,163 8,820,013 42,621,233  2.60 17,428,129 25,193,104 20,154,484
2027 10,876,865 9,182,313 14,651,161 8,992,892 43703231  2.54 17,428,129 26,275,102 21,020,082
2028 11,314,640 9,538,353 15,063,158 9,165,772 45,081,923  3.15 17,428,129 27,653,794 22,123,035
2029 11,904,755 9,884,122 15,475,156 9,338,651 46,602,684  3.37 17,428,129 29,174,555 23,339,644
2030 12,529,628 10,175,099 15,887,154 9,511,531 48,103,411  3.22 17,428,129  30,675282 24,540,225
2031 13,076,805 10,449,157 16,299,151 9,684,410 49,509,523  2.92 17,428,129 32,081,394 25,665,115
2032 13,458,582 10,724,291 16,711,149 9,857,289 50,751,311  2.51 17,428,129 33,323,182 26,658,546
2033 13,779,745 11,021,056 17,123,146 10,030,169 51,954,117  2.37 17,428,129 34,525,988 27,620,790
2034 14,142,789 11,346,681 17,535,144 10,203,048  53227,662  2.45 17,428,129 35,799,533 28,639,626
2035 14,595,168 11,674,859 17,947,142 10375928 54,593,096  2.57 17,428,129 37,164,967 29,731,973
2036 15,127,822 11,990,487 18,359,139 10,548,807  56,026255  2.63 17,428,129 38,598,126 30,878,501
2037 15,657,513 12,288,747 18,771,137 10,721,687 57,439,083  2.52 17,428,129 40,010,954 32,008,763
2038 16,127,683 12,576,131 19,183,134 10,894,566 58,781,514  2.34 17,428,129 41,353,385 33,082,708
2039 16,538,418 12,869,378 19,595,132 11,067,445 60,070,373  2.19 17,428,129 42,642,244 34,113,795
2040 16,927,103 13,175,116 20,007,130 11,240,325 61,349,673  2.13 17,428,129 43,921,544 35,137,235
2041 17,345247 13,490,027 20,419,127 11413204 62,667,605  2.15 17,428,129 45239476 36,191,581
2042 17,810,097 13,805,582 20,831,125 11,586,084 64,032,887  2.18 17,428,129 46,604,758 37,283,807
2043 18,300,546 14,113,327 21,243,122 11,758,963 65415958  2.16 17,428,129 47,987,829 38,390,263
2044 18,783,076 14,412,990 21,655,120 11,931,842 66,783,028  2.09 17,428,129 49,354,899 39,483,919
2045 19,234,954 14,710,132 22,067,118 12,104,722 68,116,926  2.00 17,428,129 50,688,797 40,551,037
2046 19,661,152 15,010,745 22,479,115 12,277,601 69,428,613  1.93 17,428,129 52,000,484 41,600,387
2047 20,084,702 15317456 22,891,113 12,450481 70,743,751  1.89 17,428,129 53,315,622 42,652,498
2048 20,525,243 15,627,664 23,303,110 12,623,360 72,079,377  1.89 17,428,129 54,651,248 43,720,998
2049 20,986,586 15,936,765 23,715,108 12,796240 73,434,698  1.88 17,428,129 56,006,569 44,805,255
2050 21,456,349  16241,996 24,127,106 12,969,119  74,794.569  1.85 17,428,129 57,366,440 45,893,152
2051 21,918,382 16,543,857 24,539,103 13,141,998  76,143341  1.80 17,428,129  58,715212 46,972,169
2052 22,365,677  16,845287  24951,101 13314,878 77,476,942  1.75 17,428,129 60,048,813 48,039,051
2053 22,803,240 17,148,941  25363,098 13,487,757 78,803,036  1.71 17,428,129 61,374,907 49,099,926
2054 23242250  17,455275 25,775,096 13,660,637  80,133258  1.69 17,428,129 62,705,128 50,164,103



Table 2 - Summary of Historical Diversification of TIF Revenues

2012 2013 2014 2016

Hotels
Restaurants
Top-50, Non HR
Residual

Total

Baseline
Increment
Payable

$4,508,579.72
4,503,091.30
9,604,213.80
5,283,764.35
23,899,649.17
17,428,129.05
6,471,520.12
5,177,216.10

$5,095,040.56
4,907,606.52
10,669,800.13
5,307,421.72
25,979,868.93
17,428,129.05
8,551,739.88
6,841,391.90

$4,914,115.10
5,229,070.07
10,285,469.56
6,420,251.82
26,848,906.55
17,428,129.05
9,420,777.50
7,536,622.00

$5,878,165.19
5,521,444.92
10,744,282.66
7,408,339.38
29,552,232.15
17,428,129.05
12,124,103.10
9,699,282.48

$6,852,177.34

5,805,566.94
10,551,397.07

7,341,218.80
30,550,360.15
17,428,129.05
13,122,231.10
10,497,784.88



Table 3 - Property Taxes

Calendar Assessed New Revenue | Old Revenue Incremental Payable
Year Value, New Revenue Increment
2012 $1,754,670,082 $2,140,698 $1,529,475 $611,223 $488,978
2013 1,837,190,574 2,241,373 1,529,475 711,898 569,518
2014 1,840,399,590 2,245,288 1,529,475 715,813 572,650
2015 1,866,535,861 2,277,174 1,529,475 747,699 598,159
2016 2,009,079,918 2,451,078 1,529,475 921,603 737,282
2017 1,960,349,244 2,391,626 1,529,475 862,151 689,721
2018 1,988,093,416 2,425,474 1,529,475 895,999 716,799
2019 2,015,837,588 2,459,322 1,529,475 929,847 743,877
2020 2,043,581,760 2,493,170 1,529,475 963,695 770,956
2021 2,071,325,932 2,527,018 1,529,475 997,543 798,034
2022 2,099,070,103 2,560,866 1,529,475 1,031,391 825,112
2023 2,126,814,275 2,594,713 1,529,475 1,065,238 852,191
2024 2,154,558,447 2,628,561 1,529,475 1,099,086 879,269
2025 2,182,302,619 2,662,409 1,529,475 1,132,934 906,347
2026 2,210,046,790 2,696,257 1,529,475 1,166,782 933,426
2027 2,237,790,962 2,730,105 1,529,475 1,200,630 960,504
2028 2,265,535,134 2,763,953 1,529,475 1,234,478 987,582
2029 2,293,279,306 2,797,801 1,529,475 1,268,326 1,014,661
2030 2,321,023,478 2,831,649 1,529,475 1,302,174 1,041,739
2031 2,348,767,649 2,865,497 1,529,475 1,336,022 1,068,817
2032 2,376,511,821 2,899,344 1,529,475 1,369,869 1,095,896
2033 2,404,255,993 2,933,192 1,529,475 1,403,717 1,122,974
2034 2,432,000,165 2,967,040 1,529,475 1,437,565 1,150,052
2035 2,459,744,337 3,000,888 1,529,475 1,471,413 1,177,130
2036 2,487,488,508 3,034,736 1,529,475 1,505,261 1,204,209
2037 2,515,232,680 3,068,584 1,529,475 1,539,109 1,231,287
2038 2,542,976,852 3,102,432 1,529,475 1,572,957 1,258,365
2039 2,570,721,024 3,136,280 1,529,475 1,606,805 1,285,444
2040 2,598,465,196 3,170,128 1,529,475 1,640,653 1,312,522
2041 2,626,209,367 3,203,975 1,529,475 1,674,500 1,339,600
2042 2,653,953,539 3,237,823 1,529,475 1,708,348 1,366,679
2043 2,681,697,711 3,271,671 1,529,475 1,742,196 1,393,757
2044 2,709,441,883 3,305,519 1,529,475 1,776,044 1,420,835
2045 2,737,186,054 3,339,367 1,529,475 1,809,892 1,447,914
2046 2,764,930,226 3,373,215 1,529,475 1,843,740 1,474,992
2047 2,792,674,398 3,407,063 1,529,475 1,877,588 1,502,070
2048 2,820,418,570 3,440,911 1,529,475 1,911,436 1,529,149
2049 2,848,162,742 3,474,759 1,529,475 1,945,284 1,556,227
2050 2,875,906,913 3,508,606 1,529,475 1,979,131 1,583,305
2051 2,903,651,085 3,542,454 1,529,475 2,012,979 1,610,383
2052 2,931,395,257 3,576,302 1,529,475 2,046,827 1,637,462
2053 2,959,139,429 3,610,150 1,529,475 2,080,675 1,664,540
2054 2,986,883,601 3,643,998 1,529,475 2,114,523 1,691,618
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2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050
2051
2052
2053
2054

Table 4 -- Louisville Arena TIF Payments

Total TIF
Payment

$678,288

2,168,608

3,541,618

5,666,194

7,410,910

8,109,272
10,297,345
11,235,067
11,284,438
12,155,506
13,142,306
13,967,653
15,184,119
16,512,798
17,990,036
19,208,728
20,198,337
21,087,909
21,980,586
23,110,617
24,354,304
25,581,964
26,733,932
27,754,441
28,743,764
29,789,679
30,909,104
32,082,710
33,240,050
34,341,074
35,399,239
36,449,757
37,531,181
38,650,485
39,784,020
40,904,755
41,998,951
43,075,379
44,154,568
45,250,147
46,361,482
47,476,457
48,582,553
49,676,512
50,764,466
51,855,721

Withholding
Increment

Sales Tax Increment RO e
Increment

$1,054,659

2,981,175

5,177,216

6,841,392

7,536,622

9,699,282
10,497,785
10,594,717
11,438,707
12,398,429
13,196,697
14,386,085
15,687,686
17,137,845
18,329,459
19,291,990
20,154,484
21,020,082
22,123,035
23,339,644
24,540,225
25,665,115
26,658,546
27,620,790
28,639,626
29,731,973
30,878,501
32,008,763
33,082,708
34,113,795
35,137,235
36,191,581
37,283,807
38,390,263
39,483,919
40,551,037
41,600,387
42,652,498
43,720,998
44,805,255
45,893,152
46,972,169
48,039,051
49,099,926
50,164,103

11

$457,381
558,537
560,443
488,978
569,518
572,650
598,159
737,282
689,721
716,799
743,877
770,956
798,034
825,112
852,191
879,269
906,347
933,426
960,504
987,582
1,014,661
1,041,739
1,068,817
1,095,896
1,122,974
1,150,052
1,177,130
1,204,209
1,231,287
1,258,365
1,285,444
1,312,522
1,339,600
1,366,679
1,393,757
1,420,835
1,447,914
1,474,992
1,502,070
1,529,149
1,556,227
1,583,305
1,610,383
1,637,462
1,664,540
1,691,618

$220,906
555,413
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APPENDIX C

Audited Financial Statements of Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.
Year Ended December 31, 2016
together with

Unaudited Financial Information for the Period Ended September 30, 2017
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Mike HARMON
AubDITOR OF PuBLiIc ACCOUNTS

Board of Directors
Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.
Louisville, Kentucky

Independent Auditor’s Report
Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Louisville Arena Authority Inc. (LAA)
which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016, and the related statements
of activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements. The financial statements of LAA, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015,
were audited by a predecessor auditor, whose report dated May 25, 2016, was provided to us.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

LAA’s Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

209 ST1. CLAIR STREET TeELEPHONE 502.564. 5841
FrRaNnNkFoOorRT, KY 40601-1817 FacsimMmiLe 502.564.2912

WWW.AUDITOR.KY.GOV
AN EquaL OpPORTUNITY EmMPLOYER M/F/D
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Board of Directors
Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.
Louisville, Kentucky

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to LAA’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
LAA’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of LAA, as of December 31, 2016 and the respective changes in its financial position
and its cash flows, for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter — Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note B (11), the 2016 financial statements of LAA include a change in accounting
principle resulting from the implementation of ASU 2015-03, Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30)
Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. This change resulted in classification changes
within the statement of net position, but has no effect on net assets or change in net assets. This
accounting principle has been applied retrospectively, and therefore, the 2015 financial statements have
been amended accordingly. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matter — Prior-Year Comparative Statements

The financial statements of LAA, which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31,
2015, and the related statements of activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, were audited by a predecessor auditor whose
report dated May 25, 2016, expressed an unmodified opinion prior to amendment. As part of our audit of
the 2016 financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described in Note B (11) that were
applied to amend the 2015 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and
have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2015
financial statements of LAA other than with respect to the adjustments, and accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2015 financial statements as a whole.
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Board of Directors
Louisville Arena Authority, Inc.
Louisville, Kentucky

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 17, 2017
on our consideration of LAA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our test of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on LAA’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering LAA’s internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

Respectfully submitted,

Mike Harmon
Auditor of Public Accounts
May 17,2017
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2016 and 2015

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Interest receivable

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses

Restricted cash

Assets limited as to use- restricted to
bond indenture

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Deferred revenues
Retainage payable
Note payable
Bonds payable

Net assets
Unrestricted

Total liabilities and net assets

2016 2015
$ 2,564,515 $ 897,237
60,943 60,943
2,332,480 2,721,243
105,533 103,464
630,406 630,305
30,764,820 28,097,524
341,290,625 350,208,568
$377,749,322 $382,719,284
$  3,545314 $ 4,340,367
3,795,017 3,861,946
2,321,903 2,185,415
341,359 341,359
4,375,000 4,875,000
346,271,443 346,994,028
360,650,036 362,598,115
17,099,286 20,121,169
$377,749,322 $382,719,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For The Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Operating revenues and support
Metro Louisville guarantee
Tax increment financing payments
Naming Rights revenue
Sponsorship revenue
Suite and premium seating revenue
Revenue from operations contract
Debt forgiveness
Other operating income

Total revenues and support

Operating expenses
Depreciation
General and administrative
Total expenses
Change in net assets before other revenue (expense)
Other revenue (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Total other revenue (expenses)
Change in net assets

Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

2016 015
$ 9,800,000 $ 9,800,000
10,297,345 8,109,272
1,332,630 1,306,500
3,278,754 3,522,830
1,747,765 1,813,729
2,383,576 1,492,848
500,000 500,000
233,546 177,636
29,573,616 26,722,815
8,988,203 9,902,502
2,242,040 3,053,832
11,230,243 12,956,334
18,343,373 13,766,481
758,672 747,222
(22,414,794) (22,495,847)
290,866 (1,286,346)

(21,365,256)

(23,034,971)

(3,021,883) (9,268,490)
20,121,169 29,389,659
$ 17,099,286 $20,121,169
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For The Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Changes in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of interest on bonds payable
Centerplate loan forgiveness
Unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Changes in:
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Deferred revenues
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Net change in restricted cash
Net change in limited use cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on bonds payable

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental information
Cash paid for interest

016

$ (3,021,883)

015

$ (9,268,490)

9,838,262 10,811,021
1,172,053 1,168,680
(500,000) (500,000)
(290,866) 1,286,346
388,763 340,977
(2,069) (24,434)
(795,053) 361,499
(66,929) (64,283)
136,488 (363,902)
6,858,766 3,747 414
(70,260) (118,699)
(101) (99)
(2,376,430) (1,660,052)
(2,446,791) (1,778.,850)
(2,744,697) (1,950,754)
1,667,278 17,810
897,237 879,427
$ 2,564,515 $ 897,237
$20,353,827  $20,377,771

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



Page 13

LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016 and 2015

NOTE A — NATURE OF AUTHORITY AND OPERATIONS

Louisville Arena Authority, Inc. ("the Authority") is a Kentucky non-stock, non-profit corporation
formed in January 2006. The Authority operates a multi-use arena in downtown Louisville, Kentucky.

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.

Basis of Accounting: The financial statements for the Authority have been prepared on the accrual
basis of accounting.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The fair value of investment securities, useful lives
of fixed assets, and fair value of financial instruments are significant estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Authority considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity
when purchased of three months or less, and which are not designated for a specific purpose, to be
cash equivalents. The Authority typically maintains balances in excess of federally insured limits.

Investment Valuation and Income Recognition: The Authority’s investments are reported at fair
value. Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is
recorded on the accrual basis. Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported in the change of net
assets.

Other Receivables: Receivables from the Authority’s various funding sources are recorded at their
net realizable value based on contractual agreements. The Authority did not charge interest on past
due receivables. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, no allowance was required as management
considered all receivables to be collectible.

Restricted Cash: The Authority has established separate bank accounts to hold funds restricted for
payment of bonds payable, the construction manager's retainage, and remaining funds received for
the construction of the pedway.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost at the date of acquisition or fair
value at the date of donation and depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the respective assets ranging from 3 to 40 years. Software is being amortized on the straight-line
basis over a three year estimated useful life.
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016 and 2015

(Continued)

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

10.

The Authority reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets subject to depreciation and
amortization, including property and equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC
350 and ASC 360. Specifically, this process involves comparing the Authority’s asset carrying
values to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows the assets are expected to generate over their
remaining lives. If this process were to result in the conclusion that the carrying value of long-lived
assets would not be recoverable, then a write down of the assets would be recorded through a charge
to earnings equal to the difference in the fair value of the assets and their carrying value. No such
impairment losses were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Bond Issuance Costs: Bond issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the
life of the respective bond issues. Amortization expense was $613,124 and $656,590 for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The bond issuance cost at December 31, 2016
and 2015 was $11,962,778. The related accumulated amortization at December 31, 2016 and 2015
was $6,721,024 and $6,107,900, respectively. Amortization expense for future years is
approximately $570,000 in 2017, $530,000 in 2018, $500,000 in 2019, $470,000 in 2020, and
$440,000 in 2021.

Deferred Revenues: Deferred revenues represent those funds received as deposits for equipment
lease revenues, naming rights, and deferred signing bonus from AEG. The deferred revenues will be
recognized as income in following years based on the duration of the agreement.

Income Taxes: The Authority received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service indicating that it
qualifies as a tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Accordingly, no income taxes have been provided in the accompanying financial statements. The
Kentucky Department of Revenue has granted the Authority exemption from sales tax on purchases
made for its exempt purpose and has also issued the Authority an exemption from ad valorem tax as
a "purely public charity."

The Authority has no material uncertain income tax positions which would result in a liability to the
Authority. The Authority recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income
tax expense. The Authority recognized no interest or penalties on income taxes in its statement of
activities for the years ended December 31, 2016 or 2015. Due to its tax exempt status, the
Authority is not subject to U.S. federal income tax or state income tax.

The Authority recognizes a tax position as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax
position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur.
The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being
realized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit
is recorded. The Authority does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to significantly change in
the next 12 months.
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LOUISVILLE ARENA AUTHORITY, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016 and 2015

(Continued)

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.

12.

Accounting Changes: In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU
2015-03, Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance
Costs. This amendment requires debt issuance cost to be presented as a reduction to the principal
amount of debt owed. The ASU is effective retrospectively for nonpublic entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2015, and was adopted by the Authority for the year ended December
31, 2016. The 2015 statement of financial position was amended to reclassify unamortized bond
issue costs of $5,854,878 originally included in other assets, to a reduction in bonds payable. This
amendment had no effect on previously reported net assets or change in net assets.

Newly Issued Standards Not Yet Effective: FASB has issued accounting standard No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, concerning the accounting for revenue recognition. The
standard is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2018.

FASB has also issued accounting standard No. 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements of
Not-for-Profit Entities, concerning changes on classifying net assets and preparation of financial
statements. The standard is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2017.

FASB has issued accounting standard No. 2016-02, Leases, concerning the accounting for leases.
The standard is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2018.

The Authority is evaluating the impact that adoption of these standards will have on future financial
position and results of operations.

NOTE C - CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

1.

Event Management Agreements:

AEG Management Louisville, LLC: The Authority has entered into an Operations Management
Agreement (“Agreement”) with AEG Management Louisville, LLC ("AEG") to be the sole,
independent manager for the arena with complete authority over and responsibility for its day-to-day
operations including its management. The Agreement was effective on July 1, 2012 and extends
through June 30, 2022.

The fees for this contract include: 1) a Fixed Fee of $480,000 for the year adjusted annually up to
1.5% throughout the term of the agreement in accordance with increases in the Consumer Price
Index (“CPI”) for all Urban Consumers, 2) an Incentive Fee up to $120,000 per year subject to
operating results. The Agreement guarantees the Authority a minimum amount of operating profit
after the above management fees for each contract year ending June 30 of $1,500,000 for 2015 and
$1,500,000 for each year thereafter as adjusted by the CPI increase.
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NOTE C - CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

In 2016, the Agreement was amended as follows: 1) the term was extended to June 30, 2027, 2) a
Fixed Fee of $700,000 for the year adjusted annually up to 1.5% of the CPI, 3) an Incentive Fee up
to $35,000 per year subject to operating results, 4) a Signing Bonus of $1,000,000 due in May 2016
and $500,000 due July 2022, and 5) certain management and administrative provisions.

The Agreement may be terminated by either party in accordance with the provisions of the
agreement. If terminated by the Authority before July 31, 2017, the Authority must reimburse AEG
the full amount of the $1,000,000 2016 and $1,100,000 2012 signing bonuses. These signing
bonuses are being amortized from inception through the July 31, 2017 termination penalty clause
date in the Agreement. Amortization was $720,000 for 2016 and $220,000 for 2015.

A reconciliation of amounts under the contract for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2016 2015
Accrued profit from operations $2.340,144 $1,887,348
Management fee to AEG (676,568) (614,500)
Amortization of deferred management fee discount 720,000 220,000
Revenue from operations contract $2,383,576 $1,492,848

Kentucky State Fair Board Agreement: On July 1, 2012, the Authority terminated its April 2008
Operations Management Agreement (the "Management Agreement") with the Kentucky State Fair
Board (“KSFB”), pursuant to an Agreement of Dissolution and Termination (the "Dissolution
Agreement"). The Management Agreement, which had an initial term of 10 years (subject to certain
termination provisions), vested control of the operations and management of the Yum! Center (the
“Arena”) to KSFB through April 2018. Compensation to KSFB under the Management Agreement
included a fixed management fee of $150,000 annually, reimbursement of labor costs incurred by
KSFB at the Arena, and a negative impact provision (adopted from the Commonwealth of Kentucky
Biennial Budget Bill of 2006) to reimburse KSFB for the reduction in net income of KSFB’s
Freedom Hall caused by the operation of the Arena through the term of the Management Agreement.
During the six months ended prior to July 1, 2012, the date of termination of the Management
Agreement, the Authority paid KSFB $75,000 for its management fee and incurred $2,357,000 of
labor costs from KSFB under the agreement.

The negative impact provision of the Management Agreement required the Authority to fund a
reserve with $750,000 annually, commencing in 2011, to be used for payment of the required
Freedom Hall net income reimbursements, if any, commencing in 2014. Because of restrictions in
the Arena's bond documents, the reserve was not funded in 2011 or during the six months ended
prior to July 1, 2012, when the Management Agreement was terminated. Instead, the Authority
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NOTE C - CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

accrued $4,828,047 as an estimate of future Freedom Hall reimbursements equal to $750,000 per
year for the seven years that remained on the Management Agreement's initial term at that time
($5,250,000 gross liability) discounted to its net present value at a rate of 4.04%. A similar
calculation for the 18 months beginning January 2011 and ending on the Management Agreement’s
termination date of July 1, 2012, yields a gross liability of $1,125,000. Neither calculation reflects
potential offsets of excessive costs incurred by the Authority under the management of KSFB.

In May, 2013, KSFB proposed to settle all debts owed by the Authority to KSFB for fees, expenses,
and the Freedom Hall negative impact reimbursement, for a total of $1,471,910. The $1,471,910
comprised the accounts payable to KSFB recorded on the Authority’s books at that date. The
Authority accepted the proposal at its meeting on May 13, 2013. However, KSFB subsequently
informed the Authority that it did not intend the debt settlement to include the Freedom Hall
negative impact reimbursement, and in early 2014 asserted a claim with the Authority of $7,200,000
for such reimbursement. The claim purported to reflect reductions in Freedom Hall net income
arising from Arena operations for the calendar years 2012, 2013, and 2014. The Authority made an
initial payment to KSFB of $100,000 against the $1,471,910 settlement amount in October 2013. In
2014, the Authority sold to KSFB furniture and fixtures for an agreed upon reduction of the liability
in the amount of $150,000. The Authority made payments of $100,000 in October 2016 and 2015.

The Authority rejected KSFB's claim for any payment in excess of the $1,471,910 agreed upon
settlement, based on its prior acceptance of KSFB’s offer to settle for this amount and its prior
payment, accepted by KSFB, of $100,000 against this settlement amount. Further, the KSFB claim
for negative impact reimbursement encompasses a 36-month period from January 1, 2011 through
December 31, 2013, which period is 18 months beyond the July 1, 2012 termination date of the
Management Agreement. As discussed above, the Freedom Hall reimbursement provisions of the
Management Agreement, adopted from the Commonwealth of Kentucky Biennial Budget Bill of
2006, expired with the termination of the Management Agreement.

Furthermore, on April 17, 2015, based on a joint request from the Authority and KSFB, the Attorney
General of the Commonwealth of Kentucky issued an informal opinion about whether the Louisville
Arena Authority is obligated to pay to KSFB the negative impact reimbursement. The opinion
concluded that the negative impact reimbursement was not due to KSFB. As a result of this opinion
and other factors noted above, the Authority determined that it was not probable that the liability
exists and the Authority has reversed the previously accrued estimate of $4,828,047. The reversal of
the liability was recorded as a benefit in the Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets for
the year ended December 31, 2014. The settlement of the liability for debts owned by the Authority
for expenses was recorded as a benefit in the Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets for
the year ended December 2013.

The Authority intends to honor its agreement with KSFB to settle all debts for $1,471,910. The
remaining liability of $1,021,910 and $1,121,910 due KSFB is included as a component of accrued
expenses and other in the accompanying Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.
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2. Galt House Agreement: The Authority has an exchange agreement with the Galt House. The Galt
House provided accommodations during the period of construction valued at $386,427 in exchange
for the use of a suite in the arena up to the same value as the accommodations provided. The
remaining unutilized balance of $86,660 and $102,444 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively,
is included in accrued expenses and other in the accompanying statement of financial position.

3. Humana Agreement: As part of the Definitive Property Sale and Relocation Agreement with
Humana, Inc., the Authority conveyed to Humana the use of a suite in the Arena rent-free for a
period of 20 years. Further, Humana was not to be charged the initial fee and suite build-out charges.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the value related to the suite was $892,943 and $944,088,
respectively, which is included in accrued expenses and other in the accompanying statements of
financial position. The amortization period extends through 2028.

4. LASEP, Team Services, and Learfield Agreement: The Authority has an agreement with LASEP,
LLC, (“LASEP”), Team Services, LLC, (“Team Services”) and Learfield Communication, Inc.,
(“Learfield”), to provide services in connection with the naming rights, marketing and sponsorship
sales rights relating to the Arena. The agreement has an effective date of March 31, 2008 through
seven years after the opening of the Arena with the option to extend the term an additional three
years.

Under the terms of the agreement, exclusive sponsorship rights have been granted to LASEP by the
Authority and are being guaranteed by Learfield. In return for their marketing services, the
agreement provides for the allocation of qualified sponsorship payments between LASEP and the
Arena.

In exchange for the exclusive sponsorship rights, LASEP agrees to pay the Authority a qualified
sponsorship payment (“QSP”’) annually. The QSP is calculated as a percentage of gross revenues (as
defined per the agreement), or an annual minimum of $2,500,000 for both 2016 and 2015. For the
first $4,000,000 of gross revenues (as defined per the agreement), the Authority receives a QSP of
75% of the gross revenues. On any gross revenues in excess of $4,000,000, the Authority receives a
QSP of 65% of the gross revenues.

In addition, the agreement provides Team Services with an exclusive contract for obtaining a
Naming Rights Sponsor for the Arena. Under the terms of the agreement, Team Services is paid a
commission based upon the gross annual amounts the naming rights sponsor (Yum! Brands) is
required to pay under the terms of the naming rights agreement.

The naming rights agreement with Yum! Brands, Inc. contains contractual annual payments through
September 30, 2020.
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Future naming rights revenues are as follows in accordance with the naming rights agreement:

Annual Contract Period

Beginning October 1, Amount
2017 $ 1,379,570
2018 1,407,162
2019 1,435,305
$ 4,222,037

5. PARC Agreements: The Authority has entered into a Garage Operating Agreement with Parking
Authority of River City (“PARC”), expiring September 30, 2044. Under the terms of the Agreement,
PARC will be responsible for the operations and maintenance of the garage. In addition, the
agreement specifies parking requirements for basketball games and arena events. Under this
agreement, the Authority agrees to pay PARC each fiscal year beginning January 1, 2011, the first
$90,000 and 50% of amounts exceeding $90,000 of net revenue received by the Authority related to
the sale of naming rights to the garage and sponsorship signage sold in and on the garage. As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, there was no signage in and on the garage.

6. Centerplate Agreement: The Authority has a Concessions and Catering Services Agreement with
Service America Corporation, d/b/a Centerplate (“Centerplate”). The agreement provides for
Centerplate to be the sole provider of concessions and catering services in the arena. The agreement
expires on December 31, 2020 with the option to be extended for two additional five year periods at
the agreement of both parties. Under the terms of the agreement, Centerplate agrees to pay annual
commissions to the Authority based on varying rates of gross receipts (for concessions, catering and
merchandise) received at the arena. The new event management contract with AEG effective July 1,
2012 transfers the Centerplate revenue to AEG.

In addition, as part of this agreement, during 2009, Centerplate advanced the Authority $1,000,000.
During 2010, Centerplate advanced the Authority an additional $6,500,000, for a total of $7,500,000.
This noninterest bearing loan is being amortized monthly on a straight-line basis over a 15-year
period, expiring in October 2025. For each monthly period that the agreement remains effective from
the first public event, Centerplate will forgive one-one hundred eightieth (1/180") of the loan in
favor of the Authority. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, Centerplate forgave
$500,000 of this loan. The balance of the loan is $4,375,000 and $4,875,000 which is included in the
note payable in the accompanying statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.

7. ULAA Agreement: The Authority has entered into a Lease Agreement with the University of
Louisville Athletic Association, Inc. ("ULAA") as of July 3, 2008. The agreement ensures the arena
is designed to meet ULAA's needs as the primary tenant and establishes a lease term through
September 2044.
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Under this agreement, the Authority is leasing the arena to ULAA for all ULAA sponsored events.
The agreement provides for rental rates regarding ULAA's use of the arena based on the type of

event that is held as follows:

Type of Event Rental Amount

Men’s Basketball Game Minimum of $10,000 per game, or 10% of gross
admissions receipts from the sale of tickets (net of
taxes and ticket surcharges)

Women'’s Basketball Game Minimum of $5,000 per game, or 5% of gross
admissions receipts from the sale of tickets (net of
taxes and ticket surcharges)

Other University-Sponsored Events Minimum of $5,000 per event, or 5% of gross
admissions receipts from the sale of tickets (net of
taxes and ticket surcharges)

Private Suite Rentals and Premium Seating 12% of the net revenue for the year

Total premium suite and seating revenues of $1,747,765 and $1,813,729 were recorded for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. This amount represents the pro-rata portion of the
total revenues over the number of men’s basketball games of the 2016-2017 and 2015-2016 seasons
that have occurred as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

In addition, this agreement also provides for the allocation of certain revenues between the Authority
and ULAA as follows:

Type of Revenue Allocation of Revenues

Program Sales and Program Advertisements All proceeds will be retained by ULAA

Concessions and Catering Payments received from third-party concession and
catering sales will be allocated 50% to the Authority
and 50% to ULAA for all University sponsored
events
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Type of Revenue Allocation of Revenues

Gift Shop Payments received from gift shop sales will be
allocated 50% to the Authority and 50% to ULAA
for all events

Signage Effective 2013, ULAA and the Authority agreed to
annual payments for permanent signage sales based
on a gross revenue sharing calculation as defined in
the Agreement for 2016 and a fixed payment of
$950,000 for 2015, which includes video boards
(noted below)

Video Boards Effective 2013, ULAA and the Authority agreed to
fixed annual payments for permanent signage sales
based on a gross revenue sharing calculation as
defined in the Agreement for 2016 and a fixed
payment of $950,000 for 2015, which includes
signage (noted above)

The Authority recorded expenses related to the concessions and catering revenues owed to ULAA;
signage and video revenues owed to ULAA; and suites utilized under the sponsorship agreements of
$1,576,123 and $1,631,952 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The
related liabilities included in accounts payable at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are $601,697 and
$680,217, respectively.

Under the ULAA agreement, all of the previously listed transactions are to be remitted on a net
basis, settled April 1 of each year. Therefore, at December 31, 2016 and 2015, a net receivable exists
from ULAA of $372,891 and $355,168, respectively.

8. TPI Agreement: The Authority has an agreement with Telecommunication Properties, Inc. (“TPI”)
to provide consulting and management services of the Distributed Antenna System (“DAS”) project
within the arena. Under the terms of the agreement, TPI will solicit license proposals and negotiate
licenses with fiber and wireless carriers to utilize the Authority’s DAS, provide project support for
the installati